
 

 

 

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE 
 

 
 

 
 

 
i 

 
AGENDA 

 

To:   City Councillors: Ashton (Chair), Meftah (Vice-Chair), Avery, Birtles, 
Blackhurst, Dryden, McPherson, Moore and Pippas 
 
County Councillors: Ashwood, Crawford and Taylor 
 

Dispatched: Friday, 13 June 2014 

  

Date: Monday, 23 June 2014 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Venue: Meeting Room - CHVLC - Cherry Hinton Village Leisure Centre 

Contact:  James Goddard Direct Dial:  01223 457013 
 

 

1   ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR - SAC Committee 
Manager  

 

2   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE    

3    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    

 Members of the committee are asked to declare any interests in the items 
on the agenda. In the case of any doubt, the advice of the Head of Legal 
should be sought before the meeting.  

4    MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 18)  

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 April 2014. (Pages 7 - 18) 

5   MATTERS AND ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES    

6    OPEN FORUM    

 Refer to the ‘Information for the Public’ section for rules on speaking.  

7   POLICING & SAFER NEIGHBOURHOODS  (Pages 19 - 28)  

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

8   LOCAL S106 PRIORITY PROJECTS - UPDATE    

9   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME - SAC  
(Pages 29 - 52) 

 

 
Appendix 1 for Full Details of Central Government Planning Guidance 

10   ENFORCEMENT ITEMS    

10a   27 Babraham Road Update  (Pages 63 - 100)  

10b   27 Babraham Road Enforcement  (Pages 101 - 136)  

11   PLANNING APPLICATIONS    

11a   14/0356/FUL - Land between 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road  
(Pages 137 - 178) 

 

11b   14/0208/FUL - 38 Almoners Avenue  (Pages 179 - 216)  

11c   14/0272/FUL - 66-68 Hartington Grove  (Pages 217 - 242)  

11d   14/0754/FUL - 12A Drayton Close  (Pages 243 - 254)  

11e   14/0287/FUL - 29 Fernlea Close  (Pages 255 - 266)  

12   GENERAL ITEMS    

12a   14/0020/FUL -33 Queen Ediths Way  (Pages 267 - 270)  



 
iii 

Meeting Information 
 

Open Forum Members of the public are invited to ask any 
question, or make a statement on any matter 
related to their local area covered by the City 
Council Wards for this Area Committee. The 
Forum will last up to 30 minutes, but may be 
extended at the Chair’s discretion. The Chair may 
also time limit speakers to ensure as many are 
accommodated as practicable. 
 

 

Public Speaking 
on Planning Items 

Area Committees consider planning applications 
and related matters. On very occasions some 
meetings may have parts, which will be closed to 
the public, but the reasons for excluding the 
press and public will be given.  
 
Members of the public who want to speak about 
an application on the agenda for this meeting 
may do so, if they have submitted a written 
representation within the consultation period 
relating to the application and notified the 
Committee Manager that they wish to speak by 
12.00 noon on the working day before the 
meeting. 
 
Public speakers will not be allowed to circulate 
any additional written information to their 
speaking notes or any other drawings or other 
visual material in support of their case that has 
not been verified by officers and that is not 
already on public file. 
 
For further information on speaking at committee 
please contact Democratic Services on 01223 
457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk.  
 
Further information is also available online at  
 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/speaking-at-
committee-meetings  
 
The Chair will adopt the principles of the public 

 



 
iv 

speaking scheme regarding planning applications 
for general planning items and planning 
enforcement items. 
 
Cambridge City Council would value your 
assistance in improving the public speaking 
process of committee meetings. If you have any 
feedback please contact Democratic Services on 
01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

Representations 
on Planning 
Applications 

Public representations on a planning application 
should be made in writing (by e-mail or letter, in 
both cases stating your full postal address), within 
the deadline set for comments on that application.  
You are therefore strongly urged to submit your 
representations within this deadline. 
 
Submission of late information after the officer's 
report has been published is to be avoided. A 
written representation submitted to the 
Environment Department by a member of the 
public after publication of the officer's report will 
only be considered if it is from someone who has 
already made written representations in time for 
inclusion within the officer's report.   
 
Any public representation received by the 
Department after 12 noon two working days 
before the relevant Committee meeting (e.g. by 
12.00 noon on Monday before a Wednesday 
meeting; by 12.00 noon on Tuesday before a 
Thursday meeting) will not be considered. 
 
The same deadline will also apply to the receipt 
by the Department of additional information 
submitted by an applicant or an agent in 
connection with the relevant item on the 
Committee agenda (including letters, e-mails, 
reports, drawings and all other visual material), 
unless specifically requested by planning officers 
to help decision- making. 
 

 

Filming, recording 
and photography 

The Council is committed to being open and 
transparent in the way it conducts its decision-

 



 
v 

making.  Recording is permitted at council 
meetings, which are open to the public. The 
Council understands that some members of the 
public attending its meetings may not wish to be 
recorded. The Chair of the meeting will facilitate 
by ensuring that any such request not to be 
recorded is respected by those doing the 
recording.  
 
Full details of the City Council’s protocol on 
audio/visual recording and photography at 
meetings can be accessed via: 
 
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.
aspx?NAME=SD1057&ID=1057&RPID=4209614
7&sch=doc&cat=13203&path=13020%2c13203  
 

Fire Alarm In the event of the fire alarm sounding please 
follow the instructions of Cambridge City Council 
staff.  
 

 

Facilities for 
disabled people 

Level access is available at all Area Committee 
Venues. 
 
A loop system is available on request.  
 
Meeting papers are available in large print and 
other formats on request prior to the meeting. 
 
For further assistance please contact Democratic 
Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 
 

 

Queries on 
reports 

If you have a question or query regarding a 
committee report please contact the officer listed 
at the end of relevant report or Democratic 
Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

 

General 
Information 

Information regarding committees, councilors and 
the democratic process is available at 
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/  
 
 

 



 
vi 

 
 
 
 
 
 



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��

��������	��
������		� ������
�������
� ����������������
�

�������
�
�����
���������������������� 
������������� !��

�"��#	$�
��!%
 	���

�"��
&
���	���&�
 '�������(���	���# )�	������)
��
��
����*
�����
�
����� 
��������� ��������� ������� ���� 
������ ���*����� ��
*$���� 
���
+
�����
�
���� 
��������
*$����
���+
������	$��
$�	����	�,��	����
�	����-�.-����
�
���� 
��������*�����	$��
$�	����	�,��	����
�	����-��-���/�
�
�����������
�
���(	,	����	���#
�
0	�1��
�
��(�	��
)�
� 
�
��)�
��
�0�2$$
 	�1�+�/���
��

���
2�	�
�
����
���3	���� 	��#
�
0	�1�4
 '
	�5
������
����
��		�#
�
0	�1�4
�	��6���
���
�
������������������������������
�� �
�0�)��7	 ���+	
��8	
�	��!������"1�#
'	�(
,
	��
�
�

������	������������������	�
���
���

�

 !"##"��
� �$�%�&����������������
�
�����0
	��*	�	��	 	
,	��$�������� 
��������
����

 !"#'"��
� (��%���������������������
�

����� ����� ���������

���� 
������ ���*�����

&�
 '������9�#	$�
��

��-��-���� )	����
�1� #	�/	�� �$� +����
�0����

3	�
�	��:������ 

�
����

���� 
������������ ��-��-���� )	����
�1� ��

��
�� �$� ��	����

5
�����3	�
�	��:������ 

�
���

���� 
������ ��
*$�����

(���	��9�# )�	�����

��-��-���� )	����
�1�#	�/	���$���	����5
�����

3	�
�	��:������ 

�
����

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 4

Page 7



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��

���� 
�����(���	�� ��-��-���� )	����
�1� #	�/	�� �$� ;�
	���� �$�

��	����5
�����5
����

�

 !"#!"��
� ���)����
�
+�	��
���	�� �$� ��	� ��#
� �� ������		�
�0� *	�	� 
����,	�� 
��� �
0�	�� 
�� 
�
 ���	 ���	 �����

 !"#*"��
� ��������������������������&�������������)����
�
 !" +"��
��$������)��,�������
������
�)���%%�����������������)���-����

�)���%%��� ������� .	/��)��0�� 
�)���%%��� ���� 
)�%��� 
%����1� ���� �������
���� .�������� ����� ��� ���0����2� �������� ���� �$��� �$����1� ��-� ���
�/$������ ���)������������
���)�������&�� ��� ��$%������ ��� ���3)��4%5� ���
$�����%�67�
�
+�	� <��	�
�� 5	
�� �$� �	�,
 	��� ���		��� 
��� 2�	�� ��
 	�� �
��  ���
 �	��
�	�
�	�������	=��

����*���	��
��	��*
���/	��	
���*
����

 !"#8"��
� �$������)��
�

 6���� ��-���� ������� ���� ��%%�-��&� $������ ��� ����%�� ��� ���������
�����������

•� ��
�����0���������������)%�������-���$�����&6�

•� ��������� ���� �����5� ���������� ����� ����� ���� ��������0�� �5�%��
��������������������5�������6�

•� 	/$������������������&�����&��
�� �����5�����5�%����)���)����6��
�� ���4� ��� 9���� )$� ���-���� 0����)�� �5�%�� �������6� ����

$��$���%�� ���� �������� ���� ����� �����5� ��$��0������� ���
��)�$��&���� ����2� ���-���� 
��)���� ����� ���� :�������
������2�-�)%����%5�������������%%�����;����������������)������
�������5�%����)��������������������5������������� 9)��������
��������6�

•� ���������5�%����� 0�����
������&������/$�����2� ��������� ���� �����
�5�%����)����-�%%�������������$������&6�

�
���� 
����� ������� �

�� 
� �	�����	� *����� /	� 0
,	�� ���	�� 
0	��
� ��
!�
���	�
�	����-�.-���"��
�

Page 8



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��

#6����
��$�����4����������)$��������%���������������%���%������%������
��%%�&����5�������)��������
���������.��
1�
�������0����&���������
��&�&�����%���%���������56�
�
���� 
�������������

���	��
���	 	
,	��
 '��*�	�0	�	��������
���	��	����
/���������	���	�����	���

�
'6����
��$�����4���-������)���%%����-�%%���������%$���������%%������%�

��$��0����%%�-��&�������������$������6�
��

���� 
����� �*
����� �

�� ��
�� ��	� �
�� 	�

�	�� >	��	��
��� � ����� �*��
�������
0�����/	�
�$��$��	�
�	�����/����
���	 	
,	������	�����	��
�
���� 
������������!�	$	��
�0����?�	��
������
����"��

��� �������		�	�����
�	�����������	��
��

��0�	��

�
�
�����
������
�)���%%���������� ���-����� �����������%%� �����%� ��� ��4�
��-���)��������
���������������������)���5������)$$�������������%6�
�

!6���� 
��$��� ��4��� ���� ��
<�� ��������� ��� 
�)���%%��� �������<��
�����4����� =��$��%�#= !�	���������
������������������$�����������
��&�&��&�5�)�&�$��$%�������������56�
�
���� 
�������������

����
������*��������� ���	������,
	*��	=��	��	��

�� @
��� ��	
� ����
��		�� ���� ���� 
������ �
�� ��
	�� ��� 	�0
0	� �� 
��
� ������
��� ���	0	���
���*	�	�*
��
�0����������
$���	���	 	
,	��
�$���
��

�,
�
�
��������*	�	��
���� ��� �
'	����#���
��	�:���$$	�� �����	
'�*
���
�
��
��� �������
�
���� 
����� +
����� �

�� ��
��  ������  ��� 
�� �$$
 	��� *����� 
��	���
�
�/�
�0	�3	0
��
������	0	�
��$����	������	
'��������	�����
�
���� 
����� &
���	�� 	�����	��#�� �
��	�:��  ���	��� ��
�� �� 

���	�

� 
��

����	��*
�����	�0
0	� �
���	��
�������0��
�
���� 
�����(���	���

��
����/	���$� ��� 
������*	�	�� �����0�,	�������
������	���������	
��
���	���
�

*6����
��$��������������������0����)�����������������������������&��
���)����������5�����������������%%�-��&����)����

Page 9



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��

•� ���-�������������&�&��$��$%�������������)���5����4��-%��&�����
��-� ��� )��� �����%� ������ ���� -��� 0�����%�6� ����� ������ $��$%��
-����%����&��)�����4��-%��&��������&6�

•� ���-������������������)���������������-�������)���6��������)%��
���������%���������%%5��)��-��� .&�����%%51������������)%�� ����� ���
����6�

�
#���#
���� !�	�/	�� �$� ��/�
 "� �

�� ��
�� �	���	� ��	�� �
0
�
���	�

� !	0�
	�

�"�� /��� ���� �	 	��
�
��� �� 

�� �	�

�� )	���	� *����� *	� ��	�
	�� 
�
��������*������	��� 

���	�

��)	���	��		�	��	���0�����	�����
/��� 	?�
��	��� 
�� ���	�� ��� ��	� �� 

�� �	�

�� ���	�*
�	� ��	��  ����� ����

��	�
 ���
�
#�� �
��	�� $	��� ��	�	� *
�� 
�  �����
�� �
,
�	� /	�*		�� ����	� *���
�	
�-,
	*	������
�	� ���	����
�������	�*��� �	
�	��
���

�
86���� :)��� ��������� ��� ���� ����&������ ��� ���� >?����� 
�������>�

�%��&����� ���� ���%-�5� %���� .
%�5� ����12� -���� �$������� ���������� ���
��������� ���������6����:)�����4�����-����� %�������$������-�)%�����
$��������6�

�
���� 
����� &�
 '������ ���	����'� ��� �		'� 
� �	�����	� $����2$$
 	���� 5	�

���� �

�� ��	� 
���	�*����� /	� �
� ���	�� 
�� ��	������	��� ;�
�0	� ;�����
/	
�0��	�����4��	������
��+����
�0����#	
��*��)�
�
���� ������

 !"#+"��
� �����
���������?������@���
�#'"=!" !�
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
��	�����$������	�2�	�
�
����9�3	���� 	��#
�
0	���
�
#	�/	��� ���
�	�	��
���
 
�
����$���0�
����
���	������ 
�� ��	�2$$
 	�:���	������

����
/�	�/	��*��
�

���� ��&���������� 
)�$���� �-����
A�

��� �  ���

� ������
��� 
���
3	�
�	�������� �

������
���*	/�
�	�����
�0� A 2 8 �

��� �  ���

� �� 

�� 5���
�0� ��
;
�
�
	��

+�
�� ��� +*
�� 8
'	�� ��	�	�
�
�'�

A8+ �

��� �
�/�
�0	� 3��
�� ��/	���
&	�	,��	����� �

+�
�����+����$����#��
 �5
��� A**=�

��� +�	��	���	�
�����)
��A��� +��		���
����
� ��*��/�
����
���� A'==�

��� ��	����5
�����;	��
,
���� 
	��� ;	��
,
�� ����� 
��	�
 �
,	� A*2===�

Page 10



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��


���
��
�
����

�B� ��	����5
�����;���/
������/�� <����,	�	��� ��� ��	� ��
�
�0�
���$
 	��

A!2B*=�

��� (	�
���
������������� 

�����/� +�
�����5����
����� A!==�

�.� (	�
���
������������� 

�����/� C�	�	/�
�
����$��0	C��
���� A*==�

��� (	�
���
������������� 

�����/� ���
���
����� �	��� A##=�

���� (	�
���
������������� 

�����/� ����
��/��� ������� =�

���� ;�
	�����$���	����5
�����5
��� ;	��
,
���$�;���
���;	
��	��� A#B*�

���� 5
��,	�� ������ 
��� )�
� 	��
������3���

@,	��������
�0�
���
 �
,
�
	��� A 28 =�

���� 5�=�	��6����� +�
�� ��� ���	��	��� �
���
$	�
)
�'�

A'=!�

���� >	*��*��
�	
���$
�
�
	���
,
�0�
�� +�
�����)
�
�
�	��
���
$	�)
�'� A'!!�

���� D�		��@�
���������
���;������ ��	�
�
�����$��	*��	��	��� A 28*=�

��B� D�		�� @�
��A�� ������
���
;������

+��		�	,	���� AC*=�

���� ��� ����	*�� 6�	/	� 3	�
�	����
���� 

�
���

&&D�����
�0��!=��"��
 �
,
�
	���
�� 

��

A* !�

��.� ��� ����	*�� +�	��
�� �$�	������
���/�

� �
,
�
	����
��
	��
�����
��� A ==�

���� +����
�0����&�*������/� ��� '	���� A 2===�

���� +����
�0���� @��	���� � �
���
6�����

.� �		�
�0��� ��
��� ���
�0� 
���
�
����

A 2===�

���� +����
�0���� @��	���� � �
���
6�����!(���
�'�"�

�
=��	�
�
�	� �
 ����
��� A 2===�

���� +����
�0���� 3	�
�	����
���� 

�
���

+�
�����5����
����� A*==�

���� +����
�0���� ��
� �	��� 
�� ��	�
)
,
�
���

3���� �
�	� 
��� �� 
 �
,
���
�
����

AB==�

���� +����
�0�������	�A��<���
���	� �����
��
,	��
��� 	�	/�
�
��� A#+*�

���� +����
�0���� E����� 6����� ! -��
+3�"�

���
���	�
�	��

����
����� A 2 ==�

�

:)�&����0��%��%�� #*2BC!�

����%��-����� #*2 B!�

:)�&�����������&� +B=�

�
;����*
�0��
� ���
����#	�/	���)������)�%5�����%0������
0�		���	�������	��

*
�����	�

�	�� 
�����	��
=����$� ��	�2$$
 	�:�� �	����� 
�������
�
�	�� 
�� ��	�
�
/�	�
/�,	��

Page 11



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

B�

 !"#C"��
� ��
�@�
5�%��
��5������������&��&�����
5�%�����������������
��)�$��&���������
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
��	�����$������	��� �
�0�)��7	 ���+	
��8	
�	���
�
+�	� �	����� 
�$���	�� ����#	�/	��� 
/���� ��	� 	�	�0
�0� ������
��� $��� ��
$$
 �

�����
���
$	���
����,	�	�������+����
�0����3�
���/	�*		����
� 	��3�
��

���&
�	�
�����		���+�	�������
���

�����
����,	� ���
�
����$����	�	���

����
/�����	���
��� � �
�����)�/�
 � ������
�
���
����	�����
'	���
 	�
��#
��������
�
+�	��� �
�0�)��7	 ���+	
��8	
�	�� 
� ��
�	��
��
���$���	�
�	
�
$$	 �	���
�
+�	�����
��		��

�	����	�$����*
�0� �� 	����
���	�����	������	��	����1�

�� �� �����$����	��*
��/	
�0���	������
����7	 �� ��
��*
�����
'	��� ������,	�

�
������/�	����


�� +�	� 
��
 ����� �� 
��  �����
�
	����	� ��� ��	� �	�� 
�
����$� ��	�/��������


���������$��
�'
�0���
 	���	
����	�&��
�
 �6
��	����



�� 8
 '��$�7�
�����/	�*		��
�$�
���� ���	����7	 ����

,�� �� �
���� �
�
�0���� ��	��
,	�	�����	� ��� ��	
�� ��
���
$	��� �� 	�����
���

��	�
��
 ������	�	���

����
�
<���	�����	����#	�/	��:�?�	��
������	��� �
�0�)��7	 ���+	
��8	
�	���

����	�
$����*
�01�

�� ;���
�0� $���  � �	� �
�	� *��'�  
�	� $���� ��	� (	�
���	��� $��� +�
�������

!($+"��


�� +�	��	�� 
�	��/��������*�����/	��
�	�� ���	������	�&��
�
 �6
��	����

�
#	�/	��� �$� ��	� ��/�
 � �
�	�  ���	���� 
��� 
�'	�� ?�	��
����� 
�� �	�� ����
/	��*��
�
 6� �����-������4�����-�������)�$��&������������������������������

-�����$%���������5��5�%����)���6�
�

+�	��� �
�0�)��7	 ���+	
��8	
�	���

��($+��
�	� 
�	���
�
�	��*�	����	�
������� ���� 
��  ����� 
����� $���� 
��� ��	� $���
�0�� +�	�������� ���� 
��
�
�� ��� ���	��
'	� ���7	 ��� ��
�� *	�	� ��
 �
 
/�	� ���  ����	�	� *
��
��
�
�	� 
�	��
���*	��/��($+������
�'����
�0���	�$���
�0������� ����	�	�*
��
��� �,	�
� �
�0� � �	�	� 
�� $���
�0�*
�� /
�� $��� ��� 
�� 
��� � /
�
��� ���

��
,
��
�����7	 ��� �����/	� ����	�	���

�
#6� ����)���@������.
������&��
5�%��&�
��$��&�1������������%%�-��&�

����������

Page 12



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��

•� ������� �����5� ��������� ��&�����&� �5�%��&� ����� ���� :�������
?������6�

•� ����(��������� %������������ ����� �)����&2���� ����
�)��5�
�)���%�
��������������)������-����������6�

•� 
��$%�� �5�%��&� ��� ���� $�0������ ���-��� ����� ���5� ���� �����
�����5���������6�

•� �)$$��������()������5%��%�5�)�6�
�
'6�� ���� ��&&�� .������ ��-� ��-�� ���������� �����������1� ������� ����

��%%�-��&�$�������

•� ������ ��-� ��-�� ���������� ��0�� ���� ����� ����)%���� ���
$��$���%����������&�%���%������%�6�

•� ������������5������������&�����&�����:��������������9)������6�

•� �)&&������ ���� ��)�$��&���� ����� ������� -�)%�� ��0�� %���%��
��$�������������9����5����$��$%�����0�%%��&����������-���-�������
�&�����)����6�

•� ��4��� ���� �� �������� ��$���� ����������� ������)������4������ ����
�5�%�� %���� ������6� �)&&������ ������ -��� %���%�� $����� ���
)������4��&� ���� ������� ��� ��� ����� ������ �����5� ��$����
��$��0������� ��� ��)�$��&���2� �)�� ��)���� &������� $���%����
�%��-����� �)�� ��� ���� �)�)%���0�� ��$���� ��� �������� �%�-� ����
$��4��&6��

•� �)&&�����������������-�)%���/����������/�����&����������%�-�����
$��4��&����)������������-���-������6�

�
+�	��� �
�0� )��7	 ��� +	
�� 8	
�	�� 
����0
�	�� ��
�� �	�
�	����*	�	� ����

� ���	�� 
�� ��	� ��
��
�0� �
�� *
��� � ������ 
��� ���	����'� ��� �


�	� *
���
#���5
00��
$�	����	��		�
�0��

�

!6� ���:)����������������%%�-��&�$�������

•� �)$$������������&&�<���������6�

•� D)������������$������������5�%���������������������6�

•� ����� $��$%�� ��)%�� ��� ���������� ��� ���� ����� ��� �5�%�� %�����-����
��$��0��6�

•� 
��4��&���������$���������������������-����)������4��&�-��46�

•� ��������5�%�������5���������6�

•� 
5�%�� ��������)��)���$��9����� ���)%�� 9����)$2��������)������4���
$�������%6�

�
*6� ���
��$����������������%%�-��&�$�������

Page 13



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

.�

•� ������������������&�����&���������)%�������$��������������6�

•� ����� E��&� $���)��� �����������<� -��� ��3)����2� �)��� ��� ��
������&5"��$����9����)$������$�������)��2������������)������4��&�
-��4�$�������%6�

•� ��������4���������������������&�����&����������������������)���
(����)����&�-������0�%����0����6��

�
���� 
����� ������� 	� ���
0	�� �	���	� ��� �	������ ��� ��	� ������� ���� 
��
 ������
�
���
��� �	�
��	�������	�	0
�	�� ��	��� ��	���/	$��	� ��	�� ���
0���
*
��
��
������ �
��������	���� 	����

 !"#B"��
� 
%�����&��$$%���������
F-�<.G�
F�<�G�
 !"#B"��
�� '" 8C*"����@�#! ���%%�������
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
��
���
 
�
���$���$������
��
�0��	��
��
�����
�
+�	� 
���
 
�
��� ���0��� 
����,
�� $��� �	���
�
��� �$� ��	� 	=
��
�0� �	�
�	��

��
����	���� 
��� ��	�  ������ �
��� �$� �� ����	�� !
� �

�� �$� �	�
�� 
��� 
� �	�
 �	��
����	"�� *
��� 
��� 

�	��  
�� �
�'
�0��  � �	� �
�'
�0�� *
��	� ����
0	� 
���
�
��� 
�
�0��
�
#���
��	��	��!����
 
��:���0	��"�
���	��	����	�����
��		� 
�����������$� ��	�

���
 
�
����
�
+�	�����
��		1�
�
����%0��� .!� 0����� ��� !� F� ���� ��� ���� 
����<�� ������&� 0���1� ��� �	7	 �� ��	�
�$$
 	���	 ���	��
�
�������	$��	���	�
���
 
�
����
�
����%0���.!�0��������!�F������������
����<��������&�0���1� ���
����,	���	�

���
 
�
���  ����
��� ��� ��	� �$$
 	�� �	 ���	��
�
���� ��/7	 �� ���  ���
�
����
�	�	0
�	������$$
 	����$�����	�$����*
�0��	
���1�
�

<�� ���
�	�
�0���	�� �	�	�
�����	��$$
 	���	 ���	��
�
�������	$��	���	�
������
��� ���/
�
� 	����������	
�����
��		��
�� ����  ���
�	�� ��
�� ��	�
������
��*�����/	��
��$��� ���	
��	�� ��	� �
�
 �	�����
��	
�
� 	��$� ��	�
��������
�0�
�	
�����
0�
$
 
������
��$�������	�
�	��

��
�	�
������*
��
���

��	$��
���$���
��
�0��	��
��
����

�

Page 14



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

��

��� ��	� �	?�	��� �$� ��	� )�
� 
�
�� )�
��
�0� 2$$
 	��� ����%0��� )������)�%5� ���
�	�	0
�	� 
�����
��� ��� 2$$
 	��� ��� 
��	��� 
������

�	�  ���
�
���� 
��� 
� ���B�

0�		�	����
F-�<�G�
F�<��G�
 !"#B"��
�� '" +'B"����@�#�����#��:����$�������
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
��
���
 
�
���$���$������
��
�0��	��
��
�����
�
+�	� 
���
 
�
��� ���0��� 
����,
�� $��� 	�	 �
��� �$� �� =� �� /	������ �*	��
�0��
$����*
�0��	���
�
����$�	=
��
�0��*	��
�0�
�����/	����&
������3�
���@=�	��
���
���	=
��
�0��*	��
�0�
�����/	�����&
������3�
���
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
� �	��	�	��
�
��� 
���/7	 �
������ ��	�
���
 
�
��� $����
#���#
���	�����
�
+�	��	��	�	��
�
��� �,	�	����	�$����*
�0�
���	�1�

�� +�	��	,	����	���*�����/	����	�
������

�	� $��� ��	��
�	� 
$� ��	�	=
��
�0�

�*	��
�0�*
���	��
 	��*
���
�/��0
��*�
���	
���$�
�����	��



�� 3

�	����	�$����*
�0���	 
$
 � �� 	���1�

•� +�	� �	,	����	��� *
��� 	=
 	�/
�	� 	=
��
�0� �
�'
�0� 
��� ��
$$
 � $��*�

���/�	����

•� 2,	�/	
�
�0��	�
0���

•� 2,	��	,	����	����$��
�	��

�
#�����	����� !����
 
��:���0	��"� 
���	��	�� ��	�����
��		� 
�� �������� �$� ��	�

���
 
�
����
�
���� 
����� ���*���� !+����
�0���� �
��� ������� ���� 
����"� 
���	��	�� ��	�
����
��		�
/������	�
���
 
�
����
�
+�	��	��	�	��
�
��� �,	�	����	�$����*
�0�
���	�1�

�� +��'�
���	�*
�����	�5
0�*
���@�0
�		�:��,
	*���
����	�	�*	�	�����
$	���


���	���


�� �  	��� ��� ��	� �	,	����	��� *
��  ���	� ��� ��	�$���� 3�
��� *�
 �� *
�� 
�

/��������	��



�� +�	� �	,	����	��� *����� 	=
 	�/
�	� 	=
��
�0� �
�'
�0� 
��� ��
$$
 � $��*�

���/�	����
�
+�	�����
��		1�

Page 15



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

���

�
����%0��� .�5� 8� 0����� ���  �-����  � ����������1� ��� 0�
��� ��	� 
���
 
�
��� $���
��
��
�0� �	��
��
��� 
�� 
  ���
� 	� *
��� ��	� �$$
 	�� �	 ���	��
�
���� $��� ��	�
�	
����� �	�� ���� 
�� ��	� �$$
 	�� �	������ 
��� ��/7	 �� ��� ��	�  ���
�
����
�	 ���	��	��/����	��$$
 	����
F-�<��G�
F�<��G�
 !"#B"��
�� '" C'8"����@��������������"�� @C������5�G�5�
�
+�	� ����
��		� �	 	
,	�� 
�� 
���
 
�
��� $��� $���� ��
��
�0� �	��
��
���� +�	�
)�
� 
�
�� )�
��
�0� 2$$
 	�� �	$	��	�� ��� �	��	�	��
�
���� ��� ��	� ��
��
�0�

�	���	�����		���
�
+�	�
���
 
�
������0���
����,
��$���	�	 �
����$��*����/	������	���
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
� �	��	�	��
�
��� 
���/7	 �
������ ��	�
���
 
�
��� $����
#��&��*���
�
+�	��	��	�	��
�
��� �,	�	����	�$����*
�0�
���	�1�

�� ��00	��	����
��
�	���	�����
�	������	��	�
0���
� 	���	��
���
�	�
�
���

*	�	����	�$
 

��
��� ���	�
 ��


�� 3

�	����	�$����*
�0���	 
$
 � �� 	���1�

•� +�	��	�
0��*�������
������������/�	���
��*
����	
0�/������

•� +�	�/�
��
�0��*��������'��
�0	����
���	
0�/����:�����	��
	���

•� +�	�
���
 
�
���
��
���,	��	,	����	����$���	��
�	��

•� +�	��	�
0��*
�������
0���
����
�0��������
��	�
 �����	
0�/�����
���
�����$� �
�
 �	��*
�����	�
�	
��

�
#�� �
�	�� !����
 
��"� 
��� #�� �
��
�0� !����
 
��:�� �0	��"� 
���	��	�� ��	�
����
��		�
�����������$���	�
���
 
�
����
�
+�	�����
��		1�
�
����%0��� .)������)�%51� ��� 0�
��� ��	�
���
 
�
��� $��� ��
��
�0��	��
��
��� 
��

  ���
� 	� *
��� ��	� �$$
 	�� �	 ���	��
�
���� $��� ��	� �	
����� �	�� ���� 
�� ��	�
�$$
 	���	������
�����/7	 �������	� ���
�
�����	 ���	��	��/����	��$$
 	����
F-�<��G�
F�<��G�
 !"#B"��
�� '" C8'"����@�8C���%%�	��������
�
+�	�����
��		��	 	
,	��
��
���
 
�
���$��� �
�0	��$���	���
�

Page 16



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

���

+�	�
���
 
�
������0���
����,
��$��� �
�0	��$���	�$��������*	��
�0��������	�

������
��	��  ��
�
����
�
#�� E���0� !����
 
��:�� �0	��"� 
���	��	�� ��	� ����
��		� 
�� �������� �$� ��	�

���
 
�
����
�
+�	�����
��		1�
�
����%0��� .)������)�%51� ��� 0�
��� ��	�
���
 
�
��� $��� ��
��
�0��	��
��
��� 
��

  ���
� 	� *
��� ��	� �$$
 	�� �	 ���	��
�
���� $��� ��	� �	
����� �	�� ���� 
�� ��	�
�$$
 	���	������
�����/7	 �������	� ���
�
�����	 ���	��	��/����	��$$
 	����

 !"'="��
� 	�����������������
F-�<��G�
F�<��G�
 !"'="��
��#+�:��������������$�����
�
+�	� ����
��		� �	 	
,	�� 
�� ���
�	� �	����� $����*
�0� ��� ��	� �$� ���	
��
�	 
�
���
0

������	����� 
�:���	 
�
�������	$��	����0�
���
��	��
$
 
�	��$�8
*$���
H�	����(	,	����	���!
���
 
�
����	$	�	� 	���-���.-�8H@("��
�
�
�	1����&
/�
�
��3�
����
�/�
�0	�
&�	
 �1�&�	
 ���$���
��
�0� ���
�
����
����
�	�

�� �
�0	��$���	��
�
+�	��	��������0���
�����
���
���
��	��
0

����	
 ���$���	�$
,	�
@�$�� 	�	���>��
 	��
�����
�	��/������
��		�
��#
� ������1�

��� &�	
 ���$� ���
�
�����$��-��-�B���!+�	����/	���$�
 	� �	
��,
�������	��

�� ��	� ��	�
�	�� ��
��� ���� 	= 		�� �*�� ,	�
 �	"��
�
@�$�� 	�	��� ���
 	� ���� ��� /	� 
���	���
�

��� &�	
 �� �$�  ���
�
��� �� �$� �-��-�B��� !+�	� 
 	�  �	
�� ,
����*�	�� ���� 
��
��	����
���/	�����	��*
��
����	�	=
��
�0�0
�
0	��
��
����
�	��*
�����	�������
 ���	�"��
�
@�$�� 	�	��� ���
 	� ��� /	� �	�,	�� /��� 
�	��	�� ��� �	��,	� �	$	�	� 	� ���
I*
��� ��	� ������  ���	�:��
�

��� &�	
 ���$� ���
�
������$��-��-�B���!+�	�	���
���/	�����	�
,	�
	�� ��� ��	�
��	�
�	�� 
��� 

�	�� *
��� ��	� 
 	�  �	
�� /��
�	��"�
�

Page 17



��������	
�����
��		� � �	��	��
���������
�������

�

�
�
�

���

@�$�� 	�	��� ���
 	� ���� ��� /	� 
���	���
�

��� &�	
 �� �$�  ���
�
��� �� �$� �-��-�B��� !+�	� 0
�
0	� ��
��� /	� ��	�� $��� ��	�
�
�'
�0��$�������	���
���*��
 	� �	
��,
���
�����	��
�'
�0��$����	��
 �
,	�
 �	�� ����� 
��� $��� ��� ���	�� ������	� *
������ 	=��	���  ���	��� ��� /	�
0
,	�� 
�� *�
�
�0� /�� ��	� �� 
�� ��
��
�0� 
�����
��"��
�
@�$�� 	�	��� ���
 	� ���� ��� /	� 
���	���
�

��� +�	��
�	�

�� �
�0	��$���	��$� ��	�
�	
��$� ��	�8
����
�'	��*
���0�		��
�
� �
�0������	�
��
 �	����
���$����&
/�
�
��3�
���
�/�
�0	����
�&��
/��
�	�����	��
�
@�$�� 	�	������
 	��������/	�
���	���

�
+�	�����
��		1�
�
����%0��� .)������)�%51� ���  ���	� ��	� �		�
�0� 
�� �1��� ��� 
��� �	$	��
 ���
�	�
�0�
���
 
�
�����	0
��
�0����&
/�
�
��3�
�����
��
�$����	��
�	���	�
���
�$
����

��
� 
�	����
F-�<��G�
F�<��G�
 !"'="��
��#+�:�������������	�����������
�
+�
��
���
 
�
���*
������ ���
�	�	����	����
�$
����

��
� 
�	����
�
�
�

+�	��		�
�0�	��	��
����������
�
�
�
�


�����
�

Page 18



1

Neighbourhood profile update
Cambridge City South
Neighbourhood

June 2014

Steve Poppitt, Safer 
Neighbourhoods 
Inspector

Lynda Kilkelly, Safer
Communities Manager, 
Cambridge City Council

Agenda Item 7

Page 19



2

1 INTRODUCTION 2

Aim

Methodology

2 CURRENT PRIORITIES 3

3 PRO-ACTIVE WORK & EMERGING ISSUES 5

4 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 8

Current Crime & ASB Incident Levels by Ward

Environmental Services Data

5 RECOMMENDATIONS 10

1 INTRODUCTION

Aim

The aim of the Neighbourhood profile update is to provide an overview of 
action taken since the last reporting period, identify on-going and emerging 
crime and disorder issues, and provide recommendations for future priorities 
and activity in order to facilitate effective policing and partnership working in 
the area.

The document should be used to inform multi-agency neighbourhood panel 
meetings and neighbourhood policing teams, so that issues can be identified, 
effectively prioritised and partnership problem solving activity undertaken.

Methodology

This document was produced using the following data sources:
Cambridgeshire Constabulary crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) 
incident data for February to May 2014, compared to the previous 
reporting period (October 2013 to January 2014) and the same reporting 
period in 2013.
City Council environmental services data for the period February to May
2014, compared to the same reporting period in 2013; and
Information provided by the Safer Neighbourhood Policing team and the 
City Council’s Safer Communities team.

Page 20



3

2 CURRENT PRIORITIES

At the South Area Committee meeting of 3 March 2014, the committee 
recommended adopting the following priorities:

Combat the supply of drugs in South area;
Target the increase in dwelling burglary in the Cherry Hinton area; and
Target the increase in thefts from motor vehicles in the Trumpington area.

The Neighbourhood Action Group, at its meeting of 12 March 2014, assigned 
the actions to be taken and the lead officers for each of the priorities. The 
tables below summarise the action taken and the current situation.

Combat the supply of drugs in South area

Objectives Target individuals and organised groups travelling to the 
South area of Cambridge to engage in the unlawful supply 
of controlled drugs, particularly Class A drugs; and
Target the supply of drugs, particularly Class A drugs, by 
individuals resident in the South area.

Action 
Taken

In the last four months, the South area team, working with the 
East area team, have executed 3 search warrants under the 
Misuse of Drugs Act, as well as supporting other warrants in 
the East area. This has resulted in the seizure of both Class A 
and Class B drugs.

As a result of these warrants individuals have been arrested 
and dealt with for being concerned in the supply of Class A 
drugs, the production of Class B drugs and the possession with 
intent to supply of both Class A and Class B drugs.

In the same period, 28 stop/searches under the Misuse of 
Drugs Act have been conducted resulting in the confiscation of 
cannabis from 7 individuals, and the arrest of 2 individuals for 
possession with intent to supply and for being concerned in the 
supply of controlled drugs.

Current 
Situation

Intelligence and information from the public still continues to 
come to the attention of the problem solving teams working 
across the city. This indicates there are still numerous 
individuals in the South area who remain active in the supply of 
controlled drugs.

Many of those arrested normally reside outside Cambridge and 
are coming to Cambridge purely to take part in their criminal 
activity.

Page 21



4

The tactic of the police is to make Cambridge as hostile an 
environment as possible for the intention to supply drugs.

Lead 
Officer

Sergeant Jim Stevenson, Cambridgeshire Constabulary.

Target the increase in dwelling burglary in the Cherry Hinton area

Objectives Reduce the incidents of dwelling burglary in the Cherry 
Hinton area; and
Increase the awareness of local residents about the risks of 
becoming a victim of crime, and inform them of suitable 
simple crime prevention measures they can take.

Action 
Taken

The dwelling burglary prevention work undertaken by the South
area team was not conducted in isolation but in support of the
work of other departments in the police who deal with dwelling 
burglary and offenders on a daily basis. Detectives from 
Parkside attend the scene of and investigate all burglaries and 
the Integrated Offender Management team maintains
ownership of the management and monitoring of known repeat 
offenders.

The main tactic employed by the South team in terms of 
prevention is known as “cocooning”. This is basically an 
intensive crime prevention response to crimes of dwelling
burglary. Those whose property are near to the burgled 
dwelling are visited, reassured and given practical crime 
prevention advice on how to reduce the risk of becoming a 
victim. It is based on evidence obtained from research 
conducted under the supervision of the Jill Dando Institute for 
Security and Crime Science. This has been trialled by other 
police forces in the Eastern region.

Cocooning activity around dwelling burglaries in the Cherry 
Hinton Area has taken the form of 19 hours of visits to 
residential premises around the victims’ addresses. The South
team has visited 553 residential premises, delivered 305 
leaflets about reducing the risks of being a victim of burglary,
and spoke to 248 residents to deliver appropriate crime 
prevention advice.

Current 
Situation

Dwelling burglary in the Cherry Hinton area is down compared 
to the previous reporting period, but has seen an increase 
compared to the same period last year. The cocooning work 
has been well-received by residents and has now been 
adopted as standard practice for all dwelling burglaries.

Page 22



5

Lead 
Officer

Sergeant Jim Stevenson, Cambridgeshire Constabulary

Target the increase in thefts from motor vehicles in the Trumpington 
area

Objectives Reduce the theft from motor vehicles in the Trumpington 
area; and
Increase the awareness of local residents and local 
businesses about the risks of becoming a victim of crime, 
and inform them of suitable simple crime prevention 
measures they can take.

Action 
Taken

Since the last meeting, around 17 hours of high-visibility 
patrols, mostly carried out by Police Community Support 
Officers (PCSOs), have been undertaken around the principle 
hotspot areas for theft from vehicle offences.

Messages to local residents, containing simple crime 
prevention advice to reduce the risk of being a victim of theft 
from motor vehicle, have been delivered via the eCops system 
as well as in local police surgeries and out on the street to 
motorists parking in high risk areas.

Visits to the site by South area PCSOs where new homes are 
being constructed have been carried out. Developers have 
been encouraged to impress upon employees and those 
visiting the sites the need to secure their vehicles and contents.

Current 
Situation

The number of theft from motor vehicle offences in 
Trumpington is down compared to the previous reporting 
period. There is a slight increase (4 offences) on the same 
reporting period from last year. An increase compared to 2013 
was possibly due to the large number of homes, and therefore 
cars, being added to the ward by the Southern Fringe 
developments.

Lead 
Officer

Sergeant Jim Stevenson, Cambridgeshire Constabulary

3 PRO-ACTIVE WORK & EMERGING ISSUES

The City Council's Safer Communities team, working in partnership with 
the police and other social landlords, continue to tackle a number of ASB 
issues in the South. Following significant incidents of ASB, a Notice of 
Seeking Possession was served on a City Homes tenant. One tenant has 
given an undertaking to comply with their tenancy agreement and on 
another case, parties have signed a Good Neighbour Agreement. One 

Page 23



6

tenant is due to be served a Notice of Seeking Possession for unlawful use 
of their property.

The City Council’s Safer Communities team is working with police street 
life officers in a number of areas where residents have reported a street 
life presence, as well as supporting agencies where vulnerable tenants are 
identified as needing help with managing their tenancies.

The City Council’s Safer Communities team, together with other partner 
agencies, was involved in the Hanover and Princess Court Community 
Clean Up Day on 17 May, organised by City Homes, as well as the 
opening of the new Community Centre there and the formation of a 
Residents’ Association.

There has been a slight rise in overall crime recorded in the South area. 
Trumpington and Queen Edith’s wards have remained stable, with Cherry 
Hinton ward accounting for the majority of this increase. There is no 
particular pattern to the Cherry Hinton increase; the majority is accounted 
for by various types of thefts (though not shoplifting) across the ward.

ASB for the South area has shown an increase by comparison to the 
previous reporting period. Cherry Hinton and Queen Edith’s wards are 
relatively stable with the increase coming in Trumpington. This increase is 
linked to more street-based ASB (for example, begging) in the Station 
Road and Newtown areas. Action is already being taken in respect of this 
by the street-based ASB team. One of the main offenders, Mark Guy, has 
been given an ASBO to prevent this behaviour; one of his conditions is not 
to sit within 10 metres of a cash point machine and ask for money. Since 
the ASBO and increased police patrols begging activity has decreased.

Dwelling burglary for the South area has remained stable by comparison to 
the previous reporting period. Cherry Hinton and Queen Edith’s wards 
have both seen fewer offences. Trumpington has, however, seen an 
increase.

Non-dwelling burglary for the South area has decreased to 17 offences by 
comparison to 25 in the previous reporting period.

Theft from vehicle for the South area has decreased by 11 offences with 
reductions across all three wards.

There have been good reductions in criminal damage across all wards.

Violent crime remains stable.

Page 24



7

Cycle crime for the South area has remained stable by comparison to the 
previous reporting period. Cherry Hinton and Trumpington wards have 
both seen fewer offences. Queen Edith’s ward has however seen a small 
increase.

Cambridge police has drawn up a new service level agreement with 
Neighbourhood Watch and are seeking to build on the already good 
relationship with members to increase scheme numbers even more. 
Anyone interested in finding out more should visit www.cambsnhw.org.uk

A meeting has already taken place with South area councillors, the police, 
City Council’s Safer Communities team, one of the landowners and other 
agencies in respect of “Cambridge Lakes”. A multi-agency action plan has 
been drawn up to combat the ASB associated with the area. Local 
residents will be informed of what action is planned.

Page 25



4
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
 I

N
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 C

R
IM

E
 &

 A
S

B
 I

N
C

ID
E

N
T

 L
E

V
E

L
S

 B
Y

 W
A

R
D

Dwelling 

Burglary

Other

Burglary

Violent

Crime

Robbery

Theft of

Vehicle

Theft

from

Vehicle

Cycle 

Theft

Theft 

from 

Shop

Criminal 

Damage

Other 

Crime

T
O

T
A

L
 

C
R

IM
E

T
O

T
A

L
 

A
S

B

AREA

C
it

y
 S

o
u

th

F
e
b
 1

4
 –

M
a

y
 1

4
3
6

1
7

6
2

2
4

3
0

8
5

9
3
0

1
7
6

4
5
1

2
5
3

F
e
b
 1

3
 –

M
a

y
 1

3
2
3

2
2

6
6

0
3

2
8

9
1

8
4
2

8
7

3
7
0

2
2
4

O
c
t 
1
3
 –

J
a
n
 1

4
3
6

2
5

7
1

2
7

4
1

8
6

6
5
1

1
0
8

4
3
3

2
0
1

WARDS

C
h

e
rr

y
 

H
in

to
n

F
e
b
 1

4
 –

M
a

y
 1

4
1
6

2
2
7

2
1

5
7

1
1
0

5
1

1
2
2

7
2

F
e
b
 1

3
 –

M
a

y
 1

3
4

3
1
7

0
1

6
1
9

1
1
5

2
0

8
6

6
5

O
c
t 
1
3
 –

J
a
n
 1

4
1
8

3
2
9

0
2

6
1
0

0
2
0

1
7

1
0
5

8
9

Q
u

e
e
n

 
E

d
it

h
’s

F
e
b
 1

4
 –

M
a

y
 1

4
7

2
1
5

0
1

5
3
5

0
7

4
9

1
2
1

6
1

F
e
b
 1

3
 –

M
a

y
 1

3
1
5

6
3
0

0
0

6
2
6

1
1
3

2
6

1
2
3

7
4

O
c
t 
1
3
 –

J
a
n
 1

4
1
1

1
2

1
1

0
2

1
1

2
8

0
9

3
8

1
2
2

3
2

T
ru

m
p

in
g

to
n

F
e
b
 1

4
 –

M
a

y
 1

4
1
3

1
3

2
0

0
2

2
0

4
3

8
1
3

7
6

2
0
8

1
2
0

F
e
b
 1

3
 –

M
a

y
 1

3
4

1
3

1
9

0
2

1
6

4
6

6
1
4

4
1

1
6
1

8
5

O
c
t 
1
3
 –

J
a
n
 1

4
7

1
0

3
1

2
3

2
4

4
8

6
2
2

5
3

2
0
6

8
0

Page 26



ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES DATA

Cherry Hinton

Abandoned vehicles
February to May 2014: 7 reports, which included 7 vehicles not on site 
following inspection
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 6 reports

Fly tipping
February to May 2014: 18 reports
Hotspots: Colville Road (3)
February to May 2013: 7 reports

Derelict cycles
February to May 2014: 11
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 2

Needle finds
February to May 2014: None
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: None

Queen Edith's

Abandoned vehicles
February to May 2014: 6 reports, which included

- 4 vehicles not on site following inspection
- 2 vehicles held pending further investigation

Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 1 report

Fly tipping
February to May 2014: 12 reports, which included 1 request for waste 
transfer documentation from trade offenders
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 4 reports

Derelict cycles
February to May 2014: 4
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 2

Page 27



10

Needle finds
February to May 2014: None
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: None

Trumpington

Abandoned vehicles
February to May 2014: 5 reports, which included

- 2 vehicles not on site following inspection
- 1 CLE26 notice issued to an offender on behalf of the DVLA for not 

displaying a valid tax disc on a public highway
- 2 vehicles held pending further investigation

Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 6 reports

Fly tipping
February to May 2014: 20 reports, which included 2 formal warning letters
issued to domestic offenders
Offences at Russell Street and Anstey Way accounted for the formal 
warning letters sent
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 9 reports

Derelict cycles
February to May 2014: 11
Hotspots: None
February to May 2013: 11

Needle finds
February to May 2014: 4
Hotspots: Botanical Gardens (2); Coronation Street (2)
February to May 2013: None

5 RECOMMENDATIONS

Combat the supply of drugs in the South area

Target dwelling burglary in the Cherry Hinton and Trumpington wards

Target ASB associated with the “Cambridge Lakes” area

Page 28



Report Page No: 1 

Cambridge City Council 

To: South  Area Committee   23/06/2014 

Report by: Simon Payne, 
Director of Environment 

Wards affected: Cherry Hinton, Trumpington, Queen Ediths 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME 

1.0    Executive summary 

 This report requests that the Committee determine which of the 
proposed new EIP schemes are allocated funding as part of the 
2014/15 Environmental Improvement Programme, from those listed 
in Appendix A of this report. 

2.0    Recommendations 

     The South Area Committee is recommended: 

2.1 To allocate funding of £4,500 for the annual provision and 
maintenance of 26 hanging baskets along Cherry Hinton High St.

2.2 To allocate the remaining £37,300 to the list of proposed projects in 
Appendix A of this report.

2.3 To approve the delivery of the minor traffic regulation orders listed in 
Appendix E, at an estimated cost of £6000, funded by the remainder 
of the South Area Committee 2011/12 joint minor highway works 
budget.

2.4 To approve those projects for implementation, subject to positive 
consultation where required and final approval by Ward Councillors.

2.5 To note the progress of existing schemes listed in Appendix C of this 
report.

3.0    Background 

3.1 Initial feasibility work has been carried out on all of the schemes that 
have been suggested for the 2014/15 Environmental Improvement 
Programme (EIP). 

Agenda Item 9

Page 29



Report Page No: 2 

3.2 The South Area Committee has an annual budget of £41,800 to 
allocate to schemes from its Environmental Improvement Programme 
Budget.

3.3 The table in Appendix A lists all of the schemes that could be feasibly 
delivered as part of this year’s EIP Programme, should they be 
allocated funding by South Area Committee. 

3.4 Further details of each proposed EIP scheme can be found in 
Appendix B of this report. 

4.0    Background papers 

None

5.0    Appendices 

APPENDIX A 
Summary of Feasible EIP Schemes for 2014/15. 

APPENDIX B 
Further Details of Feasible EIP Schemes. 

APPENDIX C 
Progress on Existing EIP Schemes. 

APPENDIX D 
EIP Eligibility Criteria. 

 APPENDIX E 
 Joint Minor Highway Works Traffic Orders Budget 

6.0  Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Andrew Preston
Author’s Phone Number:  01223 458234
Author’s Email: andrew.preston@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 30



Report Page No: 3 Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 F

E
A

S
IB

L
E

 E
IP

 S
C

H
E

M
E

S
 F

O
R

 2
0
1
4
/1

5
 -

 S
O

U
T

H
 A

R
E

A

N
o

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
 T

it
le

S
c
h

e
m

e
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

P
ro

m
o

te
d

 

b
y

W
a
rd

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

£

S
e
c
u

re
d

fu
n

d
in

g

c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

£

E
IP

 A
ll

o
c
a
ti

o
n

 

re
q

u
e
s
te

d

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

S
1

N
o
rw

ic
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 

g
re

e
n
in

g
G

re
e
n
in

g
 o

f 
N

o
rw

ic
h
 S

tr
e
e
t.

 S
ix

 

to
 e

ig
h
t 

p
a
rk

in
g
 b

a
y
 m

a
rk

e
rs

 

w
h
e
re

 t
re

e
s
 o

r 
p
o
tt

e
d
 p

la
n
ts

 

m
ig

h
t 

b
e
 s

it
u
a
te

d
 w

it
h
 v

a
ry

in
g
 

a
m

o
u
n
ts

 o
f 

w
o
rk

 o
r 

c
o
s
t.

 

A
n
d
re

w

B
la

c
k
h
u
rs

t

T
ru

m
p
in

g
to

n
2
1
,0

0
0

-
2
1
,0

0
0

H
ig

h
 r

is
k
 p

ro
je

c
t.

 T
h
e
 

n
a
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

w
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

re
a
d
ily

 s
u
it
 t

h
e
 

in
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
tr

e
e
s
. 

P
la

n
te

rs
 w

o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 

o
n
g
o
in

g
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 

re
v
e
n
u
e
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
.

S
2

G
u
n
h
ild

 W
a
y
 -

 r
o
a
d
 

w
id

e
n
in

g

W
id

e
n
 t

h
e
 r

o
a
d
s
 a

t 
b
o
th

 e
n
d
s
 o

f 

th
e
 g

re
e
n
 n

e
a
r 

ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

T
ill

y
a
rd

 W
a
y
, 

to
 m

a
tc

h
 t

h
e
 

w
o
o
d
e
n
 r

a
ils

, 
s
o
 t

h
a
t 

la
rg

e
r 

v
e
h
ic

le
s
 c

a
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 

th
e
 o

th
e
r 

s
id

e
 o

f 
th

e
 g

re
e
n
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 

s
p
o
ili

n
g
 t

h
e
 g

ra
s
s
.

T
im

 M
o
o
re

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

1
2
,5

0
0

-
1
2
,5

0
0

L
o
w

 r
is

k
 p

ro
je

c
t.

 S
im

ila
r 

to
 w

o
rk

 u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 i
n
 

n
e
a
rb

y
 G

o
d
w

in
 W

a
y
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r.

S
3

W
u
lf
s
ta

n
 W

a
y
 s

h
o
p
p
in

g
 

a
re

a
 -

  
v
e
rg

e
 p

ro
te

c
ti
o
n

P
la

c
in

g
 p

o
s
ts

 o
n
 t

h
e
 W

u
lf
s
ta

n
 

W
a
y
 s

id
e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

a
rk

in
g
 b

lo
c
k
s
, 

a
t 

th
e
 e

n
tr

y
 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 b

a
y
, 

w
ill

 

p
re

v
e
n
t 

la
rg

e
 v

e
h
ic

le
s
 d

ri
v
in

g
 

o
v
e
r 

th
e
 g

ra
s
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 r

u
ts

.

T
im

 M
o
o
re

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

1
,0

0
0

-
1
,0

0
0

L
o
w

 r
is

k
 p

ro
je

c
t.

 T
h
e
 

s
m

a
ll 

g
ra

s
s
e
d
 a

re
a
s
 

a
ro

u
n
d
 t

h
e
s
e
 b

a
y
s
 a

re
 

re
g
u
la

rl
y
 o

v
e
r-

ru
n
 b

y
 

p
a
rk

in
g
 v

e
h
ic

le
s
. 

W
o
o
d
e
n
 b

o
lla

rd
s
 w

o
u
ld

 

p
ro

v
id

e
 s

o
m

e
 p

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 

to
 b

o
th

 g
ra

s
s
 a

n
d
 

a
d
ja

c
e
n
t 

tr
e
e
s
.

Page 33



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

N
o

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
 T

it
le

S
c
h

e
m

e
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

P
ro

m
o

te
d

 

b
y

W
a
rd

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

£

S
e
c
u

re
d

fu
n

d
in

g

c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

£

E
IP

 A
ll

o
c
a
ti

o
n

 

re
q

u
e
s
te

d

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

2
5
,0

0
0

2
5
,0

0
0

S
5

B
lin

c
o
 G

ro
v
e
 l
a
m

p
 p

o
s
ts

P
a
in

t 
re

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

s
ta

in
le

s
s
 s

te
e
l 

la
m

p
 p

o
s
ts

 b
la

c
k
 a

s
 m

o
re

 i
n
 

k
e
e
p
in

g
 w

it
h
 h

is
to

ri
c
 s

ty
le

.

A
m

a
n
d
a

T
a
y
lo

r

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

1
0
,0

0
0

-
1
0
,0

0
0

M
e
d
iu

m
 r

is
k
 p

ro
je

c
t.

 

T
h
e
s
e
 n

e
w

 c
o
lu

m
n
s
 a

re
 

g
a
lv

a
n
is

e
d
 s

te
e
l,
 w

it
h
 

w
h
it
e
 p

la
s
ti
c
 l
a
n
te

rn
s
. 

S
p
e
c
if
ic

 p
a
in

t 
s
y
s
te

m
s
 

w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a

n
d
 

n
e
e
d
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
, 

a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 

w
o
rk

 w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
le

x
. 

T
h
e
 v

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e
 o

w
n
e
r 

o
f 

th
e
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
 a

s
s
e
t,

 

B
a
lf
o
u
r 

B
e
a
tt

y
, 

is
 a

ls
o
 

u
n
k
n
o
w

n
. 

 D
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t

o
 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

 c
o
s
t 

a
c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 

a
t 

th
is

 s
ta

g
e
.

S
6

R
e
d
 C

ro
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 

d
ro

p
p
e
d
 k

e
rb

In
s
ta

ll 
d
ro

p
p
e
d
 k

e
rb

 a
t 

g
a
te

 

le
a
d
in

g
 t

o
 A

d
d
e
n
b
ro

o
k
e
s
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
l.

A
m

a
n
d
a

T
a
y
lo

r

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

3
,0

0
0

-
3
,0

0
0

L
o
w

 t
o
 m

e
d
iu

m
 r

is
k
 

p
ro

je
c
t.

 R
e
la

ti
v
e
ly

 

s
tr

a
ig

h
tf

o
rw

a
rd

te
c
h
n
ic

a
lly

, 
b
u
t 

s
in

c
e
 

th
e
re

 a
re

 l
im

it
e
d
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
 

ri
g
h
ts

 t
h
e
re

 c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

la
n
d
 o

w
n
e
rs

h
ip

/l
e
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
lly

 t
re

e
 r

o
o
t 

a
n
d
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 t

o
 

o
v
e
rc

o
m

e
.

L
o
w

 t
o
 m

e
d
iu

m
 r

is
k
 

p
ro

je
c
t.

 T
h
e
 v

e
rg

e
s
 

a
lo

n
g
 b

o
th

 r
o
u
te

s
 a

re
 

e
x
te

n
s
iv

e
ly

 o
v
e
r-

ru
n
 i
n
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
a
re

a
s
. 
A

n
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
£
2
5
,0

0
0
 f

o
r 

e
a
c
h
, 

a
lo

n
g
 w

it
h
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
H

ig
h
w

a
y
 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 f

ro
n
ta

g
e
r 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
, 

s
h
o
u
ld

 

a
llo

w
 t

h
e
 m

o
s
t 

n
e
e
d
y
 

a
re

a
s
 t

o
 b

e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
.

5
0
,0

0
0

S
4

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s
 W

a
y
 &

 

M
o
w

b
ra

y
 R

d
 v

e
rg

e
 

re
p
a
ir
s

R
e
p
a
ir
 v

e
rg

e
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
id

e
n
in

g
 s

p
la

y
s
 o

f 
n
a
rr

o
w

 d
ri
v
e
s
 

to
 s

to
p
 c

a
rs

 d
ri
v
in

g
 o

v
e
r 

v
e
rg

e
s
.

G
e
o
rg

e

P
ip

p
a
s

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

-

Page 34



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

N
o

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
 T

it
le

S
c
h

e
m

e
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

P
ro

m
o

te
d

 

b
y

W
a
rd

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

£

S
e
c
u

re
d

fu
n

d
in

g

c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

£

E
IP

 A
ll

o
c
a
ti

o
n

 

re
q

u
e
s
te

d

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

S
7

N
ig

h
ti
n
g
a
le

 R
e
c
 b

o
w

lin
g
 

g
re

e
n

T
u
rn

 b
o
w

lin
g
 g

re
e
n
 i
n
to

 p
ic

n
ic

 

a
re

a
, 

o
rc

h
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
's

 v
e
g
 

p
a
tc

h
 a

s
 n

o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

u
s
e
d
 b

y
 

b
o
w

lin
g
 c

lu
b
.

T
im

 M
o
o
re

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h

8
,0

0
0

-
8
,0

0
0

It
 w

o
u
ld

 s
e
e
m

 t
h
a
t 

th
is

 

a
re

a
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 p

u
t 

to
 

b
e
tt

e
r 

u
s
e
. 
A

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 m

ig
h
t 

b
e
 

e
x
p
lo

re
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

le
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 (

£
3
,0

0
0
),

 

w
it
h
 m

in
im

a
l 
w

o
rk

s
 t

o
 

m
a
k
e
 t

h
e
 a

re
a
 s

a
fe

 a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 f

o
r 

p
u
b
lic

 u
s
e
 

c
o
s
ti
n
g
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

£
5
,0

0
0
.

T
o

ta
l

1
0
5
,5

0
0

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B – Details of Proposed Schemes

Scheme Number: S1

Scheme Title: Norwich Street greening

Scheme Description: Greening of Norwich Street. Six to eight parking bay markers where 
trees or potted plants might be situated with varying amounts of 
work or cost.  

Promoted by: Andrew Blackhurst

Ward: Trumpington

Estimated Budget: £21,000

Risks to Delivery: HIGH RISK
- Highway Authority approval.
- Road Safety Audit.
- Insufficient space for tree planting.
- Possible loss of parking bays.
- Adjustments to TRO
- Extensive consultation (objections that require 

determination)
- Existing street furniture that requires clearances.

Eligibility: - Direct and noticeable improvement to appearance of street
- Publicly visible and accessible
- Future maintenance costs determined by nature of planting
- Potentially involve local people

Officer Comments: There are 6 existing build-out islands on Norwich Street.  These
have reflective bollards on them and some have road signs.  
These build-outs would need to be extended to accommodate 
trees/planting, resulting in a reduction in parking spaces.  

Building frontages are close to the road here, and any planting 
would have to be scaled appropriately with the adjacent 
housing.  A mixture of small tree planting and built planters 
might be most appropriate.

There is a risk that buried services and sub-surface road 
construction will be prohibitive to the success of this scheme.
Any works carried out here also need to consider the 
requirements for highway drainage and levels.

There are over-head cables that need to be accommodated in 
the design at some of the locations.  There is also evidence of a 
utility that runs directly through the build-out zones.  It may be 
possible to work around these, but any future maintenance of 
the utility runs is likely to be damaging to the planting.

Promoter’s Comments: Planting would positively contribute to aesthetics of street. Project 
involvement may provide useful focus for community building as 
perhaps residents might ‘adopt a tree’.
May need to take into consideration proposals for cargo bike 
parking which have been mooted for same street.

Existing layout:

         

Page 37



Scheme Number: S2

Scheme Title: Gunhild Way - road widening

Scheme Description: Widen the roads at both ends of the green near junction with 
Tillyard Way, to align with the wooden rails, so that larger vehicles 
can service the houses the other side of the green without spoiling 
the grass.

Promoted by: Tim Moore

Ward: Queen Edith

Estimated Budget: Approx. £12,500

Risks to Delivery: LOW RISK
- Highway Authority approval.
- Minimal risk from buried services.

Eligibility: - Direct, lasting and noticeable improvement to appearance of a 
street

- Publicly visible and accessible
- Low future maintenance costs
- Possible opportunity for County maintenance contribution

Officer’s Comments: Includes 2 areas: either end where rear wheels of large vehicles 
over-run. Similar to work undertaken in nearby Godwin Way last 
year.

Promoter’s Comments: Scheme would make the area tidier, less unsightly, no puddles 
when it’s wet. It also would be more functional.

Existing layout:

Page 38



Scheme Number: S3

Scheme Title: Wulfstan Way shopping area - verge protection

Scheme Description: Place posts on the Wulfstan Way side of the parking blocks, at the 
entry into the bay, to prevent large vehicles driving over the grass 
resulting in ruts.

Promoted by: Tim Moore

Ward: Queen Edith

Estimated Budget: Approx. £1,000

Risks to Delivery: LOW/MEDIUM RISK
- Highway Authority approval
- Tree roots and buried services
- Narrow road makes turning movements difficult

Eligibility: - Direct, lasting and noticeable improvement to appearance of a 
street / an area

- Publicly visible and accessible
- Ease and simplicity of implementation
- Low future maintenance costs
- Possible opportunity for County contribution

Officer’s Comments: There are about 6 spots around parking area where the verge is 
over-run. Wooden bollards would provide some protection to both 
grass and adjacent trees.

Promoter’s Comments: Residents commented that pillars/bollards/wooden columns should 
be placed at worst corners of the various parking blocks.

Existing layout:

Page 39



Scheme Number: S4

Scheme Title: Queen Ediths Way & Mowbray Road verge repairs

Scheme Description: Repair verges and consider widening splays of narrow drives to 
stop cars driving over verges

Promoted by: George Pippas

Ward: Queen Edith

Estimated Budget: Up to £25k for each road

Risks to Delivery: LOW/MEDIUM RISK
- Highways approval
- Buried services / tree roots

Eligibility: - Direct, lasting and noticeable improvement to appearance of a 
street

- Publicly visible and accessible
- Low future maintenance costs
- Possible opportunity for County and frontager contributions

Officer Comments: Extensive project. Worse on Queen Ediths Way (particularly Cherry 
Hinton end) than Mowbray Road. Narrow drives, granite kerbs with 
short, steep tapers. An allocation of £25,000 for each road should 
allow the most needy areas to be improved. 

Promoter’s Comments: The scheme would improve the general appearance, wider splays 
might help to protect the verges in the longer term and reduce 
ongoing repair costs.

Existing layout:

Page 40



Scheme Number: S5

Scheme Title: Blinco Grove lamp posts

Scheme Description: Paint replacement stainless steel lamp posts black as more in 
keeping with historic style

Promoted by: Amanda Taylor

Ward: Queen Edith

Estimated Budget: £10,000

Risks to Delivery: MEDIUM RISK
- Columns under the ownership of Balfour Beatty, under the 

PFI contract.
- Not all posts would be straightforward to paint, as 

insufficient clearance from obstructions.
- Health and Safety implications of working at height over a 

prolonged period of time.
- Paint system might not take well to the galvanised steel 

finish of the columns and plastic lanterns and require 
ongoing maintenance.

- Finish might not be as good as desired, due to working 
conditions.

Eligibility: - Direct and noticeable improvement to appearance of a street
- Publicly visible

Officer Comments: Up to 20 lamp posts. Will require cherry picker.  Lighting is under 
the control of County Council/Balfour Beatty.

Painting galvanised steel isn’t always successful, as the metal can 
flake off as it weathers and would need an expensive paint system.
Some columns, such as pictured below, are positioned so close to 
obstructions that it would be physically impossible to paint them in-
situ.  

Issues with working at height under several separate traffic 
management layouts.

Promoter’s Comments: Residents objected to replacement of black historic lamp posts. 
Investigating if financial contribution will be made by residents.

Existing layout:

Page 41



Scheme Number: S6

Scheme Title: Red Cross Lane dropped kerb

Scheme Description: Install dropped kerb on Red Cross Lane at gate leading to 
Addenbrookes Hospital.

Promoted by: Amanda Taylor

Ward: Queen Edith

Estimated Budget: £3,000

Risks to Delivery: LOW/MEDIUM RISK
- The gate is owned by a third party so land ownership may 

need to be checked.
- Tree roots and buried services.

Eligibility: - Publicly visible and accessible
- Low future maintenance costs
- Improves accessibility (equal opportunities)

Officer’s Comments: Kerb to left side of gate needs dropping in order to facilitate access 
through the opening and on to the Addenbrookes site. Care to be 
taken with tree roots, and will need investigating on-site, once 
opened up.

Promoter’s Comments: -

Existing layout:

       

Page 42



Scheme Number: S7

Scheme Title: Nightingale Rec bowling green

Scheme Description: Turn bowling green into picnic area, orchard and children's veg 
patch as no longer used by bowling club

Promoted by: Tim Moore

Ward: Queen Edith

Estimated Budget: £3K (for development work to inform best use of green space)
£5K (to make safe and accessible for potential alternative uses)

Risks to Delivery: LOW/MEDIUM RISK
- Objection to loss of sporting facility by Sport England. 
- Preference of local residents to alternative use.

Eligibility - Publicly accessible
- Active involvement of local people
- Ease and simplicity of implementation

Officer Comments: Bowling Club folded last year. Space unused. A number of 
alternative uses have been mooted including allotments and a 
boules/petanque playing area. Suggest that initial consideration 
focuses on independent and detailed consultation to develop the 
best option. 

Any alternative use would require the re-profiling of the bowling 
green boundary to make it safe (particularly for children) and 
accessible.

Promoter’s Comments: This would give a separate dog-free area with wooden 
tables/benches, fruit trees around the edge and veg patch.

Existing layout:

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 O
F

 E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 E
IP

 S
C

H
E

M
E

S
 -

 S
O

U
T

H
 A

R
E

A

N
o

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
 T

it
le

S
c
h

e
m

e
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

P
ro

m
o

te
d

 

b
y

W
a
rd

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 

B
u

d
g

e
t

£

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

E
x
p

e
c
te

d

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

1
R

e
c
to

ry
 T

e
rr

a
c
e
 C

h
e
rr

y
 

H
in

to
n
 H

ig
h
 S

t

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

p
ri
v
a
te

ly
 o

w
n
e
d
 

s
h
o
p
 f

o
re

c
o
u
rt

.
W

a
rd

 C
llr

s
C

h
e
rr

y

H
in

to
n

6
0
,0

0
0

M
a
r-

1
5

S
c
h
e
m

e
 d

e
s
ig

n
 d

ra
ft

e
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
e
ti
ti
v
e
ly

 p
ri
c
e
d
 

w
it
h
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

 a
p
p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 £

1
1
0
,0

0
0
. 

 I
n
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 E

IP
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

s
o
m

e
 £

2
0
,0

0
0
 o

f 

p
ri
v
a
te

 f
u
n
d
in

g
 i
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
 F

u
n
d
in

g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 

m
e
e
t 

th
e
 £

3
0
,0

0
0
 s

h
o
rt

fa
ll 

a
re

 u
n
d
e
r 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
.

2

M
ill

 E
n
d
 R

o
a
d
/C

h
e
rr

y
 

H
in

to
n
 H

ig
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 

B
o
lla

rd
s

In
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
 o

f 
b
o
lla

rd
s
 a

n
d
 c

y
c
le

 

s
ta

n
d
s
 t

o
 p

re
v
e
n
t 

v
e
h
ic

le
s
 m

o
u
n
ti
n
g
 

th
e
 p

a
v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 p

a
rk

in
g
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

fo
re

c
o
u
rt

.

W
a
rd

 C
llr

s
C

h
e
rr

y

H
in

to
n

3
,5

0
0

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

 -

3
C

h
e
rr

y
 H

in
to

n
 W

a
r 

M
e
m

o
ri
a
l

V
ill

a
g
e
 w

a
r 

m
e
m

o
ri
a
l 
n
e
a
r 

th
e
 

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 g

ro
u
n
d
. 

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 f

e
n
c
e
 t

o
 

b
e
 m

o
v
e
d
 b

a
c
k
, 

h
a
rd

 s
u
rf

a
c
e
 t

o
 b

e
 

p
u
t 

d
o
w

n
 a

ro
u
n
d
 t

h
is

 a
re

a
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 

m
e
m

o
ri
a
l 
to

 b
e
 r

a
is

e
d
 u

p
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

g
ro

u
n
d
.

C
llr

 D
ry

d
e
n

C
h
e
rr

y

H
in

to
n

5
,0

0
0

O
c
t-

1
4

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
£
2
,0

0
0
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 s

e
c
u
re

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t.

 

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 c
o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

to
 a

 h
ig

h
 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

£
5
,6

0
0
; 

b
a
s
e
d
 u

p
o
n
 c

o
m

p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 q

u
o
ta

ti
o
n
s
. 

S
1
0
6
 

In
fo

rm
a
l 
O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
.

4
N

o
ti
c
e
b
o
a
rd

 o
n
 C

h
e
rr

y
 

H
in

to
n
 R

e
c

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
d
o
u
b
le

 s
id

e
d
 

n
o
ti
c
e
b
o
a
rd

.
W

a
rd

 C
llr

s
C

h
e
rr

y

H
in

to
n

4
,5

0
0

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

 -

Page 45



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

N
o

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
 T

it
le

S
c
h

e
m

e
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

P
ro

m
o

te
d

 

b
y

W
a
rd

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 

B
u

d
g

e
t

£

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

E
x
p

e
c
te

d

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

5
T

ru
m

p
in

g
to

n
 W

a
r 

M
e
m

o
ri
a
l

D
ra

in
a
g
e
 a

n
d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
in

g
 a

ro
u
n
d
 

th
e
 b

a
s
e
 t

o
 b

e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
. 

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

b
o
a
rd

 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
s
ta

lle
d
.

C
llr

B
la

c
k
h
u
rs

t
T

ru
m

p
in

g
to

n
8
,5

0
0

O
c
t-

1
4

T
h
is

 p
ro

je
c
t 

is
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 c

o
s
t 

£
2
9
,0

0
0
 t

o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 

to
 a

 h
ig

h
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

, 
b
a
s
e
d
 u

p
o
n
 c

o
m

p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 

p
ri
c
in

g
. 

In
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 E

IP
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

£
2
,5

0
0
 i
s
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 f
ro

m
 C

it
y
 R

&
R

 d
ra

in
a
g
e
 f

u
n
d
in

g
, 

a
n
d
 a

 

£
8
,0

0
0
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
c
u
re

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t.

 

T
h
is

 l
e
a
v
e
s
 a

 s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

o
f 

s
o
m

e
 £

1
0
,0

0
0
. 

S
1
0
6
 

In
fo

rm
a
l 
O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
.

6

H
o
b
s
o
n
’s

 B
ro

o
k
 f

ro
m

 

B
a
te

m
a
n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

to
 

L
e
n
s
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d

R
a
ili

n
g
s
 a

lo
n
g
 H

o
b
s
o
n
’s

 B
ro

o
k
 f

ro
m

 

B
a
te

m
a
n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

to
 L

e
n
s
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d
 

(o
n
 t

h
e
 T

ru
m

p
in

g
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 f

ro
n
ta

g
e
 

o
f 

th
e
 b

ro
o
k
) 

to
 b

e
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
e
d
.

F
o
rm

e
r 

C
llr

 

S
tu

a
rt

T
ru

m
p
in

g
to

n
9
,0

0
0

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

-

7
S

o
u
th

 M
o
b
ili

ty
 

C
ro

s
s
in

g
s

D
is

a
b
le

d
 d

ro
p
p
e
d
 c

ro
s
s
in

g
 f

o
r 

W
u
lf
s
ta

n
 W

a
y
.

W
a
rd

 C
llr

s
Q

u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

6
,0

0
0

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

-

8
B

a
ld

o
c
k
 W

a
y

V
e
rg

e
 r

e
in

fo
rc

e
m

e
n
t.

C
llr

 B
ir
tl
e
s

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

2
5
,0

0
0

O
c
t-

1
4

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 r

e
c
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
 

s
c
h
o
o
l-
ti
m

e
 w

a
it
in

g
 r

e
s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 o

n
e
 s

id
e
 o

f 

B
a
ld

o
c
k
 W

a
y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 G

le
b
e
 R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 H

ill
s
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
. 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
, 

th
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 a
re

 

b
e
in

g
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
.

9
B

a
te

m
a
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

N
e
w

 t
re

e
s
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 t

re
e
 p

it
s
.

W
a
rd

 C
llr

s
T

ru
m

p
in

g
to

n
2
0
,0

0
0

O
c
t-

1
4

D
ra

ft
 d

e
s
ig

n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 f

o
r 

lo
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
, 

w
it
h
 c

o
m

p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 p

ri
c
e
s
 s

o
u
g
h
t.

 

In
d
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 t

h
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

m
a
y
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

£
5
,0

0
0
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 t

o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 t

o
 a

 h
ig

h
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

.

Page 46



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

N
o

.
S

c
h

e
m

e
 T

it
le

S
c
h

e
m

e
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

P
ro

m
o

te
d

 

b
y

W
a
rd

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 

B
u

d
g

e
t

£

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

E
x
p

e
c
te

d

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

1
0

B
a
b
ra

h
a
m

 R
o
a
d

V
e
rg

e
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t.

C
llr

 B
ir
tl
e
s

Q
u
e
e
n
 E

d
it
h
s

1
5
,0

0
0

O
c
t-

1
4

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

w
ill

 i
m

m
in

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
in

g
 

N
o
 W

a
it
in

g
 A

t 
A

n
y
 T

im
e
 r

e
s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
s
 a

lo
n
g
 t

h
e
 f

u
ll 

le
n
g
th

 o
f 

H
ill

s
 R

o
a
d
/B

a
b
ra

h
a
m

 R
o
a
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 

N
ig

h
ti
n
g
a
le

 A
v
e
n
u
e
 a

n
d
 H

in
to

n
 W

a
y
 r

o
u
n
d
a
b
o
u
t,

 

a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
c
h
a
rg

in
g
 a

t 
th

e
 

P
a
rk

 &
 R

id
e
 s

it
e
. 

D
a
m

a
g
e
d
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
v
e
rg

e
 c

a
n
 b

e
 

re
fu

rb
is

h
e
d
 t

h
e
re

a
ft

e
r.

1
1

G
o
d
w

in
 W

a
y

A
m

e
n
d
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 c

a
rr

ia
g
e
w

a
y
 l
a
y
o
u
t.

C
llr

 B
ir
tl
e
s

Q
u
e
e
n

 E
d
it
h
s

3
,0

0
0

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

-

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 

N:\POLICY & PROJECTS\SOS\Project Delivery\PDE 020 Environmental Improvements\EIP 021 PROJECTS 2013-
14\East\East Area\ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA.doc 

ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 

As agreed by the Executive Councillor (Environment) on the 18th March 
2003 with amendments agreed on the 22nd March 2005. 

Essential Criteria: 

 Schemes should have a direct, lasting and noticeable improvement to 
the appearance of a street or area. 

 Schemes should be publicly visible and accessible. 

 Should the scheme be on private land, the owners’ permission must be 
granted – unless there are exceptional circumstances by which the 
Area Committee may wish to act unilaterally, with full knowledge and 
responsibility for the implication of such action. 

 Schemes must provide low future maintenance costs. 

Desirable criteria: 

 Active involvement of local people. 

 The project will benefit a large number of local people. 

 ‘Partnership’ funding. 

 The potential for inclusion of employment training opportunities. 

 Ease and simplicity of implementation. 

 Potential for meeting key policy objectives (e.g. improving community 
safety or contributing to equal opportunities). 

Ineligible for funding: 

 Where a readily available alternative source of funding is available. 

 Revenue projects. 

 Schemes that have already received Council funding (unless it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this would not be ‘top up’ funding). 

 Works that the City or County Council are under an immediate 
obligation to carry out (e.g. repair of dangerous footways) 

 Play areas (S106 funding should pay for this resource) 

Other Information: 

The following categories of work were agreed as being eligible for funding by 
the Area Committees: 

 Works in areas of predominately council owned housing 

 Works to construct lay-bys where a comprehensive scheme can be 
carried out which not only relieves parking problems but achieves 
environmental improvements. 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY OF MINOR TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER SCHEMES APPENDIX E

SOUTH AREA BUDGET £11,000

Traffic Regulation Orders Implemented

No. Scheme Title Scheme Description Ward Status Final Cost    

£

Comments

1 Reed Close, Shelford 

Road

Double yellow lines on the corner of Reed 

Close/Shelford Road

Trumpington Completed  £       355.75 Traffic order made and double 

yellow lines implemented on 

site.

2 Chelwood Road 

junctions with 

Claygate

road/Chartfield Rd

Double yellow lines on  Chelwood Road at 

the junction of both Claygate road 

andChartfield Rd

Cherry

Hinton

Completed  £       643.15 Traffic order made and double 

yellow lines implemented on 

site.

3 Nightingale Avenue Change from single yellow line to double 

yellow line around the central crassed 

island.

Queen

Ediths

Completed  £       588.30 Traffic order made and double 

yellow lines implemented on 

site.

4 Cranleigh Close, 

Shelford Road

Double yellow lines lines on the corner of 

Cranleigh Close/Shelford Road.

Trumpington Completed  £       329.33 Traffic order made and double 

yellow lines implemented on 

site.

SUB-TOTAL  £    1,916.53 

Traffic Regulation Orders In Progress

No. Scheme Title Scheme Description Ward Status Estimated 

Budget       £

Comments

1 Paget Close/Paget 

Road

Proposed double yellow lines and Bus 

Stop Clearway where Paget Close meets 

Paget Road. 

Trumpington Ongoing  £       500.00 This proposal is being 

implemented by the County 

Council, an update on the status 

of the traffic order has been 

requested.

2 Langdale Close Proposed double yellow lines to improve 

access for larger vehicles.

Cherry

Hinton

Ongoing  £       500.00 Proposal to be developed 

further by the City Council.

3 Aberdeen Avenue 

Area (including 

Kingfisher Way) 

Investigation of access issues for larger 

vehicles and the selection of suitable 

options to resolve any current issues.

Trumpington Ongoing  £    1,500.00 Proposals under development 

by the County Council.

SUB-TOTAL  £    2,500.00 

Proposed Traffic Regulation Order Schemes

No. Scheme Title Scheme Description Ward Status Estimated 

Budget       £

Comments

1 Hulatt Rd parking 

restrictions

Add short section (1 car length) double yellows 

at the end of Hulatt Road up to junction with 

Mowbray Rd to prevent parking and increase 

visibility exiting road.

Queen

Ediths

New  £    1,500.00 Proposal to be developed 

further by the City Council.

2 Chalk Grove parking 

restrictions

Add short section (1 car length) double yellows 

at the end of Chalk Grove up to junction with 

Queen Edith's Way to prevent parking and 

increase visibility exiting road.

Queen

Ediths

New £1,500.00 Proposal to be developed 

further by the City Council.

3 Church End parking 

restrictions

Waiting restrictions on Church End adjacent to 

the new Neath Farm development.

Cherry

Hinton

New £1,500.00 Proposal to be developed 

further by the City Council.

4 Cherry Hinton Road / 

Walpole Road junction

Waiting restrictions on both roads at the 

junction adjacent to the Catholic Church.

Cherry

Hinton

New  £    1,500.00 Proposal to be developed 

further by the City Council.

SUB-TOTAL  £    6,000.00 

TOTAL

ESTIMATED

SPEND

 £  10,416.53 

BUDGET

REMAINING
 £       583.47 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

APPENDIX 1 – DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY, PLANNING GUIDANCE AND 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
1.0 Central Government Advice 
 
1.1 National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) – sets out the 

Government’s economic, environmental and social planning policies for 
England.  These policies articulate the Government’s vision of sustainable 
development, which should be interpreted and applied locally to meet local 
aspirations. 

 
1.2 Circular 11/95 – The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions: Advises 

that conditions should be necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the 
development permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other 
respects.  

 
1.3 Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 – places a statutory 

requirement on the local authority that where planning permission is 
dependent upon a planning obligation the obligation must pass the following 
tests: 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

(b) directly related to the development; and  

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
2.0 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 

 
Planning Obligation Related Policies 

 
P6/1  Development-related Provision 
P9/8  Infrastructure Provision 
P9/9  Cambridge Sub-Region Transport Strategy 

 
3.0 Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
 

3/1 Sustainable development 
3/3 Setting of the City 
3/4 Responding to context 
3/6 Ensuring coordinated development 
3/7 Creating successful places  
3/9 Watercourses and other bodies of water 
3/10Subdivision of existing plots 
3/11 The design of external spaces 
3/12 The design of new buildings 
3/13 Tall buildings and the skyline 
3/14 Extending buildings 
3/15 Shopfronts and signage 
 

Agenda Annex

Page 53



 2

4/1 Green Belt 
4/2 Protection of open space 
4/3 Safeguarding features of amenity or nature conservation value 
4/4 Trees 
4/6 Protection of sites of local nature conservation importance 
4/8 Local Biodiversity Action Plans 
4/9 Scheduled Ancient Monuments/Archaeological Areas 
4/10 Listed Buildings 
4/11 Conservation Areas 
4/12 Buildings of Local Interest 
4/13 Pollution and amenity 
4/14 Air Quality Management Areas 
4/15 Lighting 
 
5/1 Housing provision 
5/2 Conversion of large properties 
5/3 Housing lost to other uses 
5/4 Loss of housing 
5/5 Meeting housing needs 
5/7 Supported housing/Housing in multiple occupation 
5/8 Travellers 
5/9 Housing for people with disabilities 
5/10 Dwelling mix 
5/11 Protection of community facilities 
5/12 New community facilities 
5/15 Addenbrookes 
 
6/1 Protection of leisure facilities 
6/2 New leisure facilities 
6/3 Tourist accommodation 
6/4 Visitor attractions 
6/6 Change of use in the City Centre 
6/7 Shopping development and change of use in the District and Local 

Centres 
6/8 Convenience  shopping 
6/9 Retail warehouses 
6/10 Food and drink outlets. 
 
7/1 Employment provision 
7/2 Selective management of the Economy 
7/3 Protection of Industrial and Storage Space 
7/4 Promotion of cluster development 
7/5 Faculty development in the Central Area, University of Cambridge 
7/6 West Cambridge, South of Madingley Road 
7/7 College and University of Cambridge Staff and Student Housing 
7/8 Anglia Ruskin University East Road Campus 
7/9 Student hostels for Anglia Ruskin University 
7/10 Speculative Student Hostel Accommodation 
7/11 Language Schools 
 

Page 54



 3

8/1 Spatial location of development 
8/2 Transport impact 
8/4 Walking and Cycling accessibility 
8/6 Cycle parking 
8/8 Land for Public Transport 
8/9 Commercial vehicles and servicing 
8/10 Off-street car parking 
8/11 New roads 
8/12 Cambridge Airport 
8/13 Cambridge Airport Safety Zone 
8/14 Telecommunications development 
8/15 Mullard Radio Astronomy Observatory, Lords Bridge 
8/16 Renewable energy in major new developments 
8/17 Renewable energy 
8/18 Water, sewerage and drainage infrastructure 
 
9/1 Further policy guidance for the Development of Areas of Major Change 

 9/2 Phasing of Areas of Major Change 
 9/3 Development in Urban Extensions 
 9/5 Southern Fringe 
 9/6 Northern Fringe 
 9/7 Land between Madingley Road and Huntingdon Road 
 9/8 Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
 9/9 Station Area 

 
10/1 Infrastructure improvements 
 
Planning Obligation Related Policies 

 
 3/7 Creating successful places 
 3/8 Open space and recreation provision through new development 
 3/12 The Design of New Buildings (waste and recycling) 
 4/2 Protection of open space 
 5/13 Community facilities in Areas of Major Change 
 5/14 Provision of community facilities through new development 

6/2 New leisure facilities 
 8/3 Mitigating measures (transport) 
 8/5 Pedestrian and cycle network 
 8/7 Public transport accessibility 
 9/2 Phasing of Areas of Major Change 
 9/3 Development in Urban Extensions 
 9/5 Southern Fringe 
 9/6 Northern Fringe 
 9/8 Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
 9/9 Station Area 

10/1 Infrastructure improvements (transport, public open space, recreational 
and community facilities, waste recycling, public realm, public art, 
environmental aspects) 

Page 55



 4

 
4.0 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
4.1 Cambridge City Council (May 2007) – Sustainable Design and 

Construction: Sets out essential and recommended design considerations of 
relevance to sustainable design and construction.  Applicants for major 
developments are required to submit a sustainability checklist along with a 
corresponding sustainability statement that should set out information 
indicated in the checklist.  Essential design considerations relate directly to 
specific policies in the Cambridge Local Plan 2006.  Recommended 
considerations are ones that the council would like to see in major 
developments.  Essential design considerations are urban design, transport, 
movement and accessibility, sustainable drainage (urban extensions), energy, 
recycling and waste facilities, biodiversity and pollution.  Recommended 
design considerations are climate change adaptation, water, materials and 
construction waste and historic environment. 
 

4.2 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP): Waste 
Management Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(February 2012): The Design Guide provides advice on the requirements for 
internal and external waste storage, collection and recycling in new residential 
and commercial developments.  It provides advice on assessing planning 
applications and developer contributions. 
 

4.3 Cambridge City Council (January 2008) - Affordable Housing: Gives 
advice on what is involved in providing affordable housing in Cambridge.  Its 
objectives are to facilitate the delivery of affordable housing to meet housing 
needs and to assist the creation and maintenance of sustainable, inclusive 
and mixed communities. 

 
4.4 Cambridge City Council (March 2010) – Planning Obligation Strategy: 

provides a framework for securing the provision of new and/or improvements 
to existing infrastructure generated by the demands of new development. It 
also seeks to mitigate the adverse impacts of development and addresses the 
needs identified to accommodate the projected growth of Cambridge.  The 
SPD addresses issues including transport, open space and recreation, 
education and life-long learning, community facilities, waste and other 
potential development-specific requirements. 
 

4.5 Cambridge City Council (January 2010) - Public Art: This SPD aims to 
guide the City Council in creating and providing public art in Cambridge by 
setting out clear objectives on public art, a clarification of policies, and the 
means of implementation.  It covers public art delivered through the planning 
process, principally Section 106 Agreements (S106), the commissioning of 
public art using the S106 Public Art Initiative, and outlines public art policy 
guidance. 

 
4.6 Old Press/Mill Lane Supplementary Planning Document (January 2010) 

Guidance on the redevelopment of the Old Press/Mill Lane site. 

Page 56



 5

 
Eastern Gate Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011) 
Guidance on the redevelopment of the Eastern Gate site. The purpose of this 
development framework (SPD) is threefold: 
 

• To articulate a clear vision about the future of the Eastern Gate area; 

• To establish a development framework to co-ordinate redevelopment 
within 

• the area and guide decisions (by the Council and others); and 

• To identify a series of key projects, to attract and guide investment (by 
the Council and others) within the area. 

 
5.0 Material Considerations  

 
Central Government Guidance 

 
5.1 Letter from Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

(27 May 2010) 
 
The coalition government is committed to rapidly abolish Regional Strategies 
and return decision making powers on housing and planning to local councils.  
Decisions on housing supply (including the provision of travellers sites) will 
rest with Local Planning Authorities without the framework of regional 
numbers and plans. 
 

5.2 Written Ministerial Statement: Planning for Growth (23 March 2011) 
 
 Includes the following statement: 
 

When deciding whether to grant planning permission, local planning 
authorities should support enterprise and facilitate housing, economic and 
other forms of sustainable development. Where relevant and consistent with 
their statutory obligations they should therefore: 
 
(i) consider fully the importance of national planning policies aimed at 
fostering economic growth and employment, given the need to ensure a 
return to robust growth after the recent recession;  
 
(ii) take into account the need to maintain a flexible and responsive supply of 
land for key sectors, including housing;  
 
(iii) consider the range of likely economic, environmental and social benefits of 
proposals; including long term or indirect benefits such as increased 
consumer choice, more viable communities and more robust local economies 
(which may, where relevant, include matters such as job creation and 
business productivity);  
 
(iv) be sensitive to the fact that local economies are subject to change and so 
take a positive approach to development where new economic data suggest 
that prior assessments of needs are no longer up-to-date;  

Page 57



 6

 
(v) ensure that they do not impose unnecessary burdens on development.  

  
In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are obliged to 
have regard to all relevant considerations. They should ensure that they give 
appropriate weight to the need to support economic recovery, that 
applications that secure sustainable growth are treated favourably (consistent 
with policy in PPS4), and that they can give clear reasons for their decisions.  

  
5.3 City Wide Guidance 

 
Arboricultural Strategy (2004) - City-wide arboricultural strategy. 
 
Biodiversity Checklist for Land Use Planners in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough (March 2001) - This document aims to aid strategic and 
development control planners when considering biodiversity in both policy 
development and dealing with planning proposals. 
 
Cambridge Landscape and Character Assessment (2003) – An analysis of 
the landscape and character of Cambridge. 
 
Cambridge City Nature Conservation Strategy (2006) – Guidance on 
habitats should be conserved and enhanced, how this should be carried out 
and how this relates to Biodiversity Action Plans. 

 
Criteria for the Designation of Wildlife Sites (2005) – Sets out the criteria 
for the designation of Wildlife Sites. 
 
Cambridge City Wildlife Sites Register (2005) – Details of the City and 
County Wildlife Sites. 
 
Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(November 2010) - a tool for planning authorities to identify and evaluate the 
extent and nature of flood risk in their area and its implications for land use 
planning. 

 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2005) – Study assessing the risk of 
flooding in Cambridge. 
 
Cambridge and Milton Surface Water Management Plan (2011) – A 
SWMP outlines the preferred long term strategy for the management of 
surface water.  Alongside the SFRA they are the starting point for local flood 
risk management. 
 
Cambridge City Council (2011) - Open Space and Recreation Strategy: 
Gives guidance on the provision of open space and recreation facilities 
through development.  It sets out to ensure that open space in Cambridge 
meets the needs of all who live, work, study in or visit the city and provides a 
satisfactory environment for nature and enhances the local townscape, 
complementing the built environment. 

Page 58



 7

 
The strategy: 

•••• sets out the protection of existing open spaces; 
•••• promotes the improvement of and creation of new facilities on existing 

open spaces; 
•••• sets out the standards for open space and sports provision in and 

through new development; 
•••• supports the implementation of Section 106 monies and future 

Community Infrastructure Levy monies 

As this strategy suggests new standards, the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
standards will stand as the adopted standards for the time-being. However, 
the strategy’s new standards will form part of the evidence base for the review 
of the Local Plan 
 
Balanced and Mixed Communities – A Good Practice Guide (2006) – 
Produced by Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the 
Areas of Major Change. 
 
Green Infrastructure Strategy for the Cambridgeshire Sub-Region (2006) 
- Produced by Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the 
Areas of Major Change and as a material consideration in the determination 
of planning applications and appeals. 
 
A Major Sports Facilities Strategy for the Cambridge Sub-Region (2006) - 
Produced by Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the 
Areas of Major Change. 
 
Cambridge Sub-Region Culture and Arts Strategy (2006) - Produced by 
Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the Areas of Major 
Change. 
 
Cambridgeshire Quality Charter for Growth (2008) – Sets out the core 
principles of the level of quality to be expected in new developments in the 
Cambridge Sub-Region 

 
Cambridge City Council - Guidance for the application of Policy 3/13 
(Tall Buildings and the Skyline) of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
(2012) - sets out in more detail how existing council policy can be applied to 
proposals for tall buildings or those of significant massing in the city. 

 
Cambridge Walking and Cycling Strategy (2002) – A walking and cycling 
strategy for Cambridge. 

 
Protection and Funding of Routes for the Future Expansion of the City 
Cycle Network (2004) – Guidance on how development can help achieve the 
implementation of the cycle network. 

 

Page 59



 8

Cambridgeshire Design Guide For Streets and Public Realm (2007): The 
purpose of the Design Guide is to set out the key principles and aspirations 
that should underpin the detailed discussions about the design of streets and 
public spaces that will be taking place on a site-by-site basis. 

 
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential Developments (2010) – Gives 
guidance on the nature and layout of cycle parking, and other security 
measures, to be provided as a consequence of new residential development. 

 
Air Quality in Cambridge – Developers Guide (2008) - Provides information 
on the way in which air quality and air pollution issues will be dealt with 
through the development control system in Cambridge City. It compliments 
the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
The Cambridge Shopfront Design Guide (1997) – Guidance on new 
shopfronts. 

 
Roof Extensions Design Guide (2003) – Guidance on roof extensions. 

 
Modelling the Costs of Affordable Housing (2006) – Toolkit to enable 
negotiations on affordable housing provision through planning proposals. 

 
5.6 Area Guidelines 
 

Cambridge City Council (2003)–Northern Corridor Area Transport Plan:  
Cambridge City Council (2002)–Southern Corridor Area Transport Plan: 
Cambridge City Council (2002)–Eastern Corridor Area Transport Plan: 
Cambridge City Council (2003)–Western Corridor Area Transport Plan: 
The purpose of the Plan is to identify new transport infrastructure and service 
provision that is needed to facilitate large-scale development and to identify a 
fair and robust means of calculating how individual development sites in the 
area should contribute towards a fulfilment of that transport infrastructure. 

 
Buildings of Local Interest (2005) – A schedule of buildings of local interest 
and associated guidance. 
 
Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal (2002) 
Cambridge Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal (2006)  
Storeys Way Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 
Chesterton and Ferry Lane Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
Conduit Head Road Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
De Freville Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
Kite Area Conservation Area Appraisal (1996) 
Newnham Croft Conservation Area Appraisal (1999) 
Southacre Conservation Area Appraisal (2000) 
Trumpington Conservation Area Appraisal (2010) 
Mill Road Area Conservation Area Appraisal (2011) 

Page 60



 9

West Cambridge Conservation Area Appraisal (2011) 
 
Guidance relating to development and the Conservation Area including a 
review of the boundaries. 

 
 Jesus Green Conservation Plan (1998) 
 Parkers Piece Conservation Plan (2001) 
 Sheeps Green/Coe Fen Conservation Plan (2001) 
 Christs Pieces/New Square Conservation Plan (2001) 
  

Historic open space guidance. 
 

Hills Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2012) 
Long Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2012) 
Barton Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2009) 
Huntingdon Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2009) 
Madingley Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2009) 
Newmarket Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (October 2011) 
 
Provide assessments of local distinctiveness which can be used as a basis 
when considering planning proposals 

 
Station Area Development Framework (2004) – Sets out a vision and 
Planning Framework for the development of a high density mixed use area 
including new transport interchange and includes the Station Area 
Conservation Appraisal. 
 
Southern Fringe Area Development Framework (2006) – Guidance which 
will help to direct the future planning of development in the Southern Fringe. 
 
West Cambridge Masterplan Design Guidelines and Legal Agreement 
(1999) – Sets out how the West Cambridge site should be developed. 
 
Mitcham’s Corner Area Strategic Planning and Development Brief (2003) 
– Guidance on the development and improvement of Mitcham’s Corner. 

 
Mill Road Development Brief (Robert Sayle Warehouse and Co-Op site) 
(2007) – Development Brief for Proposals Site 7.12 in the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) 

 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Page No: 1 Agenda Page No: 

 
Agenda Item          

 
CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
REPORT OF: Head of Planning Services 
   
 TO: South Area Committee 23/06/2014 
   
 WARDS: Queen Ediths 
 

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT CONTROL 
ENFORCEMENT NOTICE REPORT 

 
Breach of planning conditions and material change of use of  

27 Babraham Road, Cambridge 
 

Update following outcome of Appeal decision against the Council’s 
decision to refuse to grant a Certificate of Lawful Use or Development 

(application reference 12/1438/CLUED) 
 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 In March 2013 a report was brought before this Committee which 

recommended that enforcement action be authorised for non-
compliance with conditions and a material change of use at 27 
Babraham Road (see Appendix A for site plan).  The 
recommendation was accepted but the Committee determined that 
the Enforcement Notices be issued following the conclusion of the 
pre-existing appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant a certificate 
of lawful use and development.  A copy of the report is attached at 
Appendix B. 

 
1.2 The appeal has been allowed and the outcome impacts on the 

enforcement action that has been authorised by Committee.  In 
summary, the appeal allows the site to be used for the storage of up 
to three ice cream vans in the garage that was approved under 
planning reference C/97/0695/FP, deliveries to be accepted in 
connection with the ice cream business and the stationing of a 
refrigeration unit. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to 
the Committee.  Each Enforcement Notice is reviewed and the 
Committee is asked to authorise either that the Notice not be issued 
or that the Notice be issued as previously agreed or as amended. 

 

Agenda Item 10a

Page 63



 

Report Page No: 2 Agenda Page No: 

1.3 There is a further report on this Agenda which requests authorisation 
for the service of a further Enforcement Notice for the unauthorised 
change of use of the garage extension to storage of ice cream vans. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 In March 2013 a report was presented to South Area Committee 

which sought delegated authority to serve five Enforcement Notices 
to address the breach of four planning conditions attached to the 
planning permission (reference C/97/0695) at 27 Babraham Road 
and for the unauthorised change of use of the forecourt of the C3 
Dwellinghouse to B1 business use.  At the time of that report an 
Appeal was outstanding in respect of an application for a Certificate 
of Lawful Use or Development.  The Appeal was subsequently 
allowed and this has altered the position with regard to which 
activities amount to a breach of planning control. 

 
 Planning History of 27 Babraham Road 
 
2.2 In April 1993 planning permission was granted for a detached three-

bay garage in the front forecourt of 27 Babraham Road.  In 1997 
permission was granted to allow 27 Babraham Road to be used as a 
dwelling house and for the storage of two ice cream vans.  This was 
subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The number of ice-cream vans stored at the premises shall not 

exceed two vehicles. 
Reason:  To protect the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
occupiers. 
 

2. The ice-cream vans, when not in use, shall be stored within the 
existing garage at all times with the doors closed. 
Reason:  To protect the visual amenity of the area. 

 
3. There shall be no deliveries to the premises associated with the 

ice-cream business. 
Reason:  To protect the amenity of adjacent residential properties. 

 

4. The garage shall be used for the parking of no more than two ice-
cream vans and the parking of domestic vehicles only and for no 
other purpose without express consent to be given in writing by 
the local planning authority. 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
properties. 

 

Page 64



 

Report Page No: 3 Agenda Page No: 

2.3 In 2001 an application for a 2 bay car port extension to the 3 bay 
garage was permitted.  There were no conditions regulating the use 
of the car port but an informative stated that the car port may not be 
used for the storage of commercial vehicles without the express 
permission of the local planning authority. 

 
2.4 In August 2012, following a planning enforcement inquiry into 

allegations that the conditions attached to planning permission 
reference C/97/0695/FP were not being complied with, an application 
was made to vary the conditions attached to the permission for the 
garage.  The application sought the following variations to conditions: 

 
o Condition 1 to include a maximum of 4 ice cream vans 
o Condition 2 so that vans not in use shall be stored in the 

existing garage but not behind closed doors 
o Condition 3 to allow deliveries to the site 
o Condition 4 to allow the parking of 4 ice cream vans within the 

existing garage block on planning approval C/97/0695/FP 
 

The application was withdrawn 
 
2.5 In November 2012 an application was submitted for a Certificate of 

Lawful Use or Development.  This sought to confirm the lawfulness of 
the following: 

 
o The storage of four ice cream vans 
o The stationing of a refrigerated storage unit 
o Acceptance of deliveries in connection with an ice cream 

business 
o Mixed C3/B1 use 

 
The application was refused under delegated powers on the basis 
that the applicant had not demonstrated on a balance of probabilities 
that the use has continued for 10 years. 

 
2.6 In March 2013 an Appeal was submitted in response to the Council’s 

decision.  This was heard by way of an Informal Hearing in June 
2013 and the Inspector allowed the appeal. 

 
The Inspectors Decision and the terms of the Certificate of Lawful 
Use or Development (‘The Certificate’) 

 
2.7 A copy of the Inspector’s Decision letter/Certificate of Lawfulness is 

attached at Appendix C.  The Inspector allowed the appeal, decided 
that the time limit for enforcement had expired and certified that the 

Page 65



 

Report Page No: 4 Agenda Page No: 

following uses were lawful within the meaning of section 191(2) and 
(3) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 

 
o The storage of up to three ice cream vans for commercial 

purposes in the garage referred to in conditions 2 and 4 of 
planning permission reference C/97/0695/FP and shown 
hatched on an attached plan but with the garage doors open in 
breach of conditions 1, 2 and 4 of the 1997 permission.  (The 
plan identifies the original garage only and not the car port 
extension) 

 
o The acceptance of deliveries in connection with the ice cream 

business in breach of condition 3 of the 1997 permission 
 

o The stationing of a refrigerated storage unit, of a size 
equivalent to or smaller than the unit stationed on the site in 
November 2012 located between the dwelling and the garage 
as extended. 

 
Planning Status of 27 Babraham Road Note  

 
2.8 It is the view of officers that the Inspectors decision is clear; however 

for the avoidance of doubt a Note was prepared which sets out the 
Council’s position regarding the Planning Status of 27 Babraham 
Road.  A copy of the Note is attached at Appendix D.  A copy of the 
Note has been sent to the appellant and the neighbours either side of 
27 Babraham Road who have raised concerns about the way in 
which 27 Babraham Road is used. 

 
2.9 Following his receipt of the Note the Appellant’s Agent sought 

clarification about the use of the car port extension to the garage and 
the storage of a single hot potato cart at the premises.  This is 
addressed in the other report relating to 27 Babraham Road on this 
agenda. 

 
2.10 The certificate has confirmed that certain planning uses of the site 

are lawful but it only relates to those specific uses that were the 
subject of the application.  The planning permission taken with the 
certificate provides confirmation of the lawful uses of the site.  In the 
opinion of officers neither the use of the car port extension for the 
storage of ice cream vans nor the storage of the hot potato cart are 
covered by the planning permission or the certificate. 

 
Implications of the Inspector’s decision on the draft Enforcement 
Notices 

Page 66



 

Report Page No: 5 Agenda Page No: 

 
2.11 The draft Enforcement Notices that were authorised by Committee in 

March 2013 addressed the following: 
 

1 Breach of condition 1of C/97/0695 (The number of ice cream vans 
stored at the premises shall not exceed two vehicle) 

 
2 Breach of condition 2 of C/97/0695 (The ice cream vans, when not 

in use, shall be stored within the existing garages at all times with 
the doors closed) 

 
3 Breach of condition 3 of C/97/0695 (There shall be no deliveries to 

the premises associated with the ice cream business) 
 

4 Breach of condition 4 of C/97/0695 (The garage shall be used for 
the parking of no more than two ice cream vans and the parking of 
domestic vehicles only and for no other purpose without express 
consent to be given in writing by the local planning authority) 
 

5 The material change of use of the area of the Land marked with 
green hatching on the attached plan of 27 Babraham Road 
Cambridge to a B1 business use. 
 

I have considered the implications of the Inspector’s decision on each 
of the Notices. 

 
1. Breach of condition 1of C/97/0695 (The number of ice cream vans 

stored at the premises shall not exceed two vehicles) 
 
2.12 The storage of up to three ice cream vans is lawful.  Officers visited 

the site on 1 April 2014 and observed three ice cream vans on site.  
There is no breach of condition 1 and no justification for issuing an 
enforcement notice. 

 
 

2. Breach of condition 2 of C/97/0695 (The ice cream vans, when not 
in use, shall be stored within the existing garages at all times with 
the doors closed) 

 
2.13 The storage of ice cream vans in the garage with the doors open is 

lawful.  On 1 April 2014 officers observed that two ice cream vans 
were being stored in the car port extension when not in use and a 
third ice cream van was on the forecourt.  This is in breach of 
condition 2 as modified by the certificate.  Officers recommend that 

Page 67



 

Report Page No: 6 Agenda Page No: 

an Enforcement Notice be served to address the ice cream vans 
stored on the forecourt. 

 
 

3. Breach of condition 3 of C/97/0695 (There shall be no deliveries to 
the premises associated with the ice cream business) 

 
2.14 Deliveries in connection with the ice cream business are lawful; there 

is no breach of condition 3 and no justification for issuing an 
enforcement notice. 

 
 

4. Breach of condition 4 of C/97/0695 (The garage shall be used for 
the parking of no more than two ice cream vans and the parking of 
domestic vehicles only and for no other purpose without express 
consent to be given in writing by the local planning authority) 

 
2.15 The storage of up to three ice cream vans in the garage is lawful; 

there is no breach of condition 4 and no justification for issuing an 
enforcement notice. 

 
 

5. The material change of use of the area of the Land marked with 
green hatching on the attached plan of 27 Babraham Road 
Cambridge to a B1 business use 

 
2.16 The Inspector noted that the appellant only sought to establish a 

mixed use which includes a commercial element and that this 
element is strictly controlled and limited by condition, the appellant 
did not seek to establish a more general and extensive use. 

 
2.17 During the site visit the ice cream machines within the vans were 

being cleaned.  This involves flushing out the machine and requires 
the vehicle engine to be switched on.  This activity takes around 10-
15 minutes and is carried out daily on each of the three ice cream 
vans.  Three members of staff are employed who are responsible for 
each of the ice cream vans.  The operator also advised that he uses 
the forecourt for washing the exterior of the ice cream vans and for 
changing the oil/filter/belt when necessary. 

 
2.18 In the opinion of officers these activities represent ancillary uses 

associated with the use of the garage approved under reference 
C/07/0695/FP for storage of ice cream vans.  These uses do not 
amount to a more extensive B1 Business use than that which is 
permitted by planning permission C/97/0695/FP as modified by the 

Page 68



 

Report Page No: 7 Agenda Page No: 

certificate.  On the basis of the way in which the premises are 
currently being used there is no justification for issuing an 
enforcement notice is relation to change of use to B1 business use. 

 
3 CONSULTATIONS 
 
3.1 I have consulted with the Council’s legal officers and taken their 

advice in drafting this report. 
 
4 OPTIONS 
 
4.1 There are three options: 
 
 Option 1 
 

Agree the recommendation that the Enforcement Notices in respect 
of breaches of conditions 1, 3 and 4 not be served.  The effect of the 
certificate is to make to the current compliance with the conditions as 
amended by the certificate, lawful 

 
Agree the recommendation that the Enforcement Notices in respect 
of the breach of condition 2 be amended to remove reference to 
doors remaining closed and then served. 
 
Option 2  
 
That none of the authorised Enforcement Notices be served. 
 
I would not recommend Option 2 because unless strictly controlled 
the business use has adverse impacts on the residential amenities of 
occupiers of neighbouring house.  Part of this control is the storage of 
the ice cream vans in the garage when not in use. 

 
4.2 In assessing these options and recommending that enforcement 

action be pursued to secure compliance with condition 2 I have given 
consideration to the Human Rights Act 2000 and to the Equalities Act 
2010, I have also noted Article 1 Protocol 1 (protection of property), 
Article 6 (a right to a fair hearing within a reasonable time), Article 8 
(right to respect for private family life) and Article 14 (prohibition of 
discrimination) as being relevant.  I consider that the service of an 
enforcement notice with a reasonable period for compliance would be 
lawful, fair, proportionate, non- discriminatory, and necessary in the 
general public interest to achieve the objective of upholding national 
and local planning policies and that these considerations do not 
outweigh the reasons for proceeding with planning enforcement.  

Page 69



 

Report Page No: 8 Agenda Page No: 

 
4.3 An Enforcement Notice carries with it a right of appeal to the 

Planning Inspectorate and the Inspectorate have the power to vary 
the Notice to amend the steps to comply. 

 
5 CONCLUSIONS 
 
5.1 In my view it is appropriate to review the authorisation for 

enforcement action in the light of the outcome of the appeal against 
refusal of the Certificate of Lawful Use or Development.  I have 
recommended that the breach of condition 2 of permission reference 
C/97/0695/FP as modified by the certificate is pursued because the 
Certificate does not permit the following activities which are taking 
place on the site: the storage of ice cream vans on the forecourt and 
in the car port garage extension. 

 
5.2 It is no longer necessary to serve the other four enforcement notices 

that relate to breaches to conditions 1, 3 and 4 of planning 
permission reference C/97/0695/FP as modified by the certificate and 
to change of use to B1 business use. 

 
6 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 That the following actions be agreed in respect of each of the five 

Enforcement Notices authorised by Committee in March 2013: 
 

1 Breach of condition 1of C/97/0695 (The number of ice cream vans 
stored at the premises shall not exceed two vehicle) 

 
Enforcement notice not to be issued. 

 
2 Breach of condition 2 of C/97/0695 (The ice cream vans, when not 

in use, shall be stored within the existing garages at all times with 
the doors closed) 
 
Enforcement notice to be served but amended to remove 
reference to ‘with the doors closed’. 

 
3 Breach of condition 3 of C/97/0695 (There shall be no deliveries to 

the premises associated with the ice cream business) 
 
Enforcement notice not to be issued. 
 

4 Breach of condition 4 of C/97/0695 (The garage shall be used for 
the parking of no more than two ice cream vans and the parking of 

Page 70



 

Report Page No: 9 Agenda Page No: 

domestic vehicles only and for no other purpose without express 
consent to be given in writing by the local planning authority) 
 
Enforcement notice not to be issued. 

 
5 The material change of use of the area of the Land marked with 

green hatching on the attached plan of 27 Babraham Road 
Cambridge to a B1 business use. 
 
Enforcement notice not to be issued. 

 
 
7 IMPLICATIONS 
 
(a) Financial Implications - None 
 
(b) Staffing Implications - None 
 
(c) Equal Opportunities Implications - None 
 
(d) Environmental Implications – None 
 
(e) Community Safety - None 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: The following are the background papers that 
were used in the preparation of this report: 
 
Planning decision notices refs. C/01/0558, 12/1107/S73, 12/1438/CLUED 
 
The author and contact officer for queries on the report is Sarah Dyer on 
extension 7153. 
 
 
Report file: N:\Development Control\Planning\Enforcement\Committee 

reports\27 Babraham Road update SAC 23.04.14.doc 
 
Date originated:  20 May 2014 
Date of last revision: 20 May 2014 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A  Site location plan 
Appendix B  Report to SAC of 7 March 2013 
Appendix C Inspectors Decision (12/1438/CLUED) 
Appendix D Note on the Planning Status of 27 Babraham Road 

Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Page No: 1 Agenda Page No: 

 
 

 

CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
REPORT OF: Head of Planning Services 
   
TO:                               South Area Committee                DATE: 07/03/2013 
   
WARD:    Queen Ediths 
 

 

 
PLANNING ENFORCEMENT CONTROL 

ENFORCEMENT NOTICE REPORT 
 

Breach of planning conditions and material change of use of  
27 Babraham Road, Cambridge 

 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION    
 

This report seeks delegated authority to serve five Enforcement 
Notices to address the breach of four planning conditions attached to 
the planning permission (reference C/97/0695) at 27 Babraham Road 
and for the unauthorised change of use of the forecourt of the C3 
Dwellinghouse to B1 business use.  

 
Site:  27 Babraham Road, Cambridge. 
   

See Appendix A for site plan 
 

Breach: Breach of conditions and unauthorised change of use  
 
   

2. PLANNING HISTORY 
 

Reference  Description      
 

C/93/0133 Garage in front garden (amended by 
letter dated 26.03.93 and 01.02.95 
with accompanying plans) 
 

Approved 
with 
conditions 
 

Page 75



 

Report Page No: 2 Agenda Page No: 

C/97/0695 The use of the land and buildings at 
27 Babraham Road as a dwelling 
house and for the storage of two ice 
cream vans used for commercial 
purposes 

Approved 
with 
conditions 

C/01/0558 Erection of 2bay car port extension to 
existing garage. 

Approved 
with 
conditions 

05/0603/FUL Single storey side extension to 
dwellinghouse with conservatory to 
rear.  Single storey front extension to 
garage. 

Refused 

12/1107/S73 Application to vary condition 1 to 
include a maximum of 4 ice cream 
vans, condition 2 so that vans not in 
use shall be stored in the existing 
garage but not behind closed doors, 
condtion 3 to allow deliveries to the 
site and condition 4 to allow the 
parking of 4 ice cream vans within 
the existing garage block on planning 
approval C/97/0695/FP. 

Withdrawn 

12/1438/CLUED Application for a Section 191 for the 
storage of four ice cream vans, the 
stationing of a refrigerated storage 
unit, acceptance of deliveries in 
connection with the ice cream 
business and the mixed use (C3/B1) 
of the property. 

Certificate 
Not Granted 

 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Planning permission C/97/0695 approved the use of land and 

buildings at 27 Babraham Road as a dwelling house and for the 
storage of two ice-cream vans used for commercial purposes, with 
the following conditions: 

 
1. The number of ice-cream vans stored at the premises shall not 

exceed two vehicles. 
Reason:  To protect the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
occupiers. 
 

Page 76



 

Report Page No: 3 Agenda Page No: 

2. The ice-cream vans, when not in use, shall be stored within the 
existing garages at all times with the doors closed. 
Reason:  To protect the visual amenity of the area. 

 
3. There shall be no deliveries to the premises associated with the 

ice-cream business. 
Reason:  To protect the amenity of adjacent residential properties. 

 

4. The garage shall be used for the parking of no more than two ice-
cream vans and the parking of domestic vehicles only and for no 
other purpose without express consent to be given in writing by 
the local planning authority. 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
properties. 

 
3.2 The Planning Enforcement Service has received complaints that 

each of the four conditions is not being complied with and that the 
forecourt of the dwellinghouse is being used for B1 business use. 

 
3.3 An application for a Certificate of Lawfulness was made in November 

2012. The applicant failed to provide sufficient evidence of  breach of 
the conditions and that the change of use of the site had been 
continuous for ten years proceeding the application. Notification that 
the Certificate was not granted was given to the applicant on 7th 
January 2013. The application was determined under delegated 
powers. 

 
3.4 An appeal against the refusal to grant the Certificate has been lodged 

with the Planning Inspectorate. The Notices would only be served if 
the appeal against the refusal to grant a Certificate of Lawfulness is 
dismissed.  

 
3.5 A Planning Contravention Notice was served on 29th January 2012. 

 

3.6 The response to the Planning Contravention Notice confirms that the 
breaches of planning control are ongoing. The owner of 27 
Babraham Road, Cambridge has advised that he intends to submit a 
further application for a Certificate of Lawfulness which will include 
additional evidence. At the time of writing this report a further 
application has not been received. An update will be provided on the 
amendment sheet. Given the impact of the unauthorised use on 
residential amenity, officers are of the view that it is not necessary to 
delay seeking authority for enforcement action pending the 
submission of a further application. 

 

Page 77



 

Report Page No: 4 Agenda Page No: 

 

4. LEGAL, POLICY AND OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
4.1 The material change of use of the forecourt of 27 Babraham Road, 

Cambridge to B1 business use requires planning permission.  
 
4.2 National Planning Policy Framework states: 

 
‘Para 207. Effective enforcement is important as a means of 
maintaining public confidence in the planning system. Enforcement 
action is discretionary, and local planning authorities should act 
proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of planning 
control. Local planning authorities should consider publishing a local 
enforcement plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way that 
is appropriate to their area. This should set out how they will monitor 
the implementation of planning permissions, investigate alleged 
cases of unauthorised development and take action where it is 
appropriate to do so.’ 
 

4.3 Cambridge Local Plan policies 
 

The following policies from the Cambridge Local Plan would apply to 
the determination of an application of change of use of the forecourt 
of 27 Babraham Road to B1 business use: 
 

 3/4 Responding to context 
 
 3/10 Sub-division of existing plots 
  

4/13 Pollution and Amenity 
 

7/2 Selective Management of the Economy 
   

The unauthorised development in question is contrary to 
development plan policies detailed above, because the change of 
use is detrimental to the residential amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers and poorly integrated into the locality. 

 

4.4 Planning Investigation Service Enforcement Policy 2000 
Objectives: 

 

· To promote compliance with planning requirements.  

· To remedy the undesirable effects of unauthorised development.  

· To bring unauthorised activity under control to maintain the 
credibility and achieve the purpose, of the planning system.  

Page 78



 

Report Page No: 5 Agenda Page No: 

· To strike an acceptable balance between protecting the amenity of 
the citizens of Cambridge and other interests of acknowledged 
importance, and allowing development to take place.  

· To provide a service that will pursue pro-active initiatives that 
would improve the environment and built heritage, safeguard the 
amenities of the area and support the policies of the development 
plan.  

 
A copy of the policy can be found at: 
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/pdfs/PIS-enforcement-policy.pdf  

 
4.5 Enforcement is a discretionary power. The Committee should take 

into account the planning history and the other relevant facts set out 
in this report. In order to issue any Enforcement Notice there must be 
sound planning reasons to justify taking such action.  The 
unauthorised development, namely the change of use of the 
forecourt to a commercial use and the breach of all four conditions of 
C/97/0695, is ongoing. 
 

  
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 (i)  To authorise five enforcement notices under S172 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in respect of the 
breach of all four conditions of C/97/0695 and the material 
change of use of 27 Babraham Road, specifying the steps to 
comply, the period for compliance and the statement of reasons 
set out in the draft notices in appendix B. 

 
(ii) to authorise the Head of Planning (after consultation with the 

Head of Legal Services) to draft and issue the enforcement 
notices. 

 
(iii) to delegate authority to the Head of Planning (after consultation 

with the Head of Legal Services) to exercise the Council’s 
powers to take further action in the event on non-compliance 
with the enforcement notices. 

 
5.2 Statement of Reasons  

It appears to the Council that the breach of planning control has 
occurred within the last ten years.  The applicant has undertaken 
development (in the form of a change of use and non compliance 
with planning conditions) without the benefit of planning permission.  
 

Page 79



 

Report Page No: 6 Agenda Page No: 

The intensification of the business use has resulted in a change of 
use which has given rise to noise and disturbance to neighbours 
resulting in an unacceptably adverse impact upon their amenities.  
 
The statement of reasons for each of the five enforcement notices 
are contained in point 4 of the draft Notices which can be found in 
appendix B.  

  
Mindful of the advice the development plan policies mentioned above 
and to all other material considerations, the Council consider it 
expedient to serve the enforcement notices in order to remedy the 
clear breach of planning control. 

 
5.3 Consideration has been given to Human Rights including Article 1 

Protocol 1 (protection of property), Article 6 (a right to a fair hearing 
within a reasonable time), Article 8 (right to respect for private family 
life) and Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination). It is considered that, 
if a certificate of lawfulness were refused, enforcement proceedings 
would be lawful, fair, non-discriminatory, and necessary in the 
general public interest to achieve the objective of upholding national 
and local planning policies, which seek to restrict such forms or new 
residential development. The time for compliance will be set as to 
allow a reasonable period for compliance. 

 
 
6. IMPLICATIONS 
 
(a) Financial Implications - None 
 
(b) Staffing Implications - None 
 
(c) Equal Opportunities Implications - None 
 
(d) Environmental Implications - None 
 
(e) Community Safety - None 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
Delegated officer report relating to application reference 12/1438/CLUED 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A  Site plan 
Appendix B  Five draft Enforcement Notices 

Page 80



 

Report Page No: 7 Agenda Page No: 

 
The author and contact officer for queries on the report is Deborah Jeakins 
on extension 7163. 
 

N:\Development Control\Planning\Enforcement\Committee reports\27 
Babraham Road 2013.doc 
 
Date originated: 17 Jan 2013  

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

����������	
	���
�������������
����������������������

�����
����� ����
����������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�����
�����������	�����
����������������������������� �!!��	�	�
�����������"�����!����

���	
	�������#�$%������$&'%�

�

�������(��#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

�� !������������� ���������������
����"�
#�����!
�������$
������%������	�&�����������
� ������'������%������	�����$
 �������
��&���������	����������#������
�	�������

�����#������
#����#�������
����
��
� ����()*$+��
�� !������������� ����'��,��!
���$
��
���
��	����������������
��
#�$� '���	��$����

$
�������
�� !������������
��-�#�����.�/�$)01*2�������/�3

� '�������2�������#�����'���
�����

������4���������������

�� !������������
������ ���������������
�����(�+(�+�����(�+�
#�����!
�������$
������
%������	�&������������ �������

�� 5������#����
#��������������
�2���������#
���������������#������
#����#�������
��
��
��
� ��������
�	�����6�

(�+� !�����
��	��
#�#
����������� �
�������������
�����7�
(��+� !��������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	����������������
�����7�

(���+� !��������������
#�����
����������
������
������������������� �'���������������
��
�����7�

(�
+� !��� �8�������($��9�+�
#�������
�������

��!!����������	
	��#�1����������	
�����2�������������	�	����������2�����
��
����������!����	
�	

�����	���������!
�
�������
���2�	���������	
	����
�

����	���	���������
�
�

��� &��������������������������
��#
���
�������� ����'��,��!
���$
��
���
��	������

$� '���	��$����$
��������!�������������
�����������':����
#������������*�����
���

���������������
��30������!�����
�

��� &����
��������������������������������
��
�����

��� 5���/�&���������2��������	���� ����
��-�#�$�������������	�������#
������

������
��
#�������������
 ������	���	���������#�
���	������
#������������

��
��������3
��
�����
��������� �
�����
������������������
#�����	���	����5�����

&�	�������4��������	���� ����
��-�#�$��4��;�"�<%�(�������4���� ����
�+�����

	�������#
��=��������
#��������������'������	������4�9�'���� �-
��������

�������	��
��������#
��������
��	��
#���
��������� �
���������#
���
  �������

����
������!������� ����
��������':�����
�.��
�����
��2����#
��
��6�

(�+� !����� '���
#��������� �
������
�������������� ������������
���8�����

��
�
�������7�

(�+� !����������� �
���2�������
��������2�������'����
����������������8�����	�

	���	����������� �������������

�����
���7�

Page 83



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����������������

(�+� !�����������'���
�����
�������
�������� ��������
��������������������

���� �'�������7�

(.+� !���	���	��������'�������#
������������	�
#��
� 
����������
��������� �


������������������	�
#��
 ������
��������
��������#
���
�
���������
���

����
����8�������
���������������	��
�'��	�
���'�������
�����������	�

����
�������

.�� 5�������������������$
������	��������������	���� ����
��-�#�$�����""/�<%�

(������������ ����
�+�#
������������
��
#�����'��������
����8�����
���
�����

�8�����	���'���	���	�2�����������	���������� ����
��������-�#�$�����������3
�

�
�����
��������� �
������	������	���������
#�������8�����
���

"�� &������
����������������	�
#������������
�2�����)*$����������
���
�	����
�

����'����2�� 
�	�
���������	�2����������= �8�������($��9�+�
#�������
�����@�

�������#��2����������������
#��������������
����A
��
��2���� �8���������
��
��

#��������������������������������������������������	��������������)*$���
�����
��

��#����
����������������

;�� &���
�	������$
�����������������

������##������
���2���������������2�������������

�	�����������������4���� ����
������
�������� �8�������
#�3
��4�9�'���� �

-
��2��������
 ������������	����������	�����2���'��������������
  �������

��� ����
#����� �8���������������������� ����������
���
�����'�������
�����
���

����
����'

����3
������������	�������� ��
#������(�
+�
#�����)*$����������
�2�

�������
����������������	2����������������
����
��������
���	�������������������

 
���	������������8�����
�����#���'��������
#����������������'������$�����9����

!������������� �����������#
�����)*$����������
���
��� �8��������
 ������	�����

�����������'�������������4���� ����
�2�����
����
 �����	�����������
�����
��2�

��
�	����������#
�����������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	����������
 ��
#�����

�
���������������'������$
������������ �������� 
��������	������������������

 ���������������#�����
��
#�����'������������������������������������
�����)*$�

���������
����A
��
��2������
���	2�����$
�������������������2���������������������

�
��������	��
�����'������������ 
���	������������8�����
��'����������������

'��
 �����#��2��������
�������������
�������������������#�����
����	� �����

��	���

���

4�� �� ��������� ����������������$
�����B����#�����
#����)*$����������#
��������

A�
��	���	�����
�����'���	�
��������
����'

�2����� �������������������������

����������������

���
������'�������
#���
'�'�������������������
#�������
������

������������	�
�������6�(�+�#
��������
��	��
#�����
�.��������� �
����#
��

�
  �����������
���2����'������
#��
�����
���
���������4���� ����
�7�(��+�#
��

���������������
#�����
����������
������
������������������� �'�������2����

'������
#��
�����
���
���������4���� ����
�7�����(���+�#
�����������
���	�
#���

��#��	���������
��	������2������
  ������
��
��'�#
���/�3

� '������������

�
��������#
������������#�����
  ���� ���������������
���
�(�+�����(��+2��� ����

���
������ ��������������������������������

���
������'�������
#���
'�'������

�������������
�����
�����
��������������'���	�'�����������������'������������

)*$����������
��������' ������
��/�3

� '����������

���������������������������������������
����������	
�
���
�������������������������������������������������������������������	��
����������� !
"�

��

#$%&�
��!
���������
�����)*$����������
���
�������	�����#��������
��
 ������������
�����
�2�����'������ ����'�����

�8����������������� ��
#��������������
�6�'
������������������������������������� ��
������������(������)
���
���


�*��
���#%%+��,-��../&�

Page 84



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����������������

/�� �������
��#
�� ���
��
������������������� �������������':����
#�����������������

�������'�������������	���� �7�������
��������� ������������������������#���'��


������
#�'���	��  ����#�
 ���#
��� ��������
���

(��
��
�

��� &��#������������ '���
#��������� �
��������
�������2���������������

����
����	�������2����������������
#�����)*$����������
�2����
������������
����

���������
��������!���#
�����
��������
������<�'����������2��
 ���� 
�����

'�#
����������������
����&���
�	�������������������������������
���
������:������

�
���
���������
��������� �����#�
 �&�	����������
�����������������2������

����
���
����'�����
���'������
#��
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
�2�������

�������������#��������
��������� �
������&��'��������2����
����
����	��������)*$�

#
��������
��	��
#�����
����������� �
�����

����,������,���$
��
���
B���
���������������2����'������
#��
�����
����
#��������4�

��� ����
�2�'����������4��������������
#�����)*$����������
�2�������������
���

'����#�������������������� �
������
��������������������
��������!��������

�
��
'
������'��������
���
��������� 
���
#�,���
����2��������
�����������

�
 ���������������
#��������������B��'�������2�!
��B����������

�������������

#2�,��9��� 
��2�
#�3
����9�'���� �-
��2��������������������
���

�������� �������.��������� �
������
�������������
�����������	�����������
����

�
�����������������������������;���������'�
���
��'��������#
�� ����
#�����

�� �����������
������ �����������
���
�������������1�������
����8� �����
�2�

�����
�������
����������������������������
�#����	�����&��
����
���������		������

���������������
����'�������������� �
����#
���
 ��
#���������
������������

����
�2�'���������������������	�������������
��.2�'���'����
����
 ��
#���� �

 �����
��'��
�	����
�
���������������!���'�����
#������'����#�������������'��2�

��������
����,��9��� 
���C�����������
�����$
�����������	�#�
 ��"�����������

�����
 ��� ���#����&�	��������������������������
�����
���
���������4�

��� ����
�2���������	��
�����
���2�����'����'�����������������4�����������������

,��9��� 
��B����������������
������������������
���8��
#������� �#
���  ������

#�
 ���#
��� ��������
��������� ����
����
��'����������
#������
�����������


#�����������������	��	���3�
���������2�$
�����
�����
����
������
��'����

'���������#�����������'����������������������� �
������
����
��������� �������

!���
�������8���

�����	�'
��2�,��$�����2��������������������
������3
��"�

����������������������

#2�,��$����������������������������
��.��������� �
����

��
��������������������
�����������������������������������
�����
������2����

�
�����
����������� � '����
�� ������������ �
��������'������
���������	�

��������
����������������
�2�'������������
'�'����������
����������������������

#�
 � ����������
�������,��$�������
�����
����
��������
����
#�����	���	��

'����#�
 �����
�����
���������

�������������������
�� �������

�����'���������������2���������	���	�������
��

�
�� ����2����
����	���

����2���������������������������
���2��
��
����������

�� 
�������������� ���
����
�� ������������ �
�����������
����
������

��
�������������
����� ����!�������������������
�����������������������������


#���������#����������
���������� '����������'�������
����������A
��
��2�

���������
������
�� �������������������������'�������
#������,������,���

$
��
���
������'
��������� '���
#��������� �
����������������!����
�������

'�#
��� ������������������������������
'�'����
�#�������������������� �
����

��
����
��������
���������'������
#��
�����
���������.����
�	�
�����������
��/�

���������������������������������������
���������
�����
����������
����#�������������4��4����

Page 85



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������.�

3

� '���������
�/�3

� '���������������������������
����	���������������

�
�����������������������B���
��������

�������������
���
��
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
�2������������
���������
�

�
�������������������� �
������
��'�����
�������������
����
�����������������

	���	�2��������������B���
����������������	���	���

�����
���
��'������
����

�����
��
'
������'��,��9��� 
��B���
�����������������������������

#����������

	���	���

��������=���������
���@���!���$
������������������������������##�������

�
�������
#������'������
#��
�����
������

�.��!����������
 ����'����

������������
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
���
����

���
������������ �
����'���	���
�������������'���	���	���8�����
���
����������

����������
������������� ����
����!����������� ����
��������������

C��#
� ���
�B����������	�����������8�����
���
�����
��'�������#
��������
��	��
#�

�
  �������
������������
����8��������� ����
�2�'����
��
�����
���
������

�##������!�������������#
����
����	���������������� ����
�������#����
�����	�����


#������8�����
���
���
����������� �
�����������
���������������������B��

��' ����
������2���������'������	���������� ���������2������ �������8�����
��

�
������'������	��
�����
� �����'�������#
�������� ������
�����A
��
��2�

�
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
���������������������
#�������
�����������

��
�����D��������� �������
��	��
#��������� �
�����
���
��	�������������

=�8�����	�	���	�@2������ ����������8�����	���'���	���	����
���
������

���������
���������!���$
�������
������
���
��
�������������������
����'��

�8���������
���#
�����	������������
��	��
#��������� �
�����������������'���

�8�����
����3�
���������2��������
���
���������
�������
#��������
��	��#
������

����
����������������
�2�������
�������#����
��	���������������8�����
�����

���#�����

�"��!�����	��
����� ������
#�����
��������,��9��� 
�����������������������'������

��	��#����������������������
��������������
����
��������������������������
����

���;�����,�$��������#�����
��������������������
�����������	�����������
�����
#�

����������� ��
����
�����������������	�������������
�������������,��9��� 
��B��

������ ���������
����������'�������
�
'���
�����
�� 
�����������2�
������
�����

����2�,��$������������������
�������	

���
����
���
��
  ����
������
������

'�����������
���������#�
 ��
 �������	�������������������
���2��������
��

�����������������2�����������
��
#�������������������'������ ��������

�������#�����
��
#���������
#�������
�����2��
�����
��##������#���� ����������	��

�����������������
#���������2�����
������
�����
�������������������������������

 ��������
���
������ �������������
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
������'����

�
�����������'��������#
���������������
�������������	�/�3

� '��������'������

�����������
#�����
�������
�������� ��������
������������������������ �'��������

����������������� 
����������� ��� ����

�;��!���$
�����������������������'������
#��
�����
����'��� ������������2�

�
�����
������� ���������
 ���� ����
�������;2���������	�'
����'��� ��

�� 
�����'���������
#���������
��������������
��
������������������ �����
��

'�����
 ������
����������������������
���
����"2�'����
�����������
������
��

'������##������#
������$
�������
���
����

����������������������� 
��������


�����
�����

�4��,������,���$
��
���
�������������������
���������������
������
#��������� �

��
����������������������
���������������4���!���������
��
'
������'������
����

��
�������� 
���
#�,���
��������2����������
���
���������
��#�
 �����2�'�������


#�,��!��E������2���������
��
#�<����
B�������)�����D������#��������
��������������

����
��'�������������������"�;2�,��!��E�����������������#�
 ������������
�

Page 86



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������"�

����2������
 ���������
������������� ���
������('
����������� � �8�����

�
�����+��
��������������
�����2���
������ ����� 
���������	�������  ���

 
������������
�	�
��������������A�����������2�����
����42����	��������� ����

��������
����������
��������������
������������
���#�
 �'
������� ���	��	�

������
�����������
���
#�F���
�9�
������)�����������������������
������������� �

�
����������#�����
��������������
��������
������ ���������������
�	�
�������

���������������	�����
�,���������������#�������������
������������
�2�����������

 ���	���
#�����#
� ����
 ����2�*��������������(0����&�	���+�)��2�����������

#�
 ������ '������4��
�3

� '������"2������������
������	���	������2����

�����������
������
#��������� ���
�������
�'�� �����
��������������
������
����

�������'����������	�������  ��� 
��������������
#�������
�	�
�������

�� �������
#�������������

�/��!�
�	��������������
���
#�F���
�9�
������)�������*��������������(0����&�	���+�

)��������
��������������������2�����������
��
������������������������
���

���������
����������������<������ 
��2����������������
����	��
�� �������

�
��������������������������#
�������������������
�2�����������������
�������
���

��

�����#
���������� ���
�����������	�#�
 ����,�������2��.�������������2����

������������2��"�&���������2�<�'������&��������.2������������.�����#�
 �

<�'���������"�#
����������
���� 
�����
� ������;������
�������$
�����B��

�
�����������������
�� ��������
��������
 ���������

����2�������������

����
�����
�������2���������������������������
����� �����������������
�����2�

������
����
�� ��������	

������������
�������������!�������������������������

�
��	������������������
�����
�������2�����������
������2�,���
�����������������

 
���� �
�������
��������

�������<������ 
��2������������$
�������
������
���

��������������
���
��
�����

���������������=*����
�D����
��-
��@2�������
����

�������		�����������������
�������

������������
��
��'������������
�����������
�

����
������ �����
�������

�����������2��� �����������������
�����������

������
�2�,��9��� 
��C�����������
�����$
�����������	�#�
 ������������������
�

���������������
�����
��������'����'��������#�
 ����4���

����!
������8�����������
 ��
#��������������B��'������������
������ �����
��'����

�
��������#�
 �D����
��-
�������
��D�������-
��2����������
������
�����
�

���������
�����
��������'����'����������!��������������
����
��������
���

��

������������������
���������������
���������
#�'������������ ������2�����	������

��������������
#��������������B��'�������2�������������
#�'����������
��
���������

��
���
�'�����	�
������� �����7��������
����#�������������
��������
��'����

 �����
��������������
����������
������
������������������� �'��������

���
�	�
�����������
��/�3

� '���������
�/�3

� '���������������
����!���

�
��������� 
��������������
������'�������
#���
'�'��������<������ 
��2������

 ������
#�#����������	���2���� ������#�����������������
����������� 
�����������

 ��� �������������������
����	��#����������
������������
������������
��'���	�

 ��������� ����	������:��	� ���2�����
�����������
����
#�����#���������������

��������
���'���'��#���������
����������
������
������������������ �'��������

�����	������������ 
�������5�������
������2���� ����'����
������#�������� '���


��#���������
#�����
������������������#�����F������	����)*$�����
���������#���	�

����� �	�����		������C#���G#
�G���B�'��2������������2�����
�����������'���� �����'��

������ '���
#��������� �
���2�������E��
#��������������������E��
#�����

��#��	�����������2��
����������
����������������

�������
���������������������B��������
������������
����' �������������
���
#�����

)*$����������
���8��'���������
�
	�����
#�������#��	�����
�����������������
������

�������������������'����
��������
���������������4������������

#2���������������

����������������������������
�
	���������
����'����
���������������������������

Page 87



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������;�

�������
������� 
���������#����������������� 
�������������2����������
�������

���������������1�������
����8� �����
�2����������������������������� �������

����������
������������
������������
����&���
�	�������������#��	�����
�������
��

����������#�
 ����42�����
�����������������
�����������������������!���������
���

���������
����' ������'��,���$
��
���
���������������������������
�������#�
 �

����2�'������ 
������#�
 �����
�����������������!����
���������
���������

���������B��
����
������������#
�������2�'�������
������������
���
��'�������

���
���

����,��!��E������������������������
������
��������������
������#�
 �����2������

������������������#��	�����
�������
����������������������������2�'������������

����	����
�������������
����#�����������
���
���A�����������2�������������
�����

��� ������������ ����������#��	��������������!��������
������������������

���������B���
��������������������������,��!��E����������
��
�#�� ������������

������������ 
������������������������
�������
��� ������������� ��������
��

����	��'
�����������������<�������������
������������
���#�
 �*������9�������

( ���	��	�������
��
#�9��������<

���(D
�������+�)��+2�����H��	����(������
��
#�

%�
G����0�����������
����
���)��2�#
� �����
#�����H��	����0����������$
������
��+�

��������)��	�(������
��
#���)�-�#��	�����
��)��+��������
�����
����
��������
������

,��9������������������������������#��	������������������������	�
#���������2�

��������������
��	�������
������� 
�����2��������
���������������� ��������������

�� ���
����
����,��H��	�������������2�'�������3

� '��������������������

����2�������������������������������������������������#
��������#��	�����
������2�

����������
������� 
��������������� ����,��)��	�������������'�����������	�
���

��	����� �����������������������
��������#��	�����
��������������������A��

�
�#�� ��������������
������� 
�������������'
�����������

����!�������������	�����������������������,��9���������������������	����������

��#��	�������������������������������������	�
#�����2����������������������������

�������������������!���������������		�����������,��9������� �����
��'����

�

���	�����������
����
#������
��������������#�����2������������������

����
�����

����������!������ 
��������������� �����
���
#����������
�������

����������
��'�����������A
��
��2�����
#�������
����
������2�
���������������2�


��'����#�
#��������������������������������������������#��	�����
������2���'����

����������
������� 
�����2�����'���������
����
��������������������������������
#�

�����
�����������	�
#��������D����
�������������������2��������������B��

�
�����������������������������'���������������������'�#
���/�3

� '���������

����!����
#��
���������
�����������'�������
�������
#�,��9��� 
��2���
�����������

������#��	�������
�����������'�
�	���
��
����������������;2���
�	������
���

�
�#�� ���������������������� 
������#�
 �����
��������'
����/� 
��������
��

�
�,�������������������

#2�����
��������	�'
��2�,��$�����������������#��	�������

���������
����'����
�������#
��=���
�����
#������@��������������
� ��������
��2�

�����������#�����������
��	�������'����������
����
�������#�
 ��'
������"�;���

&�����#�
 ����
'������	��E�������
���������������������
#���'
8�'��2��
���
#�

��������
���
#�,��$�����B���
����#�������������������������#��	�����
����������

�
��������!�����������
���'
����������������
8� ��������/ ���	������'
�������

�������	���,��$�����B��
������������#
����� ����2���
�	���
���
 ��������


'����������

�.��&���
�	������������
 �������
����	�'
��������������	2�,��9��� 
��B���
����

���������#�����#�

��'���

 �����
������������������
���
�2�

���

���	����������

������������#��	����������������
��������!����
�#�����'������������
�����������

�����
#�����������������������������������������#
�����##�������
����
�
�������
��
��

Page 88



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������4�

'����
�������,��9��� 
���������'
��������� �������������#��	�������������� ��


���������&���
�	����������
#������
�������������
�#����	2���� ��������������

	�
������
��������
���2��
�����'����
#��������
������
����A
��
��2�������������2�

��������
����	��'�
�����	���������2�#
������
��� 
�����������2���������
����

���;���<
��
���	����������� ���2�,��9��� 
��������'����
��������
�����
���
#�

�����������������	�
���������������������������������2��
���'�#
�������2�����

#� �����
������
����#
� ����� �
#��
�����
����������2�'��������������
���������

���������
������#�������
����
�����

�"����������
���2�������#�
 �,������,���$
��
���
B��
����
������2���
�����������

�
�������#�
 ���
������
������������������������� ����������������#��	�����
��

�����������

���������������������������������������
 ������	���!���
�����
�������


��
����#�
 �,��!��E������2���
�����
�����	

����
������������������
������

�
�������� ����
���������������#��	�����
�������#�
 ������������
��
�
�����	�

���������
���������	���'������$
��������,��9��� 
�������,��$����������'��

#
�	�
���#
��'���	� ��������

������������
#�����
���
#�������#��	�����
����������#�

�����
�������
#���������������������������������������
�'�����������2������

�
������		�������������������'�������
����������
�����
��
��������� ��
��

�����������������������������������2�#
����������
���	�
��2������#���������

�
�������������� ������#����
������'�������
#���
'�'�����������������#��	�����
��

��������������
����
������������������#�
 ������	����������������������&���
�	��

������������������
����	�������2�������������������
������� 
�����2����


�����
�������

��������#��	������������
����
��
�������������� 2���� ������#����

������������������� ��� �������������
�����������
���������
#������������

�;��&����� ��
���������������������
#�����2��������
�����������#�����#��	������������

������������
������A
��
��2�������������������������������
���	�
#�����#��	�������

�����
#�������E������������
������2�
��� �����2�������#�����!����������
��
����������

���
�����
�������
����
�������������������������������������
���	�
#������	��������

�
�����
��'�����#�������� �������������'����������	���������������� �����������
#�

����#����������	���
����'�������������

4�������������
	��
�

�4��<
����������
���	�
���������
��	���	�����
�����
����� �������������2����
�������


������ �����������������������������������

���
������'�������
#���
'�'������

�������������
#�������
������������������	�
�������6�(�+�#
��������
��	��
#�����
�

���������� �
����#
���
  �����������
���2����'������
#��
�����
���
���������4�

��� ����
�7�����(��+�#
�����������������
#�����
����������
������
���������������

���� �'�������2����'������
#��
�����
���
���������4���� ����
�7�����(���+�#
��

���������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	������2������
  ������
��
��'�#
���/�

3

� '�������������
��������#
������������#�����
  ���� ���������������
��

�
�(�+�����(��+2����������������������
���

���
������'�������
#���
'�'�����������

��������
�����
�����
��������������'���	�'�����������������)*$����������
������

��' ������
��/�3

� '�����������

�/��&��
����	��2�����$
�����B����#�����
#�����)*$������
�������#
�����������������

���
���������������<
����������
���	�
��2��������	��������)*$��� ������
�'��������


#���������
�����
�����
�����������#
�����������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	��

����������������
�����
 ������� 
�����������	��	�9�������'��������������

Page 89



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������/�

���	
	���

�������(��#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

����!����������������
������������������
������������
������������#������
#����#�������


����
��
� ����������'��	������8�����	��������� ��������
���������	���#��������
�

�
 ����������
�����
��������������
����������
�'�����#����

�

�����������
�
�3�%0$!5-�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

Page 90



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����������������

�����(�5 ���

�

<5-�!A0�&%%0))&3!6�

%������H���E�9&(A
��+��
�����
��

),-!%��

�����������'����������������

A��������� �

!
���$
��
���
� &���������

!�����$
��
���
� &��������B����#��

F�
������
����� &��������B�����
�������

%��������!��E������� ���������

�

<5-�!A0�)5$&)�%)&33�3F�&1!A5-�!I6�

%������������ 3
�����������	�'��������2�� ��
����'��$� '���	��

$����$
�������

����������� �

$���������)��#
���9&(A
��+2�

,���,-!%��

����
��%������2�$� '���	��$����$
������

$�����
�$������ 3��	�'
���

!�����9��� 
��� 3��	�'
���

�

�4 6��51���6���11����1�17���5*6�(8�

�

�� )������#�
 �!�����9��� 
����
�����$
��������#�������
���������������#�
 �������

*�������������3

� '�������2�������������' ���������������&������

>�����
�������

�� &��������
�������#
���������	���� ����
��-�#�$��4��;�"�<%�

�� ��

������������,����������#
��J�������)������,�8�

.� 3
������1��
����������������������&��������4�

"� -��������F���	�������
#������������������&����������

;� )������#�
 �������0�������K�$
�����������'�
��������5��
'��������

4� *���	������&����������� ����������&�	�����������' ���������������

���������
���
�� �����
�����
���
���������	���� ����
��-�#�$��4��;�"�<%�

/� $�
���	���' ����
���#
������$
������

�� $�
���	���' ����
���#
����������������

��� &��������B���
�������������
��

��� 0G �����
�����
�������'��������������������B���
�����
����������$
���������

3

� '�������7�.�*��� '�������2�.�G�;�*��� '�������7���K�����������

�����

�

�

Page 91



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
������������������Page 92



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
������

� � �,%5-!&3!�35!0��L��00�5J0-�

�

�

�

�

��2�����������!���� ���	�	�����
!5D3�&3*�$513!-I�%)&33�3F�&$!�����6��0$!�53�����

(���� ������'�������
�����
#�����%������	�����$
 �������
��&�������+�

!5D3�&3*�$513!-I�%)&33�3F�(*0J0)5%,03!�,&3&F0,03!�%-5$0*1-0+�(03F)&3*+��

5-*0-�����6�&-!�$)0��"�

�

�1����7�(��8� �(1�9���������
��/�3

� '�������������������� �������

�
���������	�#���������
��
 ����������
�����
���
���� �����
�����':�����
�������

�������	���� ����
������'����	�����������������'����������<�������������������
2����

��������
#���������������#��������������
�����������������
�������	���������������

���'�����
�����������C&B�����������
�����������#�����2���������#�������������� �����	�


#������
�����(�+�����(�+�
#�����!
�������$
������%������	�&��������(���

� �����+2�#
������#
��
���	�����
�6�

�

!����� ��#
����#
��� ��������
�������8�������

�

��	����

�����������
��

�������
��

�

*���6��������������

�

-�#������6��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

��������	
��

�

�

!�������
#�������
������������������	�
�������6�(�+�#
��������
��	��
#�����
�������

���� �
����#
���
  �����������
�����������	���	����#�������
�����
�����
�����

����.�
#��������	���� ����
����#�������$��4��;�"�<%����������&�	�������4�(����

���4���� ����
�+�������
�����
��G�����������'�����
�����������C9B�����������
�

�����������
�2�'������������	���	���

���
���2����'������
#��
�����
����2�������.�


#��������4���� ����
�7�(��+�#
�����������������
#�����
����������
������
�������

������������ �'�������2����'������
#��
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
�7�����(���+�

#
�����������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	������2�
#�����E������
�������
�
��� ������

�������������������
����
�����������
��/�3

� '�������2������
���
������

��
�
	���������������
������������
�2������
������'������������������	���������

	���	������8��������

�

�
�������	
��

�

)��������4�9�'���� �-
��2�$� '���	�2�$9���-9�

�

�

�

�

Page 93



$0-!�<�$&!0�5<�)&D<1)30���<5-�%)&33�3F�%1-%5�0��

�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

35!0��

!���������#�����������������
�����#
����������
���
#������
������
#�����!
�������

$
������%������	�&��������(���� �����+��

��������#��������������������� ��������
���������	���#��������
��
 �������������

�
�����
��
���� �����
����':�����
��������������	���� ����
������'����	�������

������'����������<�������������������	�������
����������������#��������������
���

�����������������#��2�
�����������#������������2�����2�������
�����'����
�

��#
��� ��������
�2������������
���4��
#����������&��2�
�������������

!���������#��������������
�����
������8�����
#������������� �������������'����������

<�������������������
���������������#��������������
����������������������#����
��

��������������������&�������
�� ��������������� ������������##������#�
 ������

������'��2�
�����������������
�����
���������2� ���������������'������
#��������	�

�
���
��������������'����
���#
��� ��������
��'�������
�����������	�����
�����

Page 94



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

�

�����
!����������������:�;���#�������
��������)��#���*�
��
� ����$����#�����������6��������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�������#�$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

(��������#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

�����6�*5�35!��$&)0�

�

�

Page 95



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

�����
!����������������:�;���#�������
��������)��#���*�
��
� ����$����#�����������6��������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�������#�$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

(��������#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

�����6�*5�35!��$&)0�

�

�

Page 96



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

�

�����0�����
!�������������
�
	�������#�������
��������)��#���*�
��
� ����$����#�����������6�������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�������#�$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

(��������#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

�

�

�

Page 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank



1  

 

Cambridge City Council 

Note on the Planning Status of 27 Babraham Road Cambridge 

 

Purpose of this note 

This note is prepared by the local planning authority and is intended to set out the 

Council’s current view of the lawful planning use and activities that can take place at 

27 Babraham Road Cambridge.  

The Council recognises that a lawful mixed use exists at 27 Babraham Road. This 

note will set out the scale and nature of the business activities within the mixed use 

that the Council considers are commensurate with the lawful use. 

The lawful use of 27 Babraham Road 

The lawful use of the property, 27 Babraham Road is as a dwelling house and for the 

storage of up to three ice cream vans for commercial purposes in the garage which 

is shown cross hatched on the attached plan (“B”) 1.(This does not include the 2 bay 

car port extension to the garage built subsequent to permission C/01/05582).The 

vans may be stored in the garage with the doors open and deliveries in connection 

with the ice cream business may be made to the property. A refrigerated storage unit 

of a size similar to or smaller than that shown in the attached photo3 and located 

between the dwelling and the extended garage is also lawful. 

The local planning authority takes the view that the current lawful use4 provides for 

no more than three ice cream vans, owned and operated in association with the 

residential occupation of 27 Babraham Road to be stored in the garage at the 

property when not in use. The Council considers this means they can traverse the 

driveway and hard standing areas that provide access to the garage where they are 

permitted to be stored. It does not provide for them to be stored/stationed outside the 

garages or anywhere else on the property when not in use. The Council also takes 

the view that the vehicles can only be outside the garages at the property when ‘in 

use’, only for the time it takes to move them into and out of the garages at the 

reasonably recognisable start and end of business trading periods.  

                                                
1
 From Planning Permission ref: C/97/0695/FP and Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: 

App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 
2
 Paragraph 14 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

3
 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

4
 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

Page 99



2  

 

The council takes the view that it is lawful for the restocking of the ice cream vans to 

happen when the ice cream vans are not in use at a time of day commensurate with 

the usual business trading hours for this type of business. The lawful use does not 

extend to the areas outside of the garages so by implication does not include use of 

these areas for the re-stocking or stationing of ice cream vehicles. 

Likewise the delivery of any stock reasonably associated with three ice cream vans 

is interpreted as being lawful to happen at the property only for the minimum 

reasonable time to unload stock related deliveries and at times and frequencies 

considered reasonable in relation to the scale and type of lawful business activity 

being serviced from the up to three vehicles stored at this site5. 

The lawful use does not provide for the manufacturing of ice cream of other products 

anywhere on the premises. Nor the provision of or sale to third parties of ice-cream 

and refrigerated products or soft drinks etc. 

There is no permission or lawful use for the storage/stationing of a hot potato cart at 

the property6 and this is not considered to be an ancillary storage activity so is not 

lawful.7 

The Council will review this position from time to time and may reconsider this 

position in the light of new evidence or material that comes forward. 

 

Patsy Dell 

Head of Planning Services 

29/11/2013 

 

Attachments: 

Planning Appeal Decision letter: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

                                                
5
 Paragraph 19, Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

6
 Paragraph 9 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

7
 The Planning Service has to report back to the Council’s South Area Committee on the planning 

situation at the site and any outstanding unlawful activities at the site will need to be considered at 

that time.  

Page 100



 

Report Page No: 1 Agenda Page No: 

 

CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
REPORT OF: Head of Planning Services 
   
TO:                               South Area Committee           DATE: 23/06/14 
 
WARD:    Queen Ediths 
 

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT CONTROL 
ENFORCEMENT NOTICE REPORT 

 

 
27 Babraham Road, Cambridge 

Unauthorised storage of a hot potato cart and use of a car port 
garage extension for the storage of ice cream vans 
 

SUMMARY Planning enforcement investigations have 
identified an unauthorised storage of a hot 
potato cart and use of a car port garage 
extension for the storage of ice cream vans. 

The storage of the hot potato cart is 
ancillary to the use of the premises as a 
dwelling house. 

The use of the car port garage extension for 
the storage of ice cream vans represents 
an unacceptable expansion of the lawful 
non-residential use of the site and has an 
adverse impact on residential amenity. 

RECOMMENDATION That enforcement action be authorised in 
respect of the unauthorised change of use 
of a car port garage extension for the 
storage of ice cream vans. 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report seeks delegated authority to serve an Enforcement Notice 

to address the unauthorised change of use of a car port garage 
extension for the storage of ice cream vans at 27 Babraham Road 
(see appendix A for site plan). 

 
 

Agenda Item 10b

Page 101



 

Report Page No: 2 Agenda Page No: 

2 PLANNING HISTORY  
 

See Appendix B. 
 
3 THE INSPECTORS DECISION AND THE TERMS OF THE 

CERTIFICATE OF LAWFUL USE OR DEVELOPMENT (‘THE 
CERTIFICATE’) 

 
3.1 A copy of the Inspector’s Decision letter is attached at Appendix C.  

The Inspector allowed the appeal and in doing so issued a Lawful 
Development Certificate which is embedded in the Decision letter.  
The Certificate allows for the following: 

 
o The storage of up to three ice cream vans for commercial 

purposes in the garage referred to in conditions 2 and 4 of 
planning permission reference C/97/0695/FP and shown 
hatched on an attached plan but with the garage doors open in 
breach of conditions 1, 2 and 4 of the 1997 permission.  (The 
plan identifies the original garage only and not the car port 
extension) 

 
o The acceptance of deliveries in connection with the ice cream 

business in breach of condition 3 of the 1997 permission 
 

o The stationing of a refrigerated storage unit, of a size 
equivalent to or smaller than the unit stationed on the site in 
November 2012 located between the dwelling and the garage 
as extended. 

 
4 PLANNING STATUS OF 27 BABRAHAM ROAD NOTE  
 
4.1 It is the view of officers that the Inspectors decision is clear; however 

for the avoidance of doubt a Note has been prepared which sets out 
the Council’s position regarding the Planning Status of 27 Babraham 
Road.  A copy of the Note is attached at Appendix D.  A copy of the 
Note has been sent to the appellant and the neighbours either side of 
27 Babraham Road who have raised concerns about the way in 
which 27 Babraham Road is used. 

 
4.2 The certificate has confirmed that certain planning uses of the site 

are lawful but it only relates to those uses that were the subject of the 
application.  The planning permission taken with the certificate 
determines the lawful uses of the site.  In the opinion of officers 
neither the use of the car port extension for the storage of ice cream 

Page 102



 

Report Page No: 3 Agenda Page No: 

vans nor the storage of the hot potato cart are covered by the 
planning permission or the certificate.   

 
5 BACKGROUND/TIMELINE OF ENFORCEMENT INVESTIGATION 

 

5.1 An enforcement investigation has remained open throughout the 
determination of the application for a Certificate of Lawful Use or 
Development and the related appeal.  The view of officers is that 
planning permission reference C/97/0695/FP as modified by the 
certificate clearly establishes which activities can lawfully be carried 
out at 27 Babraham Road.  The certificate only covers those uses 
that were part of the lawful development certificate application.  The 
certificate does not cover all the activities that are being carried out 
at the premises.  It is for the Council to assess whether or not other 
activities being carried out at the premises can be considered a 
lawful use of the C3 dwelling.  The purpose of the Note on the 
Planning Status of 27 Babraham Road was to set out the Council’s 
position in detail following the outcome of the Appeal. 

 

5.2 Since the production of the Note, officers have been contacted by 
local residents who have raised concerns about the activities which 
are currently being undertaken at 27 Babraham Road.  In addition to 
the concerns regarding the planning use of the property their 
concerns include issues such as noise nuisance which fall outside 
planning control and a joint investigation by Planning Enforcement 
officers and Environmental Health officers has been initiated. 

 
5.3 A joint site visit was carried out by Planning Enforcement officers and 

Environmental Health officers on 1 April 2014.  In respect of the 
storage of the hot potato cart and the use of the car port garage 
extension for storage of ice cream vans the following observations 
were made: 

 
o The hot potato cart is stored between the refrigeration units and 

the house frontage beside the boundary with 25 Babraham 
Road.  It is stored in the open, on the forecourt and not in a 
garage. 

 
o Two ice cream vans were being stored in the garage extension. 

 
o The garage approved by C/97/0695/FP is being used for 

storage of domestic vehicles and for the storage of goods 
associated with the ice cream business. 

 

Page 103



 

Report Page No: 4 Agenda Page No: 

5.4 Since the production of the Note there has been on-going 
correspondence between officers and the site owner’s legal 
representative.  The issues raised and the officer position is set out 
below: 

 
 Use of site for storage of hot potato cart 
 

Operator’s Legal representative’s view 
 
5.5 The storage of the hot potato cart could be regarded as an ancillary 

use to the main use of the property as a dwelling. 
 
 Officer’s view 
 
5.6 The lawful use of 27 Babraham Road is as a dwelling with storage of 

ice cream vans permitted in the garage.  The storage of the hot 
potato cart is not ancillary to the storage of ice cream vans but could 
be regarded as ancillary to the use as a dwelling.  In order to 
establish that it is an ancillary use the Council would need to be 
convinced that the storage of the hot potato cart does not conflict with 
the use as a dwelling and is not out of character with that use. 

 
5.7 The storage of the hot potato cart results in some additional comings 

and goings to the premises and could be visible from beyond the 
boundaries of the site.  The Food Team within the Environment and 
Refuse service has advised that the food premises registration form 
gives 27 Babraham Road as the address where the cart is stored 
whilst not trading and that the cart is cleaned at the premises.  It 
would be difficult to demonstrate that these impacts differ from those 
normally associated with any operation of a business from home for 
example a painter and decorator storing his van overnight, cleaning it 
and loading it up. 

 
5.8 In order to justify the service of an Enforcement Notice the Council 

would need to produce evidence to demonstrate that the storage of 
the hot potato cart is not an ancillary use to the principal use as a 
dwelling.  It is the view of officers that it would be difficult to produce 
evidence of this in the event that an Enforcement Notice is served 
and an appeal submitted.  This could result in the Enforcement 
Notice being quashed and would leave the Council open to a claim 
for costs. 

 
5.9 The current position which is adopted by officers in relation to the 

storage of the hot potato cart differs from that set out in the Planning 
Status Note.  The Note states that ‘There is no permission or lawful 

Page 104



 

Report Page No: 5 Agenda Page No: 

use for the storage/stationing of a hot potato cart at the property and 
this is not considered to be an ancillary storage activity so it not 
lawful’.  The reason for the change of view is that in the light of 
comments made by the applicant and his legal representative and on 
reflection it is not going to be possible to provide evidence to 
demonstrate that the hot potato cart is not ancillary to the use as a 
dwelling.  The fact that the storage of the hot potato cart is not 
referred to in the planning permission as modified by the certificate 
does not make it an unlawful use. 

 
5.10 At the time of the preparation of the Status Note officers were 

considering whether the storage of the hot potato cart is ancillary to 
the commercial activity at 27 Babraham Road.  However, as raised 
by the operator’s legal representative, there is an argument for 
saying that the current use of land for storage of a hot potato cart is 
ancillary to the use as a dwellinghouse.  At present officers cannot 
disagree with this argument.  However if the storage of hot potato 
cart use intensified, for example through the storage of additional 
carts, then the ancillary test would need to be re-applied. 

 
5.11 It is the view of officers that the storage of the hot potato cart is an 

ancillary and lawful use and that it is not expedient to pursue 
enforcement action to secure cessation of the use. 

 
 
 Use of car port garage extension for storage of ice cream vans 
 

Operator’s Legal representative’s view 
 
5.12 The use of car port garage extension for storage of ice cream vans is 

lawful because either condition 2 of the 1997 permission which 
permits 3 ice cream vans to be stored on the premises could be 
regarded as applying to the premises as a whole or that the 
extension has acquired its own immunity by use for more than ten 
years. 

 
 Officer’s view 
 
5.13 The car port garage extension was permitted in 2001.  There are no 

conditions restricting the use of the garage extension or permitting 
the use for storage of ice cream vans.  The use of the garage 
extension for storage of ice cream vans creates space in the original 
garage which is used for the storage of stock and this has resulted in 
an expansion of the ice cream van storage use over a greater part of 
the property.  The original intention of the conditions attached to 

Page 105



 

Report Page No: 6 Agenda Page No: 

planning permission reference C/97/0695/FP was to limit the impact 
of the non-residential use.  The certificate granted at appeal does not 
change this approach and the appellant did not seek to establish the 
lawful use of the garage extension as part of the appeal. 

 
5.14 It is considered expedient to pursue enforcement action to secure 

cessation of the use to ensure that the restrictions placed on a non-
residential use within a residential area are effective in the interests 
of the protection of residential amenity. 

 
6 ASSESSMENT AGAINST PLANNING POLICY AND OTHER 

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework states: 

 
‘Para 207 Effective enforcement is important as a means of 
maintaining public confidence in the planning system. Enforcement 
action is discretionary, and local planning authorities should act 
proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of planning 
control. Local planning authorities should consider publishing a local 
enforcement plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way that 
is appropriate to their area. This should set out how they will monitor 
the implementation of planning permissions, investigate alleged 
cases of unauthorised development and take action where it is 
appropriate to do so.’ 

 
6.2 It is the view of officers that the principle of taking enforcement action 

is appropriate in this case and in investigating the breach of planning 
control and setting out recommendations, officers have been mindful 
of and complied with the Planning Investigation Service Policy and 
the City Council’s Enforcement Concordat. 

 
6.3 Consideration has also been given to the Human Rights Act 2000 

and to the Equalities Act 2010.  Officers have noted Article 1 Protocol 
1 (protection of property), Article 6 (a right to a fair hearing within a 
reasonable time), Article 8 (right to respect for private family life) and 
Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination) as being relevant. Officers 
consider that the service of an enforcement notice with a reasonable 
period for compliance would be lawful, fair, proportionate, non-
discriminatory, and necessary in the general public interest to 
achieve the objective of upholding national and local planning 
policies.  The protection afforded by the Human Rights Act 2000 and 
the Equalities Act 2010 do not outweigh the reasons for proceeding 
with planning enforcement.  

 

Page 106



 

Report Page No: 7 Agenda Page No: 

6.4 An Enforcement Notice carries with it a right of appeal to the 
Planning Inspectorate and the Inspectorate have the power to vary 
the Notice to amend the steps to comply. 

 
6.5 In reaching the view that enforcement action is necessary, Officers 

have assessed the unauthorised change of use of the car port 
garage extension for the storage of ice cream vans against Local 
Plan Policy and central government policy/guidance as follows. 

 
 Assessment against Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
 
6.6 The relevant policy in the Local Plan is policy 4/13: 
 
 4/13 Pollution and Amenity 
 

Development will only be permitted which: 
 
a. does not lead to significant adverse effects on health, the 
environment and amenity from pollution; or 
b. which can minimise any significant adverse effects through the use 
of appropriate reduction or mitigation measures. 
 
Proposals that are sensitive to pollution, and located close to existing 
pollution sources, will be permitted only where adequate pollution 
mitigation measures are provided as part of the development 
package. 

 
6.7 The use of the car port garage extension for storage of ice cream 

vans generates noise and disturbance over and above that 
associated with the lawful use of the site as a dwellinghouse and for 
the storage of three ice cream vans in the garage permitted under 
planning application reference C/97/0695/FP.  In particular the use of 
the garage extension allows the garage to be used for storage 
associated with the storage of ice cream vans thereby expanding the 
area of the site given over to the business use. The degree of 
disturbance is such that it has an adverse impact on the amenities 
enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring properties.  If an 
application for change of use of a car port garage extension for the 
storage of ice cream vans was to be submitted, officers would 
recommend refusal on the grounds of conflict with policy 4/13 of the 
Local Plan. 

 
 Assessment against central government guidance 
 
6.8 Paragraph 123 of the NPPF provides the following guidance: 

Page 107



 

Report Page No: 8 Agenda Page No: 

 
Planning policies and decisions should aim to: 
 
1 avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on 

health and quality of life as a result of new development; 
 
2 mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on 

health and quality of life arising from noise from new 
development, including through the use of conditions; 

 
3 recognise that development will often create some noise and 

existing businesses wanting to develop in continuance of their 
business should not have unreasonable restrictions put on 
them because of changes in nearby land uses since they were 
established and 

 
4 identify and protect areas of tranquility which have remained 

relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their 
recreational and amenity value for this reason. 

 
6.9 Point 4 is not relevant in this case. The site is bounded on each side 

by private gardens and could not be categorised as a protected area.  
Point 3 is also not relevant because nearby land uses have not 
changed.  Points 1 and 2 are relevant. 
 

6.10 The lawful use of 27 Babraham Road already has an adverse impact 
on the health and quality of life of nearby residents as reflected in 
comments made by them in correspondence with the Council.  
Continued use of the car port for storage of ice cream vans will 
exacerbate this impact.  Whilst it may be possible to mitigate the 
impact of the use of the car port through conditions, in combination 
with other activities on at 27 Babraham Road this additional activity is 
not acceptable in terms of its impact on residential amenity.  There is 
clear conflict with guidance provided by the NPPF. 

 
6.11 Planning Practice Guidance offers the following advice in terms of 

how noise impact can be mitigated which is as follows: 
 

How can the adverse effects of noise be mitigated? 
 
This will depend on the type of development being considered and 
the character of the proposed location. In general, for noise making 
developments, there are four broad types of mitigation: 
 

Page 108



 

Report Page No: 9 Agenda Page No: 

• engineering: reducing the noise generated at source and/or 
containing the noise generated; 

• layout: where possible, optimising the distance between the 
source and noise-sensitive receptors and/or incorporating good 
design to minimise noise transmission through the use of 
screening by natural or purpose built barriers, or other 
buildings; 

• using planning conditions/obligations to restrict activities 
allowed on the site at certain times and/or specifying 
permissible noise levels differentiating as appropriate between 
different times of day, such as evenings and late at night, and; 

• mitigating the impact on areas likely to be affected by noise 
including through noise insulation when the impact is on a 
building. 

 
6.12 The dwellings close to 27 Babraham Road constitute ‘sensitive 

receptors’.  The conditions that were originally imposed on the use of 
the site were intended to control the use to a level that was 
acceptable in a residential area.  This was achieved by conditions to 
restrict the number of ice cream vans, the location where they could 
be stored and limiting the use of the garage to storage for two ice 
cream vans only.  The Certificate has broadened the lawful use of 27 
Babraham Road by for example allowing three vans to be stored 
lawfully and storage in the garage with the doors open and allowing 
storage of a refrigeration unit.  Officers are of the view that it would 
not be possible to satisfactorily control the impact of the use of the 
car port for storage of ice cream vans via conditions/obligations to a 
level that would not have harmful effect on residential amenity given 
the cumulative effect that these additional activities generate. 

 
 Material Considerations 
 
6.13 It could be argued that to take enforcement action in this case would 

not be appropriate because it would have an adverse impact on the 
operation of a small business.  However in this case the business is 
being conducted in a residential area and the need to protect the 
residential amenity of neighbours outweighs this material 
consideration.  There are no other material considerations that would 
lead officers to conclude that enforcement action would not be 
appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 

Report Page No: 10 Agenda Page No: 

7 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The Committee is requested to consider the details of this report and 

any relevant representations made to them at this Committee, and 
approve the following: 

 
1. To authorise the Head of Planning and the Head of Legal Services 

to prepare and serve an enforcement notice under S172 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in respect of 
a breach of planning control, namely the material change of use of 
the car port garage approved under planning reference 
C/01/0558/FP at 27 Babraham Road to business use for storage 
of ice cream vans specifying the steps to comply and the period 
for compliance set out in paragraphs 7.2 and 7.3, for the reasons 
contained in paragraph 7.4. 

 
2. To delegate authority to the Head of Planning (after consultation 

with the Head of Legal Services) to exercise the Council’s powers 
to take further action in the event of non-compliance with the 
enforcement notices 

 
Enforcement Notice – Use of the car port garage extension for 
storage of ice cream vans 

 
7.2 Steps to comply 
 

Cease the use of the car port garage extension for storage of ice 
cream vans. 

 
7.3 Period for compliance 
 
 28 days after the date on which the Enforcement Notice takes effect. 
 
7.4 Statement of Reasons for inclusion on the Notice:   
 

It appears to the Council that the breach of planning control namely 
the material change of use of the car port garage approved under 
planning reference C/01/0558/FP at 27 Babraham Road to business 
use for storage of ice cream vans, has occurred within the last 10 
years. 
 
The change of use of the car port garage extension for the storage of 
ice cream vans has given rise to additional noise and disturbance to 
neighbours over and above that associated with the storage of ice 
cream vans within the garage permitted under planning reference 

Page 110



 

Report Page No: 11 Agenda Page No: 

C/97/0695/FP and an expansion of the extent of the business 
activities on the site resulting in an unacceptably adverse impact on 
their amenities. 

 
The material change of use of the car port garage approved under 
planning reference C/01/0558/FP at 27 Babraham Road to business 
use for storage of ice cream vans has been undertaken without the 
benefit of planning permission and is contrary to policy 4/13 of the 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006, and to government guidance in 
Paragraph 123 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012  
 
Mindful of the NPPF, Development Plan policy and other material 
considerations, the Council consider it expedient to serve an 
enforcement notice in order to remedy the breach of planning control. 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 2000 and the 
Equalities Act 2010. Officers have noted Article 1 Protocol 1 
(protection of property), Article 6 (a right to a fair hearing within a 
reasonable time), Article 8 (right to respect for private family life) and 
Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination). Officers consider that the 
service of an enforcement notice with a reasonable period for 
compliance would be lawful, fair, proportionate, non-discriminatory, 
and necessary in the general public interest to achieve the objective 
of upholding national and local planning policies, which seek to 
protect which seek to protect residential amenity.  

 
 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A  Site location plan 
Appendix B  Planning History 
Appendix C Inspectors Decision (12/1438/CLUED) 
Appendix D Note on the Planning Status of 27 Babraham Road 
 
 
The contact officer for queries on the report is Sarah Dyer on ext 7153. 
 
 

Page 111



Page 112

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B  Planning History 
 
The following table sets out the relevant planning history for 27 Babraham 
Road.  The full details of the applications are set out in detail below as 
necessary. 
 

Reference Description Decision 

C/93/0133/FP Garage in front garden (amended 
by letter dated 26.03.93 and 
01.02.95 with accompanying plans) 
 

Approved 
with 
conditions 
 

C/97/0695/FP The use of the land and buildings 
at 27 Babraham Road as a 
dwelling house and for the storage 
of two ice cream vans used for 
commercial purposes 

Approved 
with 
conditions 

C/01/0558/FP Erection of 2bay car port extension 
to existing garage. 

Approved 
with 
conditions 

05/0603/FUL Single storey side extension to 
dwellinghouse with conservatory to 
rear.  Single storey front extension 
to garage. 

Refused 

12/1107/S73 Application to vary condition 1 to 
include a maximum of 4 ice cream 
vans, condition 2 so that vans not 
in use shall be stored in the 
existing garage but not behind 
closed doors, condition 3 to allow 
deliveries to the site and condition 
4 to allow the parking of 4 ice 
cream vans within the existing 
garage block on planning approval 
C/97/0695/FP. 

Withdrawn 

12/1438/CLUED Application to the Council for a 
certificate of lawful use or 
development for the storage of four 
ice cream vans, the stationing of a 
refrigerated storage unit, 
acceptance of deliveries in 
connection with the ice cream 
business and the mixed use 
(C3/B1) of the property. 
Appeal to the Secretary of State 
against the Council’s refusal to 

Certificate 
Refused 
 
 
 
 
 
Appeal 
Allowed 

Page 115



grant the certificate 

Appeal ref. 
APP/Q0505/X/ 
2193066 

Lawful development certificate 
granted for use of the property as a 
dwelling-house and (i) for the 
storage of up to 3 ice cream vans 
in the garage referred to in 
conditions 2 and 4 of C/97/0695/FP 
but with the garage doors open; (ii) 
for the acceptance of deliveries in 
connection with the ice cream 
business and (iii) for the stationing 
of a refrigerated unit of a size 
equivalent to or smaller than the 
unit stationed on site on 8 
November 2012. 
 
For the full wording see appendix B 
to this report 

Certificate 
granted 23 
July 2013 

 
C/93/0133/FP and C/97/0695/FP 
 
In April 1993 planning permission was granted for a detached three-bay 
garage in the front forecourt of 27 Babraham Road.  In 1997 permission was 
granted to allow 27 Babraham Road to be used as a dwelling house and for 
the storage of two ice cream vans.  This was subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. The number of ice-cream vans stored at the premises shall not 
exceed two vehicles. 
Reason:  To protect the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
occupiers. 
 

2. The ice-cream vans, when not in use, shall be stored within the 
existing garages at all times with the doors closed. 
Reason:  To protect the visual amenity of the area. 

 
3. There shall be no deliveries to the premises associated with the ice-

cream business. 
Reason:  To protect the amenity of adjacent residential properties. 

 

4. The garage shall be used for the parking of no more than two ice-
cream vans and the parking of domestic vehicles only and for no 
other purpose without express consent to be given in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

Page 116



Reason: To protect the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
properties. 

 
C/01/0558/FP 
 
In 2001 an application for a 2 bay car port extension to the 3 bay garage was 
permitted.  There were no conditions regulating the use of the car port but an 
informative stated that the car port may not be used for the storage of 
commercial vehicles without the express permission of the local planning 
authority. 
 
12/1107/S73 
 
In August 2012 an application was made to vary the conditions attached to the 
permission for the garage following a planning enforcement inquiry into 
allegations that the conditions attached to planning permission reference 
C/97/0695/FP were not being complied with.  The application sought the 
following variations to conditions: 
 

o Condition 1 to include a maximum of 4 ice cream vans 
o Condition 2 so that vans not in use shall be stored in the existing 

garage but not behind closed doors 
o Condition 3 to allow deliveries to the site 
o Condition 4 to allow the parking of 4 ice cream vans within the 

existing garage block on planning approval C/97/0695/FP 
 
The application was withdrawn 
 
12/1438/CLUED 
 
In November 2012 an application was submitted for a Certificate of Lawful Use 
or Development.  This sought to confirm the lawfulness of the following 
activities and use of the property: 
 

o The storage of four ice cream vans 
o The stationing of a refrigerated storage unit 
o Acceptance of deliveries in connection with an ice cream business 
o Mixed C3/B1 use 

 
The application was refused under delegated powers on the basis that 
the applicant had not demonstrated on a balance of probabilities that the 
use has continued for 10 years. 

 
 
 

Page 117



Appeal ref. APP/Q0505/X/ 2193066 
 
In March 2013 an Appeal was submitted in response to the Council’s decision.  
This was heard by way of an Informal Hearing in June 2013 and the Inspector 
allowed the appeal. 
 
The Inspector allowed the appeal and certified that the following uses were 
lawful within the meaning of section 191(2) and (3) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 because the time for enforcement action had expired: 
 

o The storage of up to three ice cream vans for commercial 
purposes in the garage referred to in conditions 2 and 4 of 
planning permission reference C/97/0695/FP and shown hatched 
on an attached plan but with the garage doors open in breach of 
conditions 1, 2 and 4 of the 1997 permission.  (The plan identifies 
the original garage only and not the car port extension) 

 
o The acceptance of deliveries in connection with the ice cream 

business in breach of condition 3 of the 1997 permission 
 

o The stationing of a refrigerated storage unit, of a size equivalent to 
or smaller than the unit stationed on the site in November 2012 
located between the dwelling and the garage as extended. 

 
A copy of the Inspectors Decision letter/Certificate of Lawfulness is attached at 
Appendix C. 
 

Page 118



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

����������	
	���
�������������
����������������������

�����
����� ����
����������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�����
�����������	�����
����������������������������� �!!��	�	�
�����������"�����!����

���	
	�������#�$%������$&'%�

�

�������(��#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

�� !������������� ���������������
����"�
#�����!
�������$
������%������	�&�����������
� ������'������%������	�����$
 �������
��&���������	����������#������
�	�������

�����#������
#����#�������
����
��
� ����()*$+��
�� !������������� ����'��,��!
���$
��
���
��	����������������
��
#�$� '���	��$����

$
�������
�� !������������
��-�#�����.�/�$)01*2�������/�3

� '�������2�������#�����'���
�����

������4���������������

�� !������������
������ ���������������
�����(�+(�+�����(�+�
#�����!
�������$
������
%������	�&������������ �������

�� 5������#����
#��������������
�2���������#
���������������#������
#����#�������
��
��
��
� ��������
�	�����6�

(�+� !�����
��	��
#�#
����������� �
�������������
�����7�
(��+� !��������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	����������������
�����7�

(���+� !��������������
#�����
����������
������
������������������� �'���������������
��
�����7�

(�
+� !��� �8�������($��9�+�
#�������
�������

��!!����������	
	��#�1����������	
�����2�������������	�	����������2�����
��
����������!����	
�	

�����	���������!
�
�������
���2�	���������	
	����
�

����	���	���������
�
�

��� &��������������������������
��#
���
�������� ����'��,��!
���$
��
���
��	������

$� '���	��$����$
��������!�������������
�����������':����
#������������*�����
���

���������������
��30������!�����
�

��� &����
��������������������������������
��
�����

��� 5���/�&���������2��������	���� ����
��-�#�$�������������	�������#
������

������
��
#�������������
 ������	���	���������#�
���	������
#������������

��
��������3
��
�����
��������� �
�����
������������������
#�����	���	����5�����

&�	�������4��������	���� ����
��-�#�$��4��;�"�<%�(�������4���� ����
�+�����

	�������#
��=��������
#��������������'������	������4�9�'���� �-
��������

�������	��
��������#
��������
��	��
#���
��������� �
���������#
���
  �������

����
������!������� ����
��������':�����
�.��
�����
��2����#
��
��6�

(�+� !����� '���
#��������� �
������
�������������� ������������
���8�����

��
�
�������7�

(�+� !����������� �
���2�������
��������2�������'����
����������������8�����	�

	���	����������� �������������

�����
���7�

Page 119



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����������������

(�+� !�����������'���
�����
�������
�������� ��������
��������������������

���� �'�������7�

(.+� !���	���	��������'�������#
������������	�
#��
� 
����������
��������� �


������������������	�
#��
 ������
��������
��������#
���
�
���������
���

����
����8�������
���������������	��
�'��	�
���'�������
�����������	�

����
�������

.�� 5�������������������$
������	��������������	���� ����
��-�#�$�����""/�<%�

(������������ ����
�+�#
������������
��
#�����'��������
����8�����
���
�����

�8�����	���'���	���	�2�����������	���������� ����
��������-�#�$�����������3
�

�
�����
��������� �
������	������	���������
#�������8�����
���

"�� &������
����������������	�
#������������
�2�����)*$����������
���
�	����
�

����'����2�� 
�	�
���������	�2����������= �8�������($��9�+�
#�������
�����@�

�������#��2����������������
#��������������
����A
��
��2���� �8���������
��
��

#��������������������������������������������������	��������������)*$���
�����
��

��#����
����������������

;�� &���
�	������$
�����������������

������##������
���2���������������2�������������

�	�����������������4���� ����
������
�������� �8�������
#�3
��4�9�'���� �

-
��2��������
 ������������	����������	�����2���'��������������
  �������

��� ����
#����� �8���������������������� ����������
���
�����'�������
�����
���

����
����'

����3
������������	�������� ��
#������(�
+�
#�����)*$����������
�2�

�������
����������������	2����������������
����
��������
���	�������������������

 
���	������������8�����
�����#���'��������
#����������������'������$�����9����

!������������� �����������#
�����)*$����������
���
��� �8��������
 ������	�����

�����������'�������������4���� ����
�2�����
����
 �����	�����������
�����
��2�

��
�	����������#
�����������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	����������
 ��
#�����

�
���������������'������$
������������ �������� 
��������	������������������

 ���������������#�����
��
#�����'������������������������������������
�����)*$�

���������
����A
��
��2������
���	2�����$
�������������������2���������������������

�
��������	��
�����'������������ 
���	������������8�����
��'����������������

'��
 �����#��2��������
�������������
�������������������#�����
����	� �����

��	���

���

4�� �� ��������� ����������������$
�����B����#�����
#����)*$����������#
��������

A�
��	���	�����
�����'���	�
��������
����'

�2����� �������������������������

����������������

���
������'�������
#���
'�'�������������������
#�������
������

������������	�
�������6�(�+�#
��������
��	��
#�����
�.��������� �
����#
��

�
  �����������
���2����'������
#��
�����
���
���������4���� ����
�7�(��+�#
��

���������������
#�����
����������
������
������������������� �'�������2����

'������
#��
�����
���
���������4���� ����
�7�����(���+�#
�����������
���	�
#���

��#��	���������
��	������2������
  ������
��
��'�#
���/�3

� '������������

�
��������#
������������#�����
  ���� ���������������
���
�(�+�����(��+2��� ����

���
������ ��������������������������������

���
������'�������
#���
'�'������

�������������
�����
�����
��������������'���	�'�����������������'������������

)*$����������
��������' ������
��/�3

� '����������

���������������������������������������
����������	
�
���
�������������������������������������������������������������������	��
����������� !
"�

��

#$%&�
��!
���������
�����)*$����������
���
�������	�����#��������
��
 ������������
�����
�2�����'������ ����'�����

�8����������������� ��
#��������������
�6�'
������������������������������������� ��
������������(������)
���
���


�*��
���#%%+��,-��../&�

Page 120



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����������������

/�� �������
��#
�� ���
��
������������������� �������������':����
#�����������������

�������'�������������	���� �7�������
��������� ������������������������#���'��


������
#�'���	��  ����#�
 ���#
��� ��������
���

(��
��
�

��� &��#������������ '���
#��������� �
��������
�������2���������������

����
����	�������2����������������
#�����)*$����������
�2����
������������
����

���������
��������!���#
�����
��������
������<�'����������2��
 ���� 
�����

'�#
����������������
����&���
�	�������������������������������
���
������:������

�
���
���������
��������� �����#�
 �&�	����������
�����������������2������

����
���
����'�����
���'������
#��
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
�2�������

�������������#��������
��������� �
������&��'��������2����
����
����	��������)*$�

#
��������
��	��
#�����
����������� �
�����

����,������,���$
��
���
B���
���������������2����'������
#��
�����
����
#��������4�

��� ����
�2�'����������4��������������
#�����)*$����������
�2�������������
���

'����#�������������������� �
������
��������������������
��������!��������

�
��
'
������'��������
���
��������� 
���
#�,���
����2��������
�����������

�
 ���������������
#��������������B��'�������2�!
��B����������

�������������

#2�,��9��� 
��2�
#�3
����9�'���� �-
��2��������������������
���

�������� �������.��������� �
������
�������������
�����������	�����������
����

�
�����������������������������;���������'�
���
��'��������#
�� ����
#�����

�� �����������
������ �����������
���
�������������1�������
����8� �����
�2�

�����
�������
����������������������������
�#����	�����&��
����
���������		������

���������������
����'�������������� �
����#
���
 ��
#���������
������������

����
�2�'���������������������	�������������
��.2�'���'����
����
 ��
#���� �

 �����
��'��
�	����
�
���������������!���'�����
#������'����#�������������'��2�

��������
����,��9��� 
���C�����������
�����$
�����������	�#�
 ��"�����������

�����
 ��� ���#����&�	��������������������������
�����
���
���������4�

��� ����
�2���������	��
�����
���2�����'����'�����������������4�����������������

,��9��� 
��B����������������
������������������
���8��
#������� �#
���  ������

#�
 ���#
��� ��������
��������� ����
����
��'����������
#������
�����������


#�����������������	��	���3�
���������2�$
�����
�����
����
������
��'����

'���������#�����������'����������������������� �
������
����
��������� �������

!���
�������8���

�����	�'
��2�,��$�����2��������������������
������3
��"�

����������������������

#2�,��$����������������������������
��.��������� �
����

��
��������������������
�����������������������������������
�����
������2����

�
�����
����������� � '����
�� ������������ �
��������'������
���������	�

��������
����������������
�2�'������������
'�'����������
����������������������

#�
 � ����������
�������,��$�������
�����
����
��������
����
#�����	���	��

'����#�
 �����
�����
���������

�������������������
�� �������

�����'���������������2���������	���	�������
��

�
�� ����2����
����	���

����2���������������������������
���2��
��
����������

�� 
�������������� ���
����
�� ������������ �
�����������
����
������

��
�������������
����� ����!�������������������
�����������������������������


#���������#����������
���������� '����������'�������
����������A
��
��2�

���������
������
�� �������������������������'�������
#������,������,���

$
��
���
������'
��������� '���
#��������� �
����������������!����
�������

'�#
��� ������������������������������
'�'����
�#�������������������� �
����

��
����
��������
���������'������
#��
�����
���������.����
�	�
�����������
��/�

���������������������������������������
���������
�����
����������
����#�������������4��4����

Page 121



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������.�

3

� '���������
�/�3

� '���������������������������
����	���������������

�
�����������������������B���
��������

�������������
���
��
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
�2������������
���������
�

�
�������������������� �
������
��'�����
�������������
����
�����������������

	���	�2��������������B���
����������������	���	���

�����
���
��'������
����

�����
��
'
������'��,��9��� 
��B���
�����������������������������

#����������

	���	���

��������=���������
���@���!���$
������������������������������##�������

�
�������
#������'������
#��
�����
������

�.��!����������
 ����'����

������������
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
���
����

���
������������ �
����'���	���
�������������'���	���	���8�����
���
����������

����������
������������� ����
����!����������� ����
��������������

C��#
� ���
�B����������	�����������8�����
���
�����
��'�������#
��������
��	��
#�

�
  �������
������������
����8��������� ����
�2�'����
��
�����
���
������

�##������!�������������#
����
����	���������������� ����
�������#����
�����	�����


#������8�����
���
���
����������� �
�����������
���������������������B��

��' ����
������2���������'������	���������� ���������2������ �������8�����
��

�
������'������	��
�����
� �����'�������#
�������� ������
�����A
��
��2�

�
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
���������������������
#�������
�����������

��
�����D��������� �������
��	��
#��������� �
�����
���
��	�������������

=�8�����	�	���	�@2������ ����������8�����	���'���	���	����
���
������

���������
���������!���$
�������
������
���
��
�������������������
����'��

�8���������
���#
�����	������������
��	��
#��������� �
�����������������'���

�8�����
����3�
���������2��������
���
���������
�������
#��������
��	��#
������

����
����������������
�2�������
�������#����
��	���������������8�����
�����

���#�����

�"��!�����	��
����� ������
#�����
��������,��9��� 
�����������������������'������

��	��#����������������������
��������������
����
��������������������������
����

���;�����,�$��������#�����
��������������������
�����������	�����������
�����
#�

����������� ��
����
�����������������	�������������
�������������,��9��� 
��B��

������ ���������
����������'�������
�
'���
�����
�� 
�����������2�
������
�����

����2�,��$������������������
�������	

���
����
���
��
  ����
������
������

'�����������
���������#�
 ��
 �������	�������������������
���2��������
��

�����������������2�����������
��
#�������������������'������ ��������

�������#�����
��
#���������
#�������
�����2��
�����
��##������#���� ����������	��

�����������������
#���������2�����
������
�����
�������������������������������

 ��������
���
������ �������������
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
������'����

�
�����������'��������#
���������������
�������������	�/�3

� '��������'������

�����������
#�����
�������
�������� ��������
������������������������ �'��������

����������������� 
����������� ��� ����

�;��!���$
�����������������������'������
#��
�����
����'��� ������������2�

�
�����
������� ���������
 ���� ����
�������;2���������	�'
����'��� ��

�� 
�����'���������
#���������
��������������
��
������������������ �����
��

'�����
 ������
����������������������
���
����"2�'����
�����������
������
��

'������##������#
������$
�������
���
����

����������������������� 
��������


�����
�����

�4��,������,���$
��
���
�������������������
���������������
������
#��������� �

��
����������������������
���������������4���!���������
��
'
������'������
����

��
�������� 
���
#�,���
��������2����������
���
���������
��#�
 �����2�'�������


#�,��!��E������2���������
��
#�<����
B�������)�����D������#��������
��������������

����
��'�������������������"�;2�,��!��E�����������������#�
 ������������
�

Page 122



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������"�

����2������
 ���������
������������� ���
������('
����������� � �8�����

�
�����+��
��������������
�����2���
������ ����� 
���������	�������  ���

 
������������
�	�
��������������A�����������2�����
����42����	��������� ����

��������
����������
��������������
������������
���#�
 �'
������� ���	��	�

������
�����������
���
#�F���
�9�
������)�����������������������
������������� �

�
����������#�����
��������������
��������
������ ���������������
�	�
�������

���������������	�����
�,���������������#�������������
������������
�2�����������

 ���	���
#�����#
� ����
 ����2�*��������������(0����&�	���+�)��2�����������

#�
 ������ '������4��
�3

� '������"2������������
������	���	������2����

�����������
������
#��������� ���
�������
�'�� �����
��������������
������
����

�������'����������	�������  ��� 
��������������
#�������
�	�
�������

�� �������
#�������������

�/��!�
�	��������������
���
#�F���
�9�
������)�������*��������������(0����&�	���+�

)��������
��������������������2�����������
��
������������������������
���

���������
����������������<������ 
��2����������������
����	��
�� �������

�
��������������������������#
�������������������
�2�����������������
�������
���

��

�����#
���������� ���
�����������	�#�
 ����,�������2��.�������������2����

������������2��"�&���������2�<�'������&��������.2������������.�����#�
 �

<�'���������"�#
����������
���� 
�����
� ������;������
�������$
�����B��

�
�����������������
�� ��������
��������
 ���������

����2�������������

����
�����
�������2���������������������������
����� �����������������
�����2�

������
����
�� ��������	

������������
�������������!�������������������������

�
��	������������������
�����
�������2�����������
������2�,���
�����������������

 
���� �
�������
��������

�������<������ 
��2������������$
�������
������
���

��������������
���
��
�����

���������������=*����
�D����
��-
��@2�������
����

�������		�����������������
�������

������������
��
��'������������
�����������
�

����
������ �����
�������

�����������2��� �����������������
�����������

������
�2�,��9��� 
��C�����������
�����$
�����������	�#�
 ������������������
�

���������������
�����
��������'����'��������#�
 ����4���

����!
������8�����������
 ��
#��������������B��'������������
������ �����
��'����

�
��������#�
 �D����
��-
�������
��D�������-
��2����������
������
�����
�

���������
�����
��������'����'����������!��������������
����
��������
���

��

������������������
���������������
���������
#�'������������ ������2�����	������

��������������
#��������������B��'�������2�������������
#�'����������
��
���������

��
���
�'�����	�
������� �����7��������
����#�������������
��������
��'����

 �����
��������������
����������
������
������������������� �'��������

���
�	�
�����������
��/�3

� '���������
�/�3

� '���������������
����!���

�
��������� 
��������������
������'�������
#���
'�'��������<������ 
��2������

 ������
#�#����������	���2���� ������#�����������������
����������� 
�����������

 ��� �������������������
����	��#����������
������������
������������
��'���	�

 ��������� ����	������:��	� ���2�����
�����������
����
#�����#���������������

��������
���'���'��#���������
����������
������
������������������ �'��������

�����	������������ 
�������5�������
������2���� ����'����
������#�������� '���


��#���������
#�����
������������������#�����F������	����)*$�����
���������#���	�

����� �	�����		������C#���G#
�G���B�'��2������������2�����
�����������'���� �����'��

������ '���
#��������� �
���2�������E��
#��������������������E��
#�����

��#��	�����������2��
����������
����������������

�������
���������������������B��������
������������
����' �������������
���
#�����

)*$����������
���8��'���������
�
	�����
#�������#��	�����
�����������������
������

�������������������'����
��������
���������������4������������

#2���������������

����������������������������
�
	���������
����'����
���������������������������

Page 123



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������;�

�������
������� 
���������#����������������� 
�������������2����������
�������

���������������1�������
����8� �����
�2����������������������������� �������

����������
������������
������������
����&���
�	�������������#��	�����
�������
��

����������#�
 ����42�����
�����������������
�����������������������!���������
���

���������
����' ������'��,���$
��
���
���������������������������
�������#�
 �

����2�'������ 
������#�
 �����
�����������������!����
���������
���������

���������B��
����
������������#
�������2�'�������
������������
���
��'�������

���
���

����,��!��E������������������������
������
��������������
������#�
 �����2������

������������������#��	�����
�������
����������������������������2�'������������

����	����
�������������
����#�����������
���
���A�����������2�������������
�����

��� ������������ ����������#��	��������������!��������
������������������

���������B���
��������������������������,��!��E����������
��
�#�� ������������

������������ 
������������������������
�������
��� ������������� ��������
��

����	��'
�����������������<�������������
������������
���#�
 �*������9�������

( ���	��	�������
��
#�9��������<

���(D
�������+�)��+2�����H��	����(������
��
#�

%�
G����0�����������
����
���)��2�#
� �����
#�����H��	����0����������$
������
��+�

��������)��	�(������
��
#���)�-�#��	�����
��)��+��������
�����
����
��������
������

,��9������������������������������#��	������������������������	�
#���������2�

��������������
��	�������
������� 
�����2��������
���������������� ��������������

�� ���
����
����,��H��	�������������2�'�������3

� '��������������������

����2�������������������������������������������������#
��������#��	�����
������2�

����������
������� 
��������������� ����,��)��	�������������'�����������	�
���

��	����� �����������������������
��������#��	�����
��������������������A��

�
�#�� ��������������
������� 
�������������'
�����������

����!�������������	�����������������������,��9���������������������	����������

��#��	�������������������������������������	�
#�����2����������������������������

�������������������!���������������		�����������,��9������� �����
��'����

�

���	�����������
����
#������
��������������#�����2������������������

����
�����

����������!������ 
��������������� �����
���
#����������
�������

����������
��'�����������A
��
��2�����
#�������
����
������2�
���������������2�


��'����#�
#��������������������������������������������#��	�����
������2���'����

����������
������� 
�����2�����'���������
����
��������������������������������
#�

�����
�����������	�
#��������D����
�������������������2��������������B��

�
�����������������������������'���������������������'�#
���/�3

� '���������

����!����
#��
���������
�����������'�������
�������
#�,��9��� 
��2���
�����������

������#��	�������
�����������'�
�	���
��
����������������;2���
�	������
���

�
�#�� ���������������������� 
������#�
 �����
��������'
����/� 
��������
��

�
�,�������������������

#2�����
��������	�'
��2�,��$�����������������#��	�������

���������
����'����
�������#
��=���
�����
#������@��������������
� ��������
��2�

�����������#�����������
��	�������'����������
����
�������#�
 ��'
������"�;���

&�����#�
 ����
'������	��E�������
���������������������
#���'
8�'��2��
���
#�

��������
���
#�,��$�����B���
����#�������������������������#��	�����
����������

�
��������!�����������
���'
����������������
8� ��������/ ���	������'
�������

�������	���,��$�����B��
������������#
����� ����2���
�	���
���
 ��������


'����������

�.��&���
�	������������
 �������
����	�'
��������������	2�,��9��� 
��B���
����

���������#�����#�

��'���

 �����
������������������
���
�2�

���

���	����������

������������#��	����������������
��������!����
�#�����'������������
�����������

�����
#�����������������������������������������#
�����##�������
����
�
�������
��
��

Page 124



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������4�

'����
�������,��9��� 
���������'
��������� �������������#��	�������������� ��


���������&���
�	����������
#������
�������������
�#����	2���� ��������������

	�
������
��������
���2��
�����'����
#��������
������
����A
��
��2�������������2�

��������
����	��'�
�����	���������2�#
������
��� 
�����������2���������
����

���;���<
��
���	����������� ���2�,��9��� 
��������'����
��������
�����
���
#�

�����������������	�
���������������������������������2��
���'�#
�������2�����

#� �����
������
����#
� ����� �
#��
�����
����������2�'��������������
���������

���������
������#�������
����
�����

�"����������
���2�������#�
 �,������,���$
��
���
B��
����
������2���
�����������

�
�������#�
 ���
������
������������������������� ����������������#��	�����
��

�����������

���������������������������������������
 ������	���!���
�����
�������


��
����#�
 �,��!��E������2���
�����
�����	

����
������������������
������

�
�������� ����
���������������#��	�����
�������#�
 ������������
��
�
�����	�

���������
���������	���'������$
��������,��9��� 
�������,��$����������'��

#
�	�
���#
��'���	� ��������

������������
#�����
���
#�������#��	�����
����������#�

�����
�������
#���������������������������������������
�'�����������2������

�
������		�������������������'�������
����������
�����
��
��������� ��
��

�����������������������������������2�#
����������
���	�
��2������#���������

�
�������������� ������#����
������'�������
#���
'�'�����������������#��	�����
��

��������������
����
������������������#�
 ������	����������������������&���
�	��

������������������
����	�������2�������������������
������� 
�����2����


�����
�������

��������#��	������������
����
��
�������������� 2���� ������#����

������������������� ��� �������������
�����������
���������
#������������

�;��&����� ��
���������������������
#�����2��������
�����������#�����#��	������������

������������
������A
��
��2�������������������������������
���	�
#�����#��	�������

�����
#�������E������������
������2�
��� �����2�������#�����!����������
��
����������

���
�����
�������
����
�������������������������������������
���	�
#������	��������

�
�����
��'�����#�������� �������������'����������	���������������� �����������
#�

����#����������	���
����'�������������

4�������������
	��
�

�4��<
����������
���	�
���������
��	���	�����
�����
����� �������������2����
�������


������ �����������������������������������

���
������'�������
#���
'�'������

�������������
#�������
������������������	�
�������6�(�+�#
��������
��	��
#�����
�

���������� �
����#
���
  �����������
���2����'������
#��
�����
���
���������4�

��� ����
�7�����(��+�#
�����������������
#�����
����������
������
���������������

���� �'�������2����'������
#��
�����
���
���������4���� ����
�7�����(���+�#
��

���������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	������2������
  ������
��
��'�#
���/�

3

� '�������������
��������#
������������#�����
  ���� ���������������
��

�
�(�+�����(��+2����������������������
���

���
������'�������
#���
'�'�����������

��������
�����
�����
��������������'���	�'�����������������)*$����������
������

��' ������
��/�3

� '�����������

�/��&��
����	��2�����$
�����B����#�����
#�����)*$������
�������#
�����������������

���
���������������<
����������
���	�
��2��������	��������)*$��� ������
�'��������


#���������
�����
�����
�����������#
�����������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	��

����������������
�����
 ������� 
�����������	��	�9�������'��������������

Page 125



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
���������������/�

���	
	���

�������(��#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

����!����������������
������������������
������������
������������#������
#����#�������


����
��
� ����������'��	������8�����	��������� ��������
���������	���#��������
�

�
 ����������
�����
��������������
����������
�'�����#����

�

�����������
�
�3�%0$!5-�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

�

�

�

�
�

Page 126



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����������������

�����(�5 ���

�

<5-�!A0�&%%0))&3!6�

%������H���E�9&(A
��+��
�����
��

),-!%��

�����������'����������������

A��������� �

!
���$
��
���
� &���������

!�����$
��
���
� &��������B����#��

F�
������
����� &��������B�����
�������

%��������!��E������� ���������

�

<5-�!A0�)5$&)�%)&33�3F�&1!A5-�!I6�

%������������ 3
�����������	�'��������2�� ��
����'��$� '���	��

$����$
�������

����������� �

$���������)��#
���9&(A
��+2�

,���,-!%��

����
��%������2�$� '���	��$����$
������

$�����
�$������ 3��	�'
���

!�����9��� 
��� 3��	�'
���

�

�4 6��51���6���11����1�17���5*6�(8�

�

�� )������#�
 �!�����9��� 
����
�����$
��������#�������
���������������#�
 �������

*�������������3

� '�������2�������������' ���������������&������

>�����
�������

�� &��������
�������#
���������	���� ����
��-�#�$��4��;�"�<%�

�� ��

������������,����������#
��J�������)������,�8�

.� 3
������1��
����������������������&��������4�

"� -��������F���	�������
#������������������&����������

;� )������#�
 �������0�������K�$
�����������'�
��������5��
'��������

4� *���	������&����������� ����������&�	�����������' ���������������

���������
���
�� �����
�����
���
���������	���� ����
��-�#�$��4��;�"�<%�

/� $�
���	���' ����
���#
������$
������

�� $�
���	���' ����
���#
����������������

��� &��������B���
�������������
��

��� 0G �����
�����
�������'��������������������B���
�����
����������$
���������

3

� '�������7�.�*��� '�������2�.�G�;�*��� '�������7���K�����������

�����

�

�

Page 127



&������*�����
��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
������������������Page 128



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
������

� � �,%5-!&3!�35!0��L��00�5J0-�

�

�

�

�

��2�����������!���� ���	�	�����
!5D3�&3*�$513!-I�%)&33�3F�&$!�����6��0$!�53�����

(���� ������'�������
�����
#�����%������	�����$
 �������
��&�������+�

!5D3�&3*�$513!-I�%)&33�3F�(*0J0)5%,03!�,&3&F0,03!�%-5$0*1-0+�(03F)&3*+��

5-*0-�����6�&-!�$)0��"�

�

�1����7�(��8� �(1�9���������
��/�3

� '�������������������� �������

�
���������	�#���������
��
 ����������
�����
���
���� �����
�����':�����
�������

�������	���� ����
������'����	�����������������'����������<�������������������
2����

��������
#���������������#��������������
�����������������
�������	���������������

���'�����
�����������C&B�����������
�����������#�����2���������#�������������� �����	�


#������
�����(�+�����(�+�
#�����!
�������$
������%������	�&��������(���

� �����+2�#
������#
��
���	�����
�6�

�

!����� ��#
����#
��� ��������
�������8�������

�

��	����

�����������
��

�������
��

�

*���6��������������

�

-�#������6��&%%�>�"�"�?���������;;�

�

��������	
��

�

�

!�������
#�������
������������������	�
�������6�(�+�#
��������
��	��
#�����
�������

���� �
����#
���
  �����������
�����������	���	����#�������
�����
�����
�����

����.�
#��������	���� ����
����#�������$��4��;�"�<%����������&�	�������4�(����

���4���� ����
�+�������
�����
��G�����������'�����
�����������C9B�����������
�

�����������
�2�'������������	���	���

���
���2����'������
#��
�����
����2�������.�


#��������4���� ����
�7�(��+�#
�����������������
#�����
����������
������
�������

������������ �'�������2����'������
#��
�����
����
#��������4���� ����
�7�����(���+�

#
�����������
���	�
#�����#��	���������
��	������2�
#�����E������
�������
�
��� ������

�������������������
����
�����������
��/�3

� '�������2������
���
������

��
�
	���������������
������������
�2������
������'������������������	���������

	���	������8��������

�

�
�������	
��

�

)��������4�9�'���� �-
��2�$� '���	�2�$9���-9�

�

�

�

�

Page 129



$0-!�<�$&!0�5<�)&D<1)30���<5-�%)&33�3F�%1-%5�0��

�

�

�

�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

35!0��

!���������#�����������������
�����#
����������
���
#������
������
#�����!
�������

$
������%������	�&��������(���� �����+��

��������#��������������������� ��������
���������	���#��������
��
 �������������

�
�����
��
���� �����
����':�����
��������������	���� ����
������'����	�������

������'����������<�������������������	�������
����������������#��������������
���

�����������������#��2�
�����������#������������2�����2�������
�����'����
�

��#
��� ��������
�2������������
���4��
#����������&��2�
�������������

!���������#��������������
�����
������8�����
#������������� �������������'����������

<�������������������
���������������#��������������
����������������������#����
��

��������������������&�������
�� ��������������� ������������##������#�
 ������

������'��2�
�����������������
�����
���������2� ���������������'������
#��������	�

�
���
��������������'����
���#
��� ��������
��'�������
�����������	�����
�����

Page 130



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

�

�����
!����������������:�;���#�������
��������)��#���*�
��
� ����$����#�����������6��������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�������#�$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

(��������#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

�����6�*5�35!��$&)0�

�

�

Page 131



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

�����
!����������������:�;���#�������
��������)��#���*�
��
� ����$����#�����������6��������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�������#�$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

(��������#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

�����6�*5�35!��$&)0�

�

�

Page 132



��

�
�����������	�
�����	

�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

�

�����0�����
!�������������
�
	�������#�������
��������)��#���*�
��
� ����$����#�����������6�������������


���������������������	��������������������	�	����

�������#�$/���
����!�(����� �!
�	�0��� �$�&(��

(��������#����)*&+&+),)'%)$'-%&..�

�

�

�

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank



1  

 

Cambridge City Council 

Note on the Planning Status of 27 Babraham Road Cambridge 

 

Purpose of this note 

This note is prepared by the local planning authority and is intended to set out the 

Council’s current view of the lawful planning use and activities that can take place at 

27 Babraham Road Cambridge.  

The Council recognises that a lawful mixed use exists at 27 Babraham Road. This 

note will set out the scale and nature of the business activities within the mixed use 

that the Council considers are commensurate with the lawful use. 

The lawful use of 27 Babraham Road 

The lawful use of the property, 27 Babraham Road is as a dwelling house and for the 

storage of up to three ice cream vans for commercial purposes in the garage which 

is shown cross hatched on the attached plan (“B”) 1.(This does not include the 2 bay 

car port extension to the garage built subsequent to permission C/01/05582).The 

vans may be stored in the garage with the doors open and deliveries in connection 

with the ice cream business may be made to the property. A refrigerated storage unit 

of a size similar to or smaller than that shown in the attached photo3 and located 

between the dwelling and the extended garage is also lawful. 

The local planning authority takes the view that the current lawful use4 provides for 

no more than three ice cream vans, owned and operated in association with the 

residential occupation of 27 Babraham Road to be stored in the garage at the 

property when not in use. The Council considers this means they can traverse the 

driveway and hard standing areas that provide access to the garage where they are 

permitted to be stored. It does not provide for them to be stored/stationed outside the 

garages or anywhere else on the property when not in use. The Council also takes 

the view that the vehicles can only be outside the garages at the property when ‘in 

use’, only for the time it takes to move them into and out of the garages at the 

reasonably recognisable start and end of business trading periods.  

                                                
1
 From Planning Permission ref: C/97/0695/FP and Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: 

App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 
2
 Paragraph 14 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

3
 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

4
 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

Page 135



2  

 

The council takes the view that it is lawful for the restocking of the ice cream vans to 

happen when the ice cream vans are not in use at a time of day commensurate with 

the usual business trading hours for this type of business. The lawful use does not 

extend to the areas outside of the garages so by implication does not include use of 

these areas for the re-stocking or stationing of ice cream vehicles. 

Likewise the delivery of any stock reasonably associated with three ice cream vans 

is interpreted as being lawful to happen at the property only for the minimum 

reasonable time to unload stock related deliveries and at times and frequencies 

considered reasonable in relation to the scale and type of lawful business activity 

being serviced from the up to three vehicles stored at this site5. 

The lawful use does not provide for the manufacturing of ice cream of other products 

anywhere on the premises. Nor the provision of or sale to third parties of ice-cream 

and refrigerated products or soft drinks etc. 

There is no permission or lawful use for the storage/stationing of a hot potato cart at 

the property6 and this is not considered to be an ancillary storage activity so is not 

lawful.7 

The Council will review this position from time to time and may reconsider this 

position in the light of new evidence or material that comes forward. 

 

Patsy Dell 

Head of Planning Services 

29/11/2013 

 

Attachments: 

Planning Appeal Decision letter: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

                                                
5
 Paragraph 19, Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

6
 Paragraph 9 Planning Inspector Decision Letter 23/7/13. Ref: App/Q0505/X/13/2193066 

7
 The Planning Service has to report back to the Council’s South Area Committee on the planning 

situation at the site and any outstanding unlawful activities at the site will need to be considered at 

that time.  

Page 136



 

 

 

 

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE                                        23rd June 2014 
 
Application 
Number 

14/0356/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 7th March 2014 Officer Miss 
Catherine 
Linford 

Target Date 2nd May 2014   
Ward Trumpington   
Site Land Between 2 And 3 Shaftesbury Road 

Cambridge CB2 8BW  
Proposal Construction of a new dwelling. 
Applicant Mr G Race 6 Aberdeen Avenue Cambridge CB2 

8DP 
 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 
Development Plan for the following reasons: 

1. It enhances the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. 

2. It does not have significant detrimental 
impact on the residential amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers 

3. It closely conforms to the extant 
permission for a dwelling on the site 
which is a significant material 
consideration. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The application site is situated between Nos. 2 and 3 

Shaftesbury Road, on the east side of the street, within City of 
Cambridge Conservation Area 10 (Brooklands). The site was 
formerly a car park, when No 2 was occupied by the Red Cross 
as offices. 

 
1.2 The ‘square’ of roads formed by Shaftesbury Road, Brooklands 

Avenue (north), Clarendon Road (east), and Fitzwilliam Road 
(south) contains a mix of housing types and styles.  Buildings 
are predominantly in residential use, though there are school 

Agenda Item 11a

Page 137



and CUP premises south of Fitzwilliam Road, offices east of 
Clarendon Road and at 5 Shaftesbury Road a house has been 
converted to office use.  Nos. 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road are 
substantial, double-fronted, Victorian villas, in residential use.  
The Accordia development, a scheme of approximately 380 
houses and flats, is opposite the site on the west side of the 
road, set back behind trees and an area of green space.  The 
Accordia development is now within the Conservation Area.  

 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1  Full planning permission is sought for the erection of a three 

storey, detached dwelling with basement.  The house would be 
rectilinear in footprint, covering almost the full width of the plot, 
and would consist of a basement, ground floor, first floor and 
second floor.  The house will be set off the north and south 
boundaries by 1 metre which it is understood is to comply with a 
restrictive covenant.  The previously approved house on the plot 
occupied the full width.  The restrictive covenant is not a 
material planning consideration. 

 
2.2 The accommodation would be laid out as follows: 
 
 Basement/Lower ground floor:  Utility/living room, studio, lower 

conservatory and store. 
 Ground floor:  Entrance hall, kitchen/dining room, upper 

conservatory, cloakroom and bin and cycle store.  
 First floor:  Salon and two bedrooms both with shared bathroom 
 Second floor:  Study and bedroom with ensuite 

bathrooms/dressing room. 
 
2.3 The application is accompanied by the following supporting 

information: 
 

1. Design and Access Statement 
 
2.4 Amended plans have been submitted which include the 

following amendments: 
 

1 All glazing to the North and South elevations has been 
confirmed as obscured glass. 

2 The overall height of the building to the roof ridge is 
reduced by 0.5 metres 

3 The eaves height is reduced by 0.55 metres 

Page 138



4 The second floor level and the associated external 
balcony are reduced by 0.1 metres 

5 The profile and detail of the attic storey roof have been 
amended 

6 The obscured glass balustrade at the second floor level 
has been moved in by 0.2 metres 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
   
C/04/1040/FUL Erection of one detached 3 bed 

dwelling house (following 
demolition of out buildings. 

A/C 

 
10/1143/FUL 

 
Erection of eco-friendly house. 

 
REF 

   
12/0438/FUL Construction of a new dwelling. REF 
 
12/0505/FUL 
 

 
New dwelling on land adjacent to 
2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road. 

 
Withdrawn 
 

13/0310/FUL New dwelling on land adjacent to 
2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road.(The 
Round House) 

A/C 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     Yes   
  
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 

3/1 3/4 3/7 3/8 3/11 3/12  

4/4 4/11  

5/1 5/14  

8/6 8/10  

10/1 

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 
Government 
Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 
2012 

Circular 11/95 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Documents 

Sustainable Design and Construction 

Planning Obligation Strategy 

Material 
Considerations 

Central Government: 

Letter from Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government (27 
May 2010) 

Written Ministerial Statement: Planning for 
Growth (23 March 2011) 
 

 Area Guidelines: 

 
Conservation Area Appraisal: 
 
Brooklands Avenue (2002 and 2013) 
 

 

Page 140



 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Engineering) 
 
6.1 Application as submitted 
 
 The application states that a new dropped kerb or kerbs will be 

provided on the frontage of the site but provides no further 
details.  The site is fronted by a residents parking bay, which is 
not shown on the plans.  The proposed access would require 
the removal of the bay, which would require an amendment of 
the existing Traffic Regulation Order.  The residents of the 
proposed dwelling would not be eligible for Residents Parking 
Permits.  Further information is needed in relation to car parking 
spaces. 

 
 Conditions are recommended relating to the materials used for 

the driveway, gates, structures on the highway, drainage, 
manoeuvring space, access and the need for a TRO to address 
on street parking.  Informatives are also recommended. 

 
 Application as amended 
 
 No further comments, previous comments apply. 
 

Head of Refuse and Environment 
 
6.2 Application as submitted 
 
 No objection in principle. Conditions are recommended in 

relation to construction hours and piling. 
 
 Application as amended 
 
 No further comments, previous comments apply. 
 

Urban Design and Conservation Team 
 
6.3 The UDC team considers that innovative design in conservation 

areas can be supported when it enhances the character or 
appearance of that area. They note that in regard to this 
particular property, the recently updated Brooklands Avenue 
Conservation Area (2013) notes: “the poor condition of a small 

Page 141



empty site between Nos. 2 and 3 – this needs to be developed 
sensitively ”.  The appraisal therefore contemplates in some 
way the eventual development of this property.  Policy 4/11b) of 
the 2006 Cambridge Local Plan permits new buildings which 
can “provide a successful contrast” with the character or 
appearance of the conservation area. 

 
 The UDC team are of the view that the recently consented 

scheme, the previous “round house” design represented a more 
appropriate scale and mass to fit with the rhythm of the street. 
In so doing it was considered “innovative” in its immediate 
context.   

 
 The property is small relative to neighbouring properties, 

however the property would be “sterilised” permanently if it 
could not be developed.  The revised scheme within this current 
application creates a dwelling with a form more narrow and 
vertical in appearance when contrasted to adjacent dwellings in 
Shaftsbury Road.  The resulting “streetscape” is one where the 
proposal, just in terms of its scale, appears as more of an 
anomaly within this side of Shaftsbury Road, its most relevant 
context.  In particular, the building width (its façade to 
Shaftsbury Road) measures 8 metres; adjacent dwellings 
measure 17 metres for no. 2 and 18 metres for no. 3, inclusive 
of side extensions (when scaled from plan SRC226 submitted 
with the application).  Numbers 1, 4 and 5 similarly are 
significantly wider than the proposed elevation to Shaftsbury 
Road.   

 
 Irrespective of the building width, the UDC team consider that 

the architecture of this current proposal is well considered, 
employs good materials and is a good example of “innovative” 
design in this location.   

 
 The view of the UDC team is that the judgement of whether the 

application is acceptable in planning terms therefore comes 
down to one question alone: is it appropriate to develop a 
property of this size in this location?  The answer must follow a 
finely balanced judgement of this question, and it is therefore 
not as much a question of design, or even conservation, as it is 
about the principle of development of the property.  The 
updated Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area does however 
appear to anticipate the development of the parcel, provided as 
it notes it is done “sensitively”. 

Page 142



 
 Conclusion: 
 
 A modern building which enhances the conservation area could 

sit well in this site providing it respects the character of the 
immediate locality, particularly Shaftesbury Road.  The current 
house design represents a “successful contrast” in the 
Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area.  This is the case not so 
much in terms of its scale (as explained above) but in the 
contemporary nature of its design.   

 
 The approved round house was a better design overall as it 

better “filled out” the property.  Ideally a lot of this size should 
not have been created in this location given it relatively smaller 
scale to neighbouring properties; nevertheless it exists.  

 
 In conclusion, it is therefore principally a planning “question” as 

to whether it is appropriate to develop this property.    If, in 
planning terms, it is appropriate to develop, then the latest 
design is considered suitable for this site.  If not, then the 
question of design is a relatively moot point and the property 
should not be developed in the first place.   

 
 Suggested Conditions: 
 
 External building materials 
 Boundary treatment 
 External hard and soft landscape 
 

Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Tree Team)  
 
6.4 The Arboriculture Officer has not commented on the current 

application but her comments on the previous application were 
as follows: 

 
 Satisfied that the remaining tree on the site can be excluded 

from the construction area and remain unaffected by the 
development subject to installation of tree protection barriers at 
the edge of the root protection area. 

  
6.5 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 

Page 143



 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations: 
� 1 Shaftesbury Road 
� 2 Shaftesbury Road 
� 3 Shaftesbury Road 
� 4 Shaftesbury Road 
� Ravensworth, 21 Brooklands Avenue 
� 5 Clarendon Road 
� 7 Clarendon Road 
� 9 Clarendon Road 
� 17 Clarendon Road (x3) 
� Brooklands Avenue Residents Association (BAARA) 

 
7.2 Application as submitted 
 
 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Character, context and impact on the Conservation Area 
 

� The proposed building is very wide and tall relative to its 
plot and would detract from the feel of the Conservation 
Area 

� A house with a similar design was rejected in 2010 and 
2012.  The proposal is very similar to those and has not 
changed enough to be an enhancement to the 
conservation area 

� Out of context 
� The footprint is too large for the plot and the building will 

loom over adjacent Victorian buildings 
� The footprint is larger than the permitted Round House 

and the rectangular form will make the building more 
dominant and overbearing 

� If approved it would set a precedent for the infilling of 
gaps between houses, which would lead to the loss of 
important green space in the City 

� Would alter the symmetry and the spacing between 
buildings 

� Prevent views between buildings into gardens 
� Balconies and large areas of glazing would be out of 

character with the rest of the street 
� Unacceptable mass and height 

Page 144



� The building has full height and width floors unlike the 
surrounding buildings that have pitched roofs 

� Design does not reflect character and scale of Victorian 
villas and fails to respect the context or character of the 
conservation area 

� The roof form should be altered 
� The eaves height should conform with neighbouring 

houses and is higher than the approved Round House 
 

Residential amenity 
 
� Loss of privacy caused by the extensive glazing and 

balconies at the rear 
� Proposed window to North elevation will overlook living 

space and child’s bedroom 
� The amount of glazing is more substantial than the 

approved Round House and Coach House and will result 
in more overlooking 

� There should be obscured glazing on the Juliet balcony 
� All windows on side elevations should be obscure glazed 
� Site plan does not show full extent of impact on privacy 
� Overshadowing and overlooking of neighbouring 

properties 
� Dominance 
� Light pollution from the large, modern windows 
� The garden is not large enough for the house 
� The height of the building facilitates overlooking of 

surrounding houses which adversely affects privacy 
� Loss of light to neighbouring houses 
� Overshadowing of windows serving living space 
� Glazing to side elevations will affect privacy 
� The development is much more dominant than the 

permitted Coach House building 
� Neighbouring gardens would be faced with a 9 metre high 

wall 
� Existing privacy is dependent on the retained tree which 

does not look healthy 
� Obscure glazing may be changed to clear glass in the 

future 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



Car parking 
 
� Insufficient parking spaces 
� The loss of the on-street parking bay would be detrimental 

to existing households 
� The Design and Access Statement does not refer to 

access and ignores the loss of a pay and display parking 
bay. 

 
Other 
 
� High water table and potential flooding of the basement 
� There is no reference to bin storage 
� Inadequate space for tree planting 
� The proposed building looks like an apartment block and 

could be used for this purpose in the future 
� There were no pre-application discussions with 

neighbours 
� No scales are shown on the plans 
� External materials are not shown 
� There are errors in the Design and Access Statement in 

relation to the use of adjacent buildings, the roof form and 
incorrect annotations 

� Statements regarding the restrictive covenant are 
misleading/not relevant 

 
7.3 Application as amended 
 
 The occupiers of both 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road have 

withdrawn their objections in the light of the amended plans. A 
preference for brick rather than stone is stated in relation to 
external treatment. 

 
7.4 Brooklands Avenue Residents Association has made 

representations on the application as submitted as follows: 
 

o Supports the objections raised by the residents of 3 and 4 
Shaftesbury Road and 5 Clarendon Road 

o Would welcome opportunity to comment on amended 
plans 

o Supports the principle of construction of a dwelling on the 
site but is concerned about the design and massing and 
impact on the Conservation Area and extent of 
overlooking of neighbours. 

Page 146



 
 No further comments have been made by BAARA in the light of 

the amended plans. 
 
7.5 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   
 

8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Context of site, design and impact on the Conservation 

Area 
3. Residential amenity 
4. Refuse arrangements 
5. Highway safety 
6. Car and cycle parking 
7. Third party representations 
8. Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
Background 

 
8.2 There have been a number of applications for single dwellings 

submitted for this plot. In 2004, planning permission was 
granted for a ‘coach house’ (04/1040/FUL) but this was not built. 
In 2010, another planning application was submitted for a large 
house (10/1143/FUL) which was refused. 

 
8.3 In 2012 two applications were submitted. The first 

(12/0505/FUL) was a resubmission of the 2004 application. This 
was withdrawn before it could be determined. The other 
application, (12/0438/FUL) was for a contemporary building. 
This application was refused under delegated powers due to the 
dominance of the proposed building which abutted the common 
boundaries with numbers 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road, and loss 
of privacy to the neighbours due to the levels of glazing and 
terracing to the rear. 

 
8.4 In 2013 planning permission was granted for a ‘Round House’ 

(application reference 13/0310/FUL) which had a circular 

Page 147



footprint.  This design pulled the building away from the 
boundaries to the north and south and the amount of glazing 
was controlled to address the objections in relation to the 2012 
schemes. 

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.5 The provision of extra housing in the City is supported in the 

Cambridge Local Plan (2006).  Policy 5/1 of the Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) maintains that proposals for housing 
developments on windfall sites will be permitted subject to the 
existing land use and compatibility with adjoining land uses.  
There are previous planning permissions for residential 
development on this site, therefore the principle of residential 
development is acceptable.   

 
Context of site, design and impact on the Conservation 
Area 

 
8.6 The site is currently vacant and overgrown with vegetation and 

was formerly the garden to what is now 2 Shaftesbury Road. 
When the Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal 
(2002) was written, 2 Shaftesbury Road was still the County 
Headquarters of the British Red Cross Society ‘part of whose 
rear and side garden has been taken over by car parking and 
storage sheds’. The Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area 
Appraisal (2013), refers to the fact that No.2 has now been 
converted back into a family home. It also mentions the poor 
condition of this site which ‘needs to be developed sensitively’. 

 
8.7 The Cambridge Local Plan Policy 4/11 (b) states that the design 

of any new building should preserve or enhance the character 
or appearance of the conservation area by ‘faithfully reflecting 
its context or providing a successful contrast with it’. The 
National Planning Policy Framework in section 12, Conserving 
and Enhancing the Historic Environment, refers to the 
‘desirability of new development making a positive contribution 
to local character and distinctiveness’, and that new 
development in conservation areas should enhance ‘or better 
reveal their significance’. These matters must be taken into 
consideration when determining any application on this site. 

 
8.8 The character of Shaftesbury Road is one of detached dwellings 

in plots that allow views through to the trees in the gardens 

Page 148



beyond. This is somewhat curtailed by the modern extension to 
No.5. In addition, due to a number of single storey side 
extensions, and garages, the original layout of the houses has 
been heavily altered and some of the gaps have been lessened 
as a result, albeit only at ground floor level. 

 
8.9 The current application relates to a more traditional building 

footprint but retains a low pitched roof incorporating an ‘attic 
storey, balconies and glazing which give the house a more 
contemporary appearance.  The site is constrained in size 
particularly in comparison with adjacent plots and would not 
accommodate a house of similar footprint to its neighbours.  In 
this sense the proposed dwelling could be regarded as out of 
character with the area. However as the UDC team have 
pointed out innovative design in Conservation Areas can be 
supported when it enhances the character or appearance of that 
area.  

 
8.10 The approval of the ‘Round House’ has established that a 

dwelling is capable of being successfully accommodated on the 
site.  The proposed dwelling would have the same effect as the 
approved dwelling in filling in a gap in the street frontage.  At the 
time when the ‘Round House’ was permitted it was accepted 
that the streetscene of this part of the Conservation Area is not 
made up a consistent series of buildings and gaps and that 
towards the Brooklands Avenue end, the gaps are smaller due 
to a number of single storey extensions to dwellings.  This 
situation has not changed and in my view it would be difficult to 
argue that principle of a building of similar height and mass to 
the Round House is unacceptable. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



8.11 The following table compares the dimensions of the approved 
Round House with the proposed dwelling (as amended). 

 
 Round House Proposed 

dwelling 
Maximum height 9.5m 9m 
Height to eaves 
(Shaftesbury Road 
elevation) 

7.9m 8m 

Maximum width 10m 8m 
Minimum/Maximum 
distance from North/South 
boundary 

0.1m/2m* 1m 

Maximum depth including 
balcony 

10.1m 10.6m 

 
 *Measured at projecting balcony 
 
8.12 The comparison table shows that at their maximum extent the 

Round House and the proposed house are very similar.  
However the footprint of the two dwellings is different and this 
has an influence upon both the impact on the streetscene and 
residential amenity.  The latter is considered in the next section 
of my report. 

 
8.13 The round footprint of the Round House is unconventional but 

does have the advantage of ‘pulling’ the built form away from 
the boundaries.  However it is still a substantial building 
occupying the full width of the plot.  The proposed house 
however is set off both the north and south boundaries allowing 
greater space between buildings on the Shaftesbury Road 
frontage.  In my view the position of the respective buildings on 
the plot will result in them having a very similar impact on the 
streetscene.  Given the extant permission for the Round House 
in my view it would be difficult to justify refusal on the grounds of 
impact on the streetscene and the Conservation Area. 

 
8.14 There are both similarities and differences between the 

elevational treatment of the Round House and the proposed 
house.  Both have full height projecting features and a strong 
vertical alignment of windows to the Shaftesbury Road elevation 
which responds well to the projecting bay elements on adjacent 
buildings.  Both roofs feature a combination of set-backs, 
balconies and change in materials but the proposed houses has 

Page 150



a rectilinear roof shape whilst the Round House is circular.   
Both houses are proposed to be finished in a similar palette of 
materials although the use of brick or stone is yet to be agreed.  
The external space to the road frontage is shown in the same 
way on both schemes.  I recommend that details of external 
materials, boundary treatment and the landscaping to the front 
of the proposed dwelling are required by conditions (5, 7 and 8) 

 
8.15 I have carefully considered the comments of the Urban Design 

and Conservation (UDC) team.  In my view the response to the 
question that they raise is ‘yes’ it is appropriate to develop the 
site.  BAARA also agree with this view. I share the view of the 
UDC team that in many ways the Round House would have 
been a more successful building in the streetscene.  However 
the current application needs to be considered on its own merits 
and in the light of the approved Round House which is a 
material consideration.  In my opinion the current proposal will 
have a positive impact on the Conservation Area and is a 
successful building in its own right. 

 
8.16 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/12, and 4/11.  
 

Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 

8.17 The 2012 application was refused on the grounds of the impact 
that the proposed house would have on the amenities enjoyed 
by the occupiers of 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road.  In particular 
there were concerns about the dominance and overbearing 
nature of the proposed house and the potential for loss of 
privacy.  I have reviewed this decision and considered the 
implications of the decision to approve the Round House and 
conclude that the proposed dwelling will not have an adverse 
impact on residential amenity for the reasons set out below.  It 
is also worth noting that the occupiers of both houses have now 
withdrawn their objections to the current application and that the 
previous refusal only related to the impact on the occupiers of 2 
and 3 Shaftesbury Road and no other neighbours. 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



Dominance and enclosure 
 
8.18 I have visited the houses and gardens of 2 and 3 Shaftesbury 

Road.  2 Shaftesbury Road has single storey extensions on its 
southern side, and the side extension at the front only has 
windows on the side, which serve a ground floor room with a 
mezzanine floor above, facing the development site. 3 
Shaftesbury Road has an extension on the northern side, which 
includes windows on the side that serve a utility room and 
study. 

  
8.19 The side walls of the proposed house would be 7.8m in height 

and 10.6m in depth (excluding the conservatory which will be 
obscured by the boundary treatment).  The height and depth of 
the refused scheme was 8.6m/7m and 11.9m respectively. The 
refused scheme also placed the dwelling on the boundary 
whereas the current scheme sets the house off the boundary by 
1m on each side.  The Round House scheme although also on 
the boundary at its nearest point had the benefit of ‘pulling’ 
away from the boundary so that the extent of wall within 1m of 
the boundary was limited to a 6m depth.  In my view the 
reduced depth and increased set back from the boundary 
successfully mitigate against the adverse impact of dominance 
and being overbearing on the neighbouring houses. 

 
 Overshadowing and loss of light 
 
8.20 Shadow diagrams have been submitted as part of the 

application.  Due to the height of the proposed house, its close 
proximity to the neighbouring properties, and the orientation of 
the buildings, the proposed dwelling would cast some shadow 
over 2 Shaftesbury Road, as it would stand to the south of this 
neighbour.  However, due to the positioning of the proposed 
house and layout of the neighbour’s main rooms and size of its 
garden, it is my view that it will not significantly impact on the 
level of light reaching any of the neighbour’s main living spaces 
or garden area.  

 
8.21 I acknowledge that the windows in the side extension of No. 2 

would experience less light as a result of the proposal, but this 
would not be to an extent that would be any significantly worse 
than the previously approved schemes.  

 
 

Page 152



 Overlooking and loss of privacy 
 
8.22 Currently the rear gardens of 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road are 

predominantly private spaces.  The most private part of the rear 
garden of 3 Shaftesbury Road (i.e. the area closest to the 
house) is overlooked by windows at the side of 2 Shaftesbury 
Road but at a distance of 20m. Interlooking into the remaining 
gardens between the properties is limited by tree planting, the 
generous space between the buildings and the angle of view. 

 
8.23 The current scheme as amended includes obscured glazing to 

the north and south elevations.  Concern has been raised that 
the obscure glazing would be replaced with clear glass in the 
future.  To prevent this, I recommend a condition requiring that 
all obscured glass shown on the submitted plans will be 
installed prior to occupation and remain as such (9).  If this 
condition is breached, it will be open to the local planning 
authority to consider enforcement action. 

 
8.24 The rear elevation of the proposed house includes two Juliet 

balconies.  The balcony to the first floor has a low level 
balustrade and will allow limited views over the garden.  The 
second floor balcony has a high level obscured screen which 
will provide high level clear glazing to the study/dressing room 
only.  The views over the retained garden of 2 Shaftesbury 
Road will therefore be very restricted in comparable way to the 
approved schemes. 

 
8.25 In my opinion the proposal adequately respects the residential 

amenity of its neighbours and the constraints of the site and I 
consider that it is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4 and 3/7. 

 
Amenity for future occupiers of the site 

 
8.26 The proposal includes a garden at the rear of the property of 

approximately 10m.  This garden is not large, and is 
considerably smaller than the rear gardens of other houses in 
the area, but I consider it to be acceptable. 

 
8.27 In my opinion, the proposal provides a high-quality living 

environment and an appropriate standard of residential amenity 
for future occupiers, and I consider that in this respect it is 

Page 153



compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 
3/12. 

 
Refuse Arrangements 

 
8.28 Bin storage is proposed within the building envelope.  No 

concerns have been raised by Environmental Health but to 
ensure that the store is adequate I recommend a condition 
requiring details of bin storage (11). 

 
8.29  In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 3/12. 
 

Car and Cycle Parking 
 
 Car Parking 
 
8.30 In common with the approved Round House scheme off-street 

parking spaces will be available at the front of the house, and it 
is proposed that vehicles will be able to enter and leave the 
frontage in a forward gear.  Similarly, due to the existence of an 
on-street parking bay and the positioning of a lamppost, access 
will be problematic but will be possible.  It is my view that this is 
acceptable.  It will be for the applicants to pursue any necessary 
Traffic Regulation Orders to relocate the parking bay and I have 
added an informative to this effect (17). 

 
 Cycle Parking 
 
8.31 In common with the approved Round House scheme a cycle 

store is proposed within the house.  This meets the standards 
detailed in Appendix D (Cycle Parking Standards) of Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) and is acceptable. 

 
8.32 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  
 

Third Party Representations 
 

8.33 I have dealt with issues raised regarding the character, context 
and impact on the Conservation Area and Residential Amenity 
in the sections above.   Outstanding matters and my response 
are as follows: 

 

Page 154



 Loss of on street parking bay 
 
8.34 I do not consider that the loss of the on street parking bay will 

have a significantly detrimental impact on existing residents.  
Most residents have off street car parking on their property.  
The lack of reference to the on street parking bay in the Design 
and Access Statement (DAS) is not crucial to the assessment of 
the application and is clearly a matter that needs to be resolved 
outside the planning process. 

 
High water table and potential flooding of the basement 

 
8.35 This is not a material planning consideration. 
 
 Inadequate space for tree planting 
 
8.36 There is adequate space for tree planting on the street frontage 

while still providing necessary car parking space. 
 
 The proposed building looks like an apartment block and could 

be used for this purpose in the future 
 
8.37 I think it very unlikely that the house could be converted to flats 

but planning permission would be needed for such a change of 
use. 

 
 There were no pre-application discussions with neighbours 
 
8.38 The applicant is encouraged to have pre-application 

discussions but the absence of such discussions is not 
adequate grounds for refusal. 

 
 No scales are shown on the plans, External materials are not 

shown, There are errors in the Design and Access Statement in 
relation to the use of adjacent buildings, the roof form and 
incorrect annotations 

 
8.39 The plans are to scale and external materials are shown on the 

amended plans.  There are minor errors in the DAS but these 
are not fatal to the proper consideration of the application. 

 
 
 

Page 155



 Statements regarding the restrictive covenant are 
misleading/not relevant 

 
8.40 The restrictive covenant is not a material planning consideration 

and the Committee should not take it into account in 
determining the application. 

 
Planning Obligations  
 

8.41 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have 
introduced the requirement for all local authorities to make an 
assessment of any planning obligation in relation to three tests.  
If the planning obligation does not pass the tests then it is 
unlawful.  The tests are that the planning obligation must be: 

 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms;  

(b) directly related to the development; and  

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
In bringing forward my recommendations in relation to the 
Planning Obligation for this development I have considered 
these requirements. The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) 
provides a framework for expenditure of financial contributions 
collected through planning obligations.  The applicants have 
indicated their willingness to enter into a S106 planning 
obligation in accordance with the requirements of the Strategy 
and relevant Supplementary Planning Documents.  The 
proposed development triggers the requirement for the following 
community infrastructure:  

 
Open Space  

 
8.42 The Planning Obligation Strategy requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision or 
improvement of public open space, either through provision on 
site as part of the development or through a financial 
contribution for use across the city. The proposed development 
requires a contribution to be made towards open space, 
comprising outdoor sports facilities, indoor sports facilities, 
informal open space and provision for children and teenagers. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows. 

Page 156



 
8.43 The application proposes the erection of one three-bedroom 

house.  A house or flat is assumed to accommodate one person 
for each bedroom. The totals required for the new buildings are 
calculated as follows: 

 
Outdoor sports facilities 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 238 238   
1 bed 1.5 238 357   
2-bed 2 238 476   
3-bed 3 238 714 1 714 
4-bed 4 238 952   
Total 714 

 
Indoor sports facilities 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 269 269   
1 bed 1.5 269 403.50   
2-bed 2 269 538   
3-bed 3 269 807 1 807 
4-bed 4 269 1076   
Total 807 

 
Informal open space 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 242 242   
1 bed 1.5 242 363   
2-bed 2 242 484   
3-bed 3 242 726 1 726 
4-bed 4 242 968   
Total 726 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 157



Provision for children and teenagers 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 0 0  0 
1 bed 1.5 0 0  0 
2-bed 2 316 632   
3-bed 3 316 948 1 948 
4-bed 4 316 1264   
Total 948 

 
8.44 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010) and the Cambridge City Council Open Space Standards 
Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation (2010), I am 
satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 3/8 and 10/1 and the Planning Obligation 
Strategy 2010 and the Cambridge City Council Open Space 
Standards Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation 
(2010) 

 
Community Development 

 
8.45 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to community development 
facilities, programmes and projects. This contribution is £1256 
for each unit of one or two bedrooms and £1882 for each larger 
unit. The total contribution sought has been calculated as 
follows: 

 
Community facilities 
Type of unit £ per unit Number of such 

units 
Total £ 

1 bed 1256   
2-bed 1256   
3-bed 1882 1 1882 
4-bed 1882   
Total 1882 

 
8.46 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 

Page 158



Local Plan (2006) policies 5/14 and 10/1 and the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010. 

 
Waste 

 
8.47 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision of 
household waste and recycling receptacles on a per dwelling 
basis. As the type of waste and recycling containers provided 
by the City Council for houses are different from those for flats, 
this contribution is Ł75 for each house and Ł150 for each flat. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows: 

 
Waste and recycling containers 
Type of unit £ per unit Number of such 

units 
Total £ 

House 75 1 75 
Flat 150   
Total 75 

 
8.48 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7, 3/12 and 10/1 and the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010. 

 
 Monitoring 
 
8.49 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the costs of monitoring 
the implementation of planning obligations.  It was agreed at 
Development Plans Scrutiny Sub- Committee on 25 March 
2014 that from 1 April 2014 monitoring fees for all financial and 
non-financial planning obligations will be 5% of the total value of 
those financial contributions (up to a maximum of £50,000) with 
the exception of large scale developments when monitoring 
costs will be agreed by negotiation.  For this application a 
monitoring fee of £257.60 is required. 

 
 Planning Obligations Conclusion 
 
8.50 It is my view that the planning obligation is necessary, directly 

related to the development and fairly and reasonably in scale 
and kind to the development and therefore the Planning 

Page 159



Obligation passes the tests set by the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 This site has a complex planning history and concerns have 

been raised about the impact which any development will have 
on the character of the Conservation Area and the amenities 
enjoyed by neighbours both in relation to this scheme and 
previous schemes.  The approval of the Round House is a 
significant material consideration and my assessment has 
demonstrated that there is a high degree of similarity between 
that approved schemed and the current scheme. 

 
9.2 In my view the proposed development will have a positive 

impact on the Conservation Area and potential adverse impacts 
on residential amenity have been successfully mitigated.   I 
recommend that the application be approved. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
APPROVE subject to the satisfactory completion of the 
s106 agreement by 31 August 2014 and subject to the 
following conditions and reasons for approval: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
   
 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans as listed on this decision 
notice. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of 

doubt and to facilitate any future application to the Local 
Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

Page 160



3. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 
authority no construction work or demolition shall be carried out 
or plant operated other than between the following hours: 0800 
hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 0800 hours to 1300 
hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public 
Holidays. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13)  
  
4. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority, there should be no collection or deliveries to the site 
during the demolition and construction stages outside the hours 
of 0700 hrs and 1900 hrs on Monday - Saturday and there 
should be no collections or deliveries on Sundays or Bank and 
public holidays. 

  
 Reason: Due to the proximity of residential properties to this 

premises and that extensive refurbishment will be required, the 
above conditions are recommended to protect the amenity of 
these residential properties throughout the redevelopment in 
accordance with policies 4/13 and 6/10 of the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) 

 
5. No development shall take place until samples of the materials 

to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  This should 
include a brick sample panel constructed on site.  Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the external surfaces 

is appropriate. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/12 
and 3/14) 

 

Page 161



6. Details of the specification and position of fencing, or any other 
measures to be taken for the protection of any trees from 
damage during the course of development, shall be submitted 
to the local planning authority for its written approval, and 
implemented in accordance with that approval before any 
equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for 
the purpose of development (including demolition). The agreed 
means of protection shall be retained on site until all equipment, 
and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 
Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area protected in 
accordance with this condition, and the ground levels within 
those areas shall not be altered nor shall any excavation be 
made without the prior written approval of the local planning 
authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the visual amenity of the area and to ensure 

the retention of the trees on the site. (Cambridge Local Plan 
2006 policies 3/4, 3/11, 3/12 and 4/4) 

 
7. No development shall take place until full details of both hard 

and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority and these works shall 
be carried out as approved.  These details shall include 
proposed finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car 
parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access and 
circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; minor artefacts and 
structures (eg furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage 
units, signs, lighting); proposed and existing functional services 
above and below ground (eg drainage, power, communications 
cables, pipelines indicating lines, manholes, supports); retained 
historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where 
relevant. Soft Landscape works shall include planting plans; 
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of 
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate and an implementation 
programme. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that 

suitable hard and soft landscape is provided as part of the 
development. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 
and 3/12) 

 

Page 162



8. No development shall take place until there has been submitted 
to and approved by the local planning authority in writing a plan 
indicating the positions, design, materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected.  The boundary treatment shall be 
completed in accordance with a timetable agreed in writing with 
the local planning authority.  Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure an appropriate boundary treatment is 

implemented. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 
and 3/12) 

 
9. All glazing identified as being obscured glazing on the 

submitted plans shall be obscure glazed to a minimum level of 
obscurity to conform to Pilkington Glass level 3 or equivalent 
and fixed shut prior to occupation and shall be retained as such 
thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of residential amenity (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 3/12). 
 
10. Prior to the commencement of development full details of a 

method for of dust suppression shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006, policy 4/13) 
 
11. Prior to occupation of the use hereby permitted, details of the 

on-site storage facilities for waste, including waste for recycling 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The approved arrangements shall be 
retained thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby residents/occupiers 

and in the interests of visual amenity (in accordance with 
policies 4/13 and 6/10 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 

 

Page 163



12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), no windows or dormer windows other than those 
expressly authorised by this permission shall be constructed. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 3/14) 
  
13. No unbound material shall be used in the surface finish of the 

driveway within 6 metres of the highway boundary of the site. 
  
 Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the 

highway in the interests of highway safety. (Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006, policy 8/2) 

 
14. Notwithstanding the provision of Class A of Schedule 2, Part 2 

of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995, (or any order revoking, amending or 
re-enacting that order) no gates shall be erected across the 
approved access unless details have first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. (Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006, policy 8/2) 
 
15. The access shall be constructed with adequate drainage 

measures to prevent surface water runoff onto the adjacent 
public highway, in accordance with a scheme submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the Highway Authority. 

  
 Reason: To prevent surface water discharging to the highway. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006, policy 8/2) 
 
16. The manoeuvring area shall be provided as shown on the 

drawings and retained free of obstruction. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. (Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006, policy 8/2) 
 
 INFORMATIVE:  The applicant is advised that a Traffic 

Regulation Order will be required in order to relocate the on-
street parking bay. 

Page 164



 
 INFORMATIVE:  The applicant is advised that the residents of 

the new dwelling will not qualify for Residents' Permits (other 
than visitor permits) within the existing Residents' Parking 
Schemes operating on surrounding streets 

 
 INFORMATIVE:  New development can sometimes cause 

inconvenience, disturbance and disruption to local residents, 
businesses and passers by. As a result the City Council runs a 
Considerate Contractor Scheme aimed at promoting high 
standards of care during construction. The City Council 
encourages the developer of the site, through its building 
contractor, to join the scheme and agree to comply with the 
model Code of Good Practice, in the interests of good 
neighbourliness. Information about the scheme can be obtained 
from The Considerate Contractor Project Officer in the Planning 
Department (Tel: 01223 457121). 

 
Unless prior agreement has been obtained from the Head 
of Planning, in consultation with the Chair and 
Spokesperson of this Committee to extend the period for 
completion of the Planning Obligation required in 
connection with this development, if the Obligation has not 
been completed by 31st August 2014, or if Committee 
determine that the application be refused against officer 
recommendation of approval, it is recommended that the 
application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
The proposed development does not make appropriate 
provision for public open space, community development 
facilities, waste facilities, and monitoring in accordance with 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/7, 3/8, 3/12, 5/5, 5/14, 
8/3 and 10/1 and as detailed in the Planning Obligation Strategy 
2010, and the Open Space Standards Guidance for 
Interpretation and Implementation 2010 
 
In the event that the application is refused, and an Appeal 
is lodged against the decision to refuse this application, 
delegated authority is sought to allow officers to negotiate 
and complete the Planning Obligation required in 
connection with this development 

Page 165



Page 166

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 167



Page 168

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 169



Page 170

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 171



Page 172

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 173



Page 174

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 175



Page 176

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 177



Page 178

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE  23rd June 2014 
 
 
Application 
Number 

14/0208/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 28th March 2014 Officer Mrs Angela 
Briggs 

Target Date 23rd May 2014   
Ward Queen Ediths   
Site 38 Almoners Avenue Cambridge CB1 8PA 
Proposal Demolish existing detached dwelling and erect two 

detached dwellings. 
Applicant C/o Agent  
 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 
Development Plan for the following reasons: 

� The proposed development respects 
the form and character of the area; 

� The proposed development would not 
have a significant adverse impact on 
neighbours; 

� The proposed development would not 
be detrimental to trees which are the 
subject of a Tree Preservation Order 

� The scheme successfully addresses 
the reasons for refusal of the 2013 
scheme. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The site lies to the south-east of Cambridge and is accessed 

from Queen Edith’s Way.  Pedestrian access is also gained 
from Bowers Croft to the south via a public footpath.  The site is 
currently occupied by a two storey detached dwelling (currently 
vacant) with a detached single garage accessed from Almoners 
Avenue.  Almoners Avenue is characterised mainly by detached 
two storey properties built in the 1960s.  To the north is 
Topcliffe Way which is wholly residential and of a similar 

Agenda Item 11b

Page 179



character.  To the south east is Bowers Croft which is also 
residential.  The site is situated at the end of a cul-de-sac and 
the plot is substantially bigger than the others along Almoners 
Avenue.  There is an electricity sub-station situated on the edge 
of the plot (but not inside it), and it is separated around its 
perimeter by a boundary fence.  The site does not fall within the 
Conservation Area or the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). 

 
1.2 On the western boundary of the site are three mature trees, a 

Lime, a Beech and a Cherry tree.  To the front of the existing 
dwelling is a Silver Birch tree.  These trees are protected by a 
Preservation Order (TPO). 

 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 The full application proposes to demolish the existing dwelling 

and garage, and erect two detached four bedroom houses with 
ancillary parking. 

 
2.2 The application follows a previous application (Ref: 

13/0891/FUL) for three dwellings, which was refused, and is 
currently subject of an appeal. 

 
2.3 There were four reasons for refusal which are as follows: 
 

1. The proposal for the erection of three dwellings on the site 
would introduce a form of development that would be 
contrary to the prevailing form and character of Almoners 
Avenue.  The proposed dwellings would occupy a large 
proportion of the plot, particularly in the case of plots 1 and 2 
on the amended layout plan, and therefore would appear to 
be at odds with the existing plot ratio of Almoners Avenue in 
which the house to plot ratio is more uniform comprising of 
detached dwellings within spacious rectangular shaped plots.  
The erection of three dwellings on the site is therefore 
considered to result in a cramped form of development and 
not in keeping with the character of the area.  The proposed 
development therefore fails to comply with the aims and 
objectives of Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 
3/10, 3/11 and 3/12. 
 

2. The proposed development, in particular plots 1 and 2, would 
provide a poor standard of private amenity for the future 
occupiers by virtue of being severely over-shadowed by the 

Page 180



existing mature trees along the rear boundary, and by the 
lack of natural light that the rear garden would receive due to 
their orientation on the site.  The proposed development 
would therefore be contrary to the aims and objectives of the 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 3/10. 

 
3. The proposed development would have an impact on the 

existing remaining trees on the site.  The application was not 
accompanied by a full Arboricultural report and as such the 
extent of the impact of the proposed development on the 
trees in unknown.  The trees are considered to make a 
positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area and to 
the site itself.  The application fails to provide sufficient 
information to confirm that the trees will not be adversely 
affected by the proposed development and as such is 
contrary to the aims and objectives of the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) policy 4/4. 

 
4. The proposed development does not make appropriate 

provision for public open space, community development 
facilities, waste facilities and monitoring in accordance with 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/7, 3/8, 3/12 and 5/14. 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 
policies P6/1 and P9/8 and as detailed in the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010 and the Open Space Standards 
Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation 2010. 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
13/0891/FUL Demolish existing detached 

dwelling and erect three detached 
dwellings. 

Refused.  
Appeal 
pending. 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      No  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     No  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 

3/1 3/4 3/7 3/8 3/11 3/12 

4/4 4/7 

5/1 5/14  

8/2 8/6 8/10  

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 
Government 
Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 
2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 
Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Guidance 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste 
Partnership (RECAP): Waste Management 
Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document (February 2012) 
 
Planning Obligation Strategy  (March 2010)  
 

 City Wide Guidance 
 
Arboricultural Strategy (2004) 
 
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential 
Developments (2010) 
 

 
 

Page 182



5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

 
For the application considered in this report, there are no 
policies in the emerging Local Plan are of relevance/the 
following policies in the emerging Local Plan are of relevance: 
 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways Development 
Management) 

 
6.1 No objection. 
 

Head of Refuse and Environment 
 
6.2 No objections subject to conditions relating to: Construction 

Hours, Collections/deliveries during construction, Dust, Piling, 
Electricity Sub-station (noise). 

  
 Cambridge City Council Nature Conservation Officer 
 
6.3 No objection to the submitted Ecology report.  Recommend 

condition to enhance the habitat for birds and bat boxes as per 
the manufacturers guidelines.  

 
6.4 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
 
 

Page 183



7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations: 
 
 Neither supporting nor objecting: 
 

� 7 Bowers Croft; 
� 53 Almoners Avenue 
 
Objecting: 
 
� 36, 49, 51, 59 Almoners Avenue 
� 14 Topcliffe Way 

 
7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Neither supporting nor objecting: 
 

� No objection to the revised plans , provided that the fencing 
along the SSW boundary is maintained; 

� Glad to see proposal reduced from three to two houses; 
� Concern about the access to the site and the use of the 

cycle-footpath adjacent to the proposed properties; 
� Uninspiring design, but fits in well with the area; 
� Concern with construction vehicles and deliveries/parking; 
� Concern that houses will be rented out for multiple 

occupancy. 
 

Objecting: 
 

� Breaches the restrictive covenant on the property; 
� The proposal would over-shadow and over-look no.36 

Almoners Avenue; 
� Loss of privacy and loss of light; 
� Inappropriate development in the area and out of character; 
� Why is this development needed when an area of Green Belt 

land (Worts’ Causeway – GB1) has just been released for 
housing development, not far away from Almoners Avenue? 

� Inadequate access; 
� Increase in traffic in the area; 
� Drainage problems; 
� The height of the houses should be reduced (existing height 

= 6.85m, proposed height = 7.8m); 

Page 184



� Trees need to me maintained along the boundaries. 
 
7.3 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   

 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Context of site, design and external spaces 
3. Trees and Landscaping 
4. Residential amenity 
5. Refuse arrangements 
6. Highway safety 
7. Car and cycle parking 
8. Third party representations 
9. Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.2 Policy 5/1 of the Local Plan is generally supportive of residential 

development.  Proposals for housing development on windfall 
sites will be permitted subject to existing land use and 
compatibility with adjoining uses.  I am aware that this site is 
situated within a built up residential area, therefore the principle 
of further residential development on this site is supported. 
Furthermore, the principle of development on garden land is 
normally considered to be acceptable, subject to other material 
considerations.  Garden land was considered to be brownfield 
land in PPG3 (now abolished).  However, paragraph 53 of the 
NPPF advises that Local Planning Authorities now need to 
consider whether the loss (or the erosion) of this area as a 
green space to development, would be detrimental to the 
character of the area. In my view, given that the site is tucked 
away at the end of the cul-de-sac and appears to be the only 
plot that is much larger than those along Almoners Avenue, I do 
not consider that the development of the site for residential use, 
would have a significant impact on the character of the area. 

 

Page 185



8.3 The principle of development was not given as a reason for 
refusal on the previous application.   

 
8.4 In my opinion, the principle of the development is acceptable 

and in accordance with policy 5/1 of the Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006). 

 
Context of site, design and external spaces 

 
8.5 Almoners Avenue has a relatively uniform street pattern 

whereby it is characterised by detached dwellings on similar 
sized rectangular-shaped plots.  This pattern is somewhat 
different at the end of the cul-de-sac where the plots become 
less rectangular, but are still relatively spacious given the size 
of the houses occupying them.  No.38 Almoners Avenue is 
situated on an irregular shaped plot and bounded by properties 
at Bowers Croft and Topcliffe Way (both of two-storey detached 
houses).  To the front and crossing along the side of the site is 
a pedestrian footpath which links Almoners Avenue to Bowers 
Croft.  This is lined by a number of semi-mature trees.  Set back 
from the footpath is an electricity sub-station which is enclosed 
entirely and separated from the site and the public footpath, but 
accessed from the footpath.  

 
8.6 The introduction of two detached dwellings on this site, in my 

view, is acceptable.  The reduction of one dwelling, from the 
previous application, has meant that the dwellings benefit from 
more spacious surroundings to reflect the spacious character of 
Almoners Avenue.  The shape of the site is an anomaly which 
does not reflect the more formal plot shapes of Almoners 
Avenue, and thus the potential to create a sustainable 
development for residential.   

 
8.7 Due to the narrow frontage, the proposed dwellings have been 

pushed back into the site.  The architecture of Almoners 
Avenue and Bowers Croft is characterised by houses set back a 
short distance from the street and to some extent the position of 
the houses will be an anomaly.  The style of existing houses is 
very traditional with pitched roofs parallel the street and 
brick/weather boarding frontages.  The proposed buildings are 
of a similar style to the existing houses. As they are pushed 
back, the proposed dwellings would not be as visible in the 
street scene, than the existing houses along Almoners Avenue, 
are. Notwithstanding this, I do not consider that the proposed 

Page 186



design approach would significantly harm the integrity of the 
streetscene and they would be read as being a later addition to 
the street.  The different designs of Plot 1 and Plot 2 help to 
bring interest to the development whilst still maintaining the 
design ethos of the area.  Plot 1 is the dwelling nearest to no.7 
Bower Croft.  Plot 2 is nearest no.36 Almoners Avenue.  Plot 1 
will have a detached single garage, perpendicular to the 
dwelling.  Plot 2 would have an attached garage. 

 
8.8 The access to the site would be from the existing point.  To the 

rear of the proposed plots, the site would be separated to create 
two residential curtilages.  The proposed development, in my 
view, provides sufficient amenity space which also reflects the 
character of Almoners Avenue.  The mature landscaping along 
the rear and side boundaries will be enhanced to ensure that 
privacy is maintained to those dwellings beyond the site 
boundaries who are no.7 Bowers Croft, nos.12 and 14 Topcliffe 
Way and no.36 Almoners Avenue.  Further consideration of the 
trees and landscaping is discussed below. 

 
8.9 The proposal, subject of this application, seeks to address the 

first reason for refusal, by reducing the number of dwellings 
from three to two, allowing for larger plot sizes and a better 
relationship with the surrounding built environment.  The 
proposal would also concur with the character of the area of 
relatively large dwellings, set back from the road, situated on 
spacious plots.  

 
8.10 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11, 3/12.  
 
 Trees and Landscaping 
 
8.11 Since the refusal of the previous application, 4no. trees have 

been served a Protection Order.  These trees are considered to 
have a high amenity value and therefore should be retained.  
Three of these trees are along the south western boundary of 
the site, and a Silver Birch which is on the site frontage.  The 
proposed plans indicate that these trees are to be retained and 
therefore this is supported.  The neighbours are concerned 
about how the trees will be maintained.  I consider that a 
condition relating to tree protection would be reasonable in this 
case (condition 4). 

 

Page 187



8.12 In terms of general landscaping on the site, the plans indicate 
various areas of soft landscaping, to the frontage, as well as to 
the rear, with some areas of hard landscaping.   

 
8.13 The proposal, subject of this application, seeks to overcome the 

third reason for refusal by retaining the protected trees and 
ensuring that the dwellings are kept away from the tree canopy.  
This is therefore supported and would help to enhance the 
development by retaining important existing trees on the site. 

 
8.14 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/11 and 4/4.  
 

Residential Amenity 
 

Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 
8.15 The site abuts four neighbours; 36 Almoners Avenue, to the 

east, nos.12 & 14 Topcliffe Way, to the north, and no.7 Bowers 
Croft to the west.  Nos. 12 & 14 Topcliffe Way are furthest away 
and sit on relatively spacious plots.  The rear boundary 
treatment of these properties are quite mature and, in my view, I 
do not consider that the proposed development would have a 
significant impact on their amenity due to the distances between 
them. The distance from the rear of the new dwellings to no.12 
Topcliffe Way is approximately 35m.  The distance from the 
same point from 14 Topcliffe Way is 31m.  Elsewhere, the site 
boundaries are currently also mature on both sides.  I 
understand that some planting will need to be removed in order 
to accommodate the proposed development.  Boundary 
treatment details could be secured by condition to ensure that 
adequate screening can be retained.  However, a good degree 
of mature boundary treatment would remain.  The neighbours 
who would be most affected, in my view, would be 36 Almoners 
Avenue and 7 Bowers Croft, as they are closest.  36 Almoners 
Avenue is the next door neighbour and would be 7m away from 
the edge of Plot 2.  7 Bowers Croft would be 18m away from the 
single storey element of Plot 1. 

 
8.16 In terms of scale, the proposed dwellings would be about 1m 

higher than the existing surrounding properties.  But, given the 
position and orientation of the dwellings and the design 
approach, the dwellings would be noticeable but I do not 
consider that the dwellings would unduly compete with the 

Page 188



surrounding dwellings or significantly dominate the neighbours’ 
outlook.  

 
8.17 The design of plot 2 (which mainly affects 36 Almoners Avenue) 

means that the main bulk of the dwelling is stepped away from 
the boundary with 36 Almoners Avenue, with the flat roof single 
storey garage being closest to this boundary.  I note that there 
is a garage on the boundary with the site, belonging to 36 
Almoners Avenue and therefore this relationship is considered 
to be acceptable.  In terms of over-looking Plot 2 has no side 
facing windows towards 36 Almoners Avenue, except for a 
small side window serving the landing which is accommodated 
at the front of the dwelling within the gable end element, on the 
front elevation.  This area is served by a main window facing 
towards the front.  I therefore would recommend that the side 
windows (both sides) could be obscurely glazed, which can be 
achieved by way of a condition.  This would still allow light to 
penetrate, but reduce the perceived over-looking from these 
windows. 

 
8.18 The design of plot 1 (which mainly affects 7 Bowers Croft) is 

less articulated than plot 2, but incorporates a single storey 
element which wraps around the front and side.  This element is 
3.7m from the boundary with 7 Bowers Croft and measures less 
than 3m in height.  I consider this element is acceptable and 
unlikely to cause undue harm.  The gable end wall of plot 2 
does not have any windows at first floor level and therefore I do 
not consider that any direct over-looking would occur.  There 
will be rear facing windows (serving bedrooms 1 and 2) which 
may cause some perceived over-looking.  However, given the 
relationship with the boundary and orientation, it is unlikely that 
any over-looking will be significant and therefore I consider this 
to be acceptable. 

 
8.19 In terms of over-shadowing, the proposed dwellings are to the 

west of 36 Almoners Avenue, which means that some afternoon 
sunlight will be affected by plot 2, as the sun moves round.  
However, I do not consider that this would be substantial as the 
element closest to the boundary is single storey only and would 
allow light through and would be no different to the current 
situation.  The two storey ‘wing’ element to the rear of plot 2, is 
set further away and therefore in my view, I do not consider that 
this would cause a great degree of loss of light. 

 

Page 189



8.20 In my opinion the proposal adequately respects the residential 
amenity of its neighbours and the constraints of the site and I 
consider that it is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4 and 3/7. 

 
Amenity for future occupiers of the site 

 
8.21 The proposed dwellings would sit in spacious plots among other 

dwellings.  The relationship with the surrounding built 
environment is considered to be acceptable, subject to 
appropriate hard and soft landscaping.  

 
8.22 The proposed design, in my view, would ensure that sufficient 

privacy can be achieved between the two dwellings and that the 
splitting of the site can be achieved successfully, giving good 
amenity areas for both properties.  Off street parking is provided 
for both dwellings which would mean less pressure on 
competition for on-street parking in the area. 

 
8.23 The site is located close to an electricity sub-station.  This has 

been acknowledged by the Environmental Health team, who 
have recommended a condition to ensure that the properties 
are mitigated against any noise emanating from the sub-station.  
I consider this condition is necessary and reasonable. 

 
8.24 The proposal, subject of this application, seeks to overcome the 

second reason for refusal by reducing the number of dwellings 
from three to two, and thereby allowing the dwellings to site on 
more spacious plots, be re-positioned away from the 
boundaries and tree canopies.  This would also improve the 
amount of natural light that the rear gardens would receive.   

 
 
8.25 In my opinion the proposal provides a high-quality living 

environment and an appropriate standard of residential amenity 
for future occupiers, and I consider that in this respect it is 
compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 
3/12 

 
Refuse Arrangements 

 
8.26 No refuse store is indicated on the plans.  However, there is 

sufficient space on both plots to comfortably accommodate a 

Page 190



refuse store, in my view.  Further details of waste management 
can be secured by condition (condition 15). 

 
8.27  In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 3/12. 
 

Highway Safety 
 
8.28 The Local Highways Authority initially raised a concern about 

the width of the access, which was not clear on the plans.  The 
existing access would be utilised to serve the two proposed 
dwellings and measures 4.5m in width.  The Local Highways 
Authority have confirmed that this is acceptable.  

 
8.29 The neighbours have raised concerns about the potential 

increase in traffic generation in the area as a result of the 
proposal.  The site is located at the end of a cul-de-sac and 
adjacent to a public foot path which links Almoners Avenue and 
Bowers Croft.  There is no intention to affect this right of way, or 
to open it up to vehicles.  I therefore do not consider that this 
would be affected.  In terms of the increase in traffic, the 
proposed development would result in a net gain of one 
dwelling.  I do not consider that it would be reasonable to refuse 
planning permission on the basis that one (net) additional 
dwelling would compromise highway safety.  Furthermore, the 
Local Highways Authority Officer has not raised this as a 
concern. 

 
8.30  In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 8/2. 
 

Car and Cycle Parking 
 
8.31 The proposed development incorporates off-street car parking 

and garage accommodation for each dwelling.  This concurs 
with the character of the street where most dwellings have off-
street parking facilities.  There is also sufficient space for cars to 
be able to turn and exit in a forward gear.  I therefore consider 
this provision to be acceptable. 

 
8.32 In terms of cycle parking, there are no details submitted with the 

plan.  However, I consider that there is ample space for each 
dwelling to accommodation cycle parking.  This can be 

Page 191



achieved by way of a condition requiring further cycle parking 
details (condition 5). 

 
8.33 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  
 

Third Party Representations 
 
8.34 I have address most of the concerns from the neighbours.  

However, I would comment as following on the outstanding 
issues:   

 
 Construction vehicle parking: 
 

Whilst I understand that there will always be some obstruction 
or inconvenience of construction vehicles parking on the street, 
if vehicles are obstructing the highway, this would be a civil 
matter with the Police. 
 
Concern that houses will be let out as multiple occupancy:   

 
The application makes no indication of this.  If this were to be 
the case, planning permission for a change of use would be 
required if the dwellings are occupied by more than six people. 

 
 Breaches the restrictive covenant: 
 

Covenants are not a material planning consideration and as 
such we cannot give any weight to this concern.  If planning 
permission is granted, this would not override any other legal 
obligation on the land, such as covenants, rights of way etc. 
 
Why is this development needed when an area of Green Belt 
land (Worts’ Causeway – GB1) has just been released for 
housing development, not far away from Almoners Avenue?: 

 
This site is a windfall site, which is supported by Policy 5/1 of 
the Local Plan.  The site is considered to be sustainable, within 
an established residential area, with the potential for re-
development.  The allocation of GB1 for housing falls under the 
new deposit Local Plan, which is yet to be adopted.  Therefore, 
we are required to assess all applications against the current 
adopted Local Plan, which I have already concluded, is 
acceptable. 

Page 192



 
Drainage problems: 
 
The application indicates that drainage would be via the existing 
sewers.  The area is not located within an area of high flood risk 
(as shown on the Environment Agency’s flood Map), and as 
such specific details of surface water drainage is not necessary 
for planning purposes, in this case.  Technical details of 
drainage would be covered under Building Regulations.  The 
Environment Agency have not raised a concern about this from 
a drainage point of view. 

 
 
 
Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
Planning Obligations 

 
8.35 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have 

introduced the requirement for all local authorities to make an 
assessment of any planning obligation in relation to three tests.  
If the planning obligation does not pass the tests then it is 
unlawful.  The tests are that the planning obligation must be: 

 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms;  

(b) directly related to the development; and  

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
In bringing forward my recommendations in relation to the 
Planning Obligation for this development I have considered 
these requirements. The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) 
provides a framework for expenditure of financial contributions 
collected through planning obligations.   The applicants have 
indicated their willingness to enter into a S106 planning 
obligation in accordance with the requirements of the Strategy 
and relevant Supplementary Planning Documents.  The 
proposed development triggers the requirement for the following 
community infrastructure:  

 
 

Page 193



Open Space  
 
8.36 The Planning Obligation Strategy requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision or 
improvement of public open space, either through provision on 
site as part of the development or through a financial 
contribution for use across the city. The proposed development 
requires a contribution to be made towards open space, 
comprising outdoor sports facilities, indoor sports facilities, 
informal open space and provision for children and teenagers. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows. 

 
8.37 The application proposes the erection of two four-bedroom 

houses. One residential unit would be removed, so the net total 
of additional residential unit is one. A house or flat is assumed 
to accommodate one person for each bedroom, but one-
bedroom flats are assumed to accommodate 1.5 people. 
Contributions towards provision for children and teenagers are 
not required from one-bedroom units. The totals required for the 
new buildings are calculated as follows: 

 
Outdoor sports facilities 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 238 238   
1 bed 1.5 238 357   
2-bed 2 238 476   
3-bed 3 238 714   
4-bed 4 238 952 1 952 

Total 952 
 

Indoor sports facilities 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£ per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 269 269   
1 bed 1.5 269 403.50   
2-bed 2 269 538   
3-bed 3 269 807   
4-bed 4 269 1076 1 1076 

Total 1076 
 

Page 194



 
Informal open space 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£ per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 242 242   
1 bed 1.5 242 363   
2-bed 2 242 484   
3-bed 3 242 726   
4-bed 4 242 968 1 968 

Total 968 
 

Provision for children and teenagers 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£ per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 0 0  0 
1 bed 1.5 0 0  0 
2-bed 2 316 632   
3-bed 3 316 948   
4-bed 4 316 1264 1 1264 

Total 1264 
 
 
8.38 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010) and the Cambridge City Council Open Space Standards 
Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation (2010), I am 
satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 3/8 and 10/1 and the Planning Obligation 
Strategy 2010 and the Cambridge City Council Open Space 
Standards Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation 
(2010) 

 
Community Development 

 
8.39 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to community development 
facilities, programmes and projects. This contribution is Ł1256 
for each unit of one or two bedrooms and Ł1882 for each larger 
unit. The total contribution sought has been calculated as 
follows: 

 

Page 195



Community facilities 
Type of unit £ per unit Number of such 

units 
Total £ 

1 bed 1256   
2-bed 1256   
3-bed 1882   
4-bed 1882 1 1882 

Total 1882 
 
8.40 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 5/14 and 10/1 and the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010. 

 
Waste 

 
8.41 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision of 
household waste and recycling receptacles on a per dwelling 
basis. As the type of waste and recycling containers provided 
by the City Council for houses are different from those for flats, 
this contribution is Ł75 for each house and Ł150 for each flat. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows: 

 
Waste and recycling containers 
Type of unit Łper unit Number of such 

units 
Total Ł 

House 75 2 150 
Flat 150   

Total 150 
 
8.42 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7, 3/12 and 10/1 and the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010. 

 
Monitoring 

 
8.43 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the costs of monitoring 
the implementation of planning obligations.  It was agreed at 

Page 196



Development Plans Scrutiny Sub- Committee on 25 March 
2014 that from 1 April 2014 monitoring fees for all financial and 
non-financial planning obligations will be 5% of the total value of 
those financial contributions (up to a maximum of £50,000) with 
the exception of large scale developments when monitoring 
costs will be agreed by negotiation.  For this application a 
monitoring fee of £314.60 is required. 

 
 Planning Obligations Conclusion 
 
8.44 It is my view that the planning obligation is necessary, directly 

related to the development and fairly and reasonably in scale 
and kind to the development and therefore the Planning 
Obligation passes the tests set by the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 In conclusion, I consider that the proposed development is 

acceptable and approval is recommended, subject to 
conditions. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE subject to completion of the s106 Agreement and the 
following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
   
 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. No development shall take place until there has been submitted 

to and approved by the local planning authority in writing a plan 
indicating the positions, design, materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected.  The boundary treatment shall be 
completed in accordance with a timetable agreed in writing with 
the local planning authority.  Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure an appropriate boundary treatment is 

implemented. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 
and 3/12) 

Page 197



 
3. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings, hereby permitted, a 

scheme for the type and location of bird and bat boxes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.  

  
 Reason: To improve the bio-diversity contribution of the site 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/1 and 4/7). 
 
4. In this condition retained tree means an existing tree which is to 

be retained in accordance with the approved plans and 
particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) below shall have effect 
until the expiration of two years from the date of the occupation 
of the building for its permitted use. 

  
 (a) No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, 

nor shall any retained tree be topped or lopped other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the 
written approval of the local planning authority.  Any topping or 
lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British 
Standard 3998 (Tree Work). 

  
 (b) If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or 

dies, another tree shall be planted at the same place and that 
tree shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at 
such time, as may be specified in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

  
 (c) The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained 

tree shall be undertaken in accordance with British Standard 
5837 and the approved plans and particulars before any 
equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for 
the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until 
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been 
removed from the site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed in any 
area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground 
levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any 
excavation be made, without the written consent of the local 
planning authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the visual amenity of the area and to ensure 

the retention of trees on site. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policies 3/4, 3/11, 3/12 and 4/4) 

Page 198



 
5. No development shall commence until details of facilities for the 

covered, secured parking of bicycles for use in connection with 
the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority in writing.  The 
approved facilities shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved details before use of the development commences. 

  
 Reason: To ensure appropriate provision for the secure storage 

of bicycles. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 8/6) 
 
6. The building shall not be occupied until the area identified on 

the approved plans for car parking has been drained and 
surfaced in accordance with details submitted to and approved 
by the local planning authority in writing and that area shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose than the parking of 
vehicles. 

  
 Reason: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and in 

the interests of highway safety and convenience. (Cambridge 
Local Plan 2006 policies 8/2 and 8/10) 

 
7. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority no construction work or demolition shall be carried out 
or plant operated other than between the following hours: 0800 
hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 0800 hours to 1300 
hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public 
Holidays. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13)  
  
 
8. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority, there should be no collection or deliveries to the site 
during the demolition and construction stages outside the hours 
of 0700 hrs and 1900 hrs on Monday - Saturday and there 
should be no collections or deliveries on Sundays or Bank and 
public holidays. 

  

Page 199



 Reason: Due to the proximity of residential properties to this 
premises and that extensive refurbishment will be required, the 
above conditions are recommended to protect the amenity of 
these residential properties throughout the redevelopment in 
accordance with policies 4/13 and 6/10 of the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) 

 
9. No development shall commence until a programme of 

measures to minimise the spread of airborne dust from the site 
during the demolition / construction period has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbours (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 
10. In the event of the foundations for the proposed development 

requiring piling, prior to the development taking place the 
applicant shall provide the local authority with a report / method 
statement for approval detailing the type of piling and mitigation 
measures to be taken to protect local residents noise and or 
vibration. Potential noise and vibration levels at the nearest 
noise sensitive locations shall be predicted in accordance with 
the provisions of BS 5228-1:2009 Code of Practice for noise 
and vibration control on construction and open sites.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.   

  
 Due to the proximity of this site to existing residential premises 

and other noise sensitive premises, impact pile driving is not 
recommended.   

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbours (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006, policy 4/13) 
 
11. Part A: 
 Prior to the commencement of refurbishment/ development 

works, a noise report including a low frequency noise analysis 
and the provisions of British Standard (BS) 4142:1997 (Method 
for rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and 
industrial areas) that considers the impact of the substation 
noise upon the proposed development shall be submitted in 
writing for consideration by the local planning authority. 

Page 200



  
 Part B: 
 Following the submission of the noise report and prior to the 

commencement of refurbishment/ development works, a noise 
insulation scheme detailing the acoustic noise insulation 
performance specification of the external building envelope of 
the residential units (having regard to the building fabric, glazing 
and ventilation) for protecting the residential units from noise 
from the neighbouring industrial use shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall achieve the internal noise levels recommended in British 
Standard 8233:1999 Sound Insulation and noise reduction for 
buildings-Code of Practice. These levels shall be achieved with 
ventilation meeting both the background and summer cooling 
requirements. 

  
 The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented before the 

use hereby permitted is commenced and prior to occupation of 
the residential units and shall not be altered without prior 
approval. 

  
 Reason:  To protect the amenity of future occupiers of the 

development (Cambridge Local Plan 2006, policies 3/7 and 
4/13) 

 
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or with 
any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modifications) no windows or dormer windows shall be 
constructed other than with the prior formal permission of the 
local planning authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 3/14) 
 
13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no extensions, or additions or garages shall be 
erected other than those expressly authorised by this 
permission. 

  

Page 201



 Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining properties, and to 
prevent overdevelopment of the site. (Cambridge Local Plan 
2006 policies 3/4 and 3/14) 

 
14. The windows on the east and west elevations at first floor level 

(serving the landing) of Plot 2 shall be obscure glazed to a 
minimum level of obscurity to conform to Pilkington Glass level 
3 or equivalent prior to commencement of use (of the extension) 
and shall have restrictors to ensure that the window cannot be 
opened more than 45 degrees beyond the plane of the adjacent 
wall and shall be retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of residential amenity (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 3/12 or 3/14). 
 
15. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling, hereby permitted, the 

on-site storage facilities for waste and recycling shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved arrangements shall be retained 
thereafter unless alternative arrangements are agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby residents/occupiers 

and in the interests of visual amenity (in accordance with 
policies 4/13 and 6/10 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006)) 

  
 INFORMATIVE: 
 To satisfy the condition requiring the submission of a program 

of measures to control airborne dust above, the applicant 
should have regard to:  

  
 Council's Supplementary Planning Document  Sustainable 

Design and Construction 2007:  
 http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/docs/sustainable-design-

and-construction-spd.pdf  
  
 Control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition 

- Best Practice Guidance produced by the London Councils:  
 http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/bpg/bpg_04.jsp 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



 INFORMATIVE: 
 Electricity substations are known to emit electromagnetic fields.  

The NRPB has set standards for the release of such fields in 
relation to the nearest premises.  The applicant is advised to 
contact The Health Protection Agency, Radiation Protection 
Division, Chilton, Didcot, Oxon OX11 ORQ, tel: 01235 831600 
for advice regarding the electric/magnetic fields that are 
associated with electric substations. 

 
INFORMATIVE: 

 If during the works contamination is encountered, the Local 
Planning Authority should be informed, additional contamination 
shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The applicant/agent to 
need to satisfy themselves as to the condition of the land / area 
and its proposed use, to ensure a premises prejudicial to health 
situation does not arise in the future. 

 
2. Unless prior agreement has been obtained from the Head of 
Planning, in consultation with the Chair and Spokesperson of 
this Committee to extend the period for completion of the 
Planning Obligation required in connection with this 
development, if the Obligation has not been completed by 8th 
August 2014 or if Committee determine that the application be 
refused against officer recommendation of approval, it is 
recommended that the application be refused for the following 
reason(s): 
 
The proposed development does not make appropriate provision for 
public open space, community development facilities, waste facilities, 
and monitoring in accordance with Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policies 3/7, 3/8, 3/12, 5/14 the and as detailed in the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010, the Open Space Standards Guidance for 
Interpretation and Implementation 2010, Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP): Waste Management 
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 2012  
 
3. In the event that the application is refused, and an Appeal is 
lodged against the decision to refuse this application, delegated 
authority is sought to allow officers to negotiate and complete 
the Planning Obligation required in connection with this 
development 

Page 203



Page 204

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 205



Page 206

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 207



Page 208

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 209



Page 210

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 211



Page 212

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 213



Page 214

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 215



Page 216

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE                                        23rd June 2014 
 
Application 
Number 

14/0272/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 24th February 2014 Officer Mr John 
Evans 

Target Date 21st April 2014   
Ward Queen Ediths   
Site Parking Area Rear Of 66 - 68 Hartington Grove 

Cambridge Cambridgeshire   
Proposal Construction of residential accommodation for the 

Violin workshop on land at the rear of 66-68 
Hartington Grove 

Applicant Mrs Juliet Barker 
70A Hartington Grove  Cambridge CB1 7UB 

 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 
Development Plan for the following reasons: 

1) The reduced eaves and ridge height 
and footprint address the previous 
reason for refusal. 

2) The proposed dwelling will not detract 
from the character and appearance of 
the rear garden scene or accessway. 

3)  The visual impact and use of the 
building will not significantly detract 
from the amenities of adjacent 
residential properties. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The application site is a square shaped plot accessed off an 

unmade accessway on the southern side of Hartington Grove. 
 

1.2 To the east of the site is a light industrial premises, formerly 
‘Comar Instruments’.  Permission has been granted for the 
redevelopment of this site for three dwelling houses.  Directly to 
the south is the Violin workshop which is in the same ownership 

Agenda Item 11c

Page 217



as the application site.  The north, west and southern 
boundaries are the rear gardens of residential properties 
fronting Hartington Grove and Rock Road.  
 

1.3 The site is currently used as an informal car park area and has 
two pre fabricated garages housing material for the Violin 
workshop. 
 

1.4 The site does not fall within a Conservation Area. 
 

1.5 The site is outside the controlled parking zone. 
 

1.6 There are five tree preservation orders on the site protecting: 
 

� T19 – Birch tree to the north east of the site by the site 
entrance. 

� T20 – Birch tree to the east of the site. 
� T21 – Maple tree to the south east of the site. 
� T22 – Maple tree to the south of the site. 
� T23 – Birch tree to the south of the site. 
 

2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 This revised application seeks permission for the erection of 

student accommodation for use in connection with the Violin 
Workshop.  The building is a single storey bungalow containing 
two levels of accommodation.  Four bedrooms will be provided 
and a dining room/lounge.  
 

2.2 The applicant intends to use the premises to offer 
accommodation to students at the Violin workshop over the 
summer months.  Courses are typically one week in duration.  
For the remainder of the year, it is intended to let the property 
through the University of Cambridge or Anglia Ruskin 
University.  The applicant wishes to let the property to a single 
family or visiting scholar for the remainder of the year.  (In 
preference to a shared house with individual tenants). 

 
2.3 The building would have a rectangular shaped footprint, with an 

eaves level of 2.2m and an overall ridge height of 5.6m.  
Externally, a patio area would be provided and five car parking 
spaces which would be shared with the Violin workshop. 

 

Page 218



2.4 The application is accompanied by the following supporting 
information: 

 
1. Design and Access Statement 
2. Arboricultural Implications Assessment 
3. Tree Survey 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

70 Hartington Grove 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
13/0477/OUT Outline application for demolition of 

existing building and erection of 
three dwelling houses  
(resubmission) 

Approved 

12/1404/OUT Outline application for demolition 
dismissed at of existing building and 
erection appeal of three dwelling 
houses. 

Refused 

 
66 Hartington Grove 

 
Reference Description Outcome 
C/84/1030 Erection of bungalow Approved 
13/0059/FUL Erection of two storey house Refused 

 
The previous application 13/0059/FUL was refused for the 
following reason: 

 
The combination of the proposed building's large footprint and 
its height produces a bulky and visually dominant building.  It is 
considered that the proposal would dominate the amenity of 
adjacent properties to the north and west of the proposed 
building, namely occupants of No.66 Hartington Grove and 
No.57 Rock Road.  It would fail to comply with policies 3/4, 3/7 
and 3/12 of the Local Plan (2006). 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     No  
  

Page 219



5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 

3/4 3/7 3/11 3/12  

4/4 4/13  

5/1  

7/10  

8/2 8/6  

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 
Government 
Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 
2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 
Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

 City Wide Guidance 
 
Cambridge City Council (2011) - Open 
Space and Recreation Strategy 
 

 
5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 

Page 220



consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

  
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Engineering) 
 
6.1 I am unclear what the current parking provision is used for and 

whether a demand will be decanted on-street. If so this demand 
would appear in competition with existing residential uses in the 
area and there may be an impact upon residential amenity. 
 

6.2 Provided that the residents of the new accommodation 
proposed are subject to an accepted regime of proctorial control 
the impact of the accommodation per se should be acceptable 
in highway terms, however displaced student parking from non-
residential courses may impact upon residential amenity as 
above. 

 
Head of Refuse and Environment 

 
6.3 No objections subject to construction hours and noise related 

conditions. 
 

Streets and Open Spaces (Tree Team) 
 
6.4 Awaiting comments.  Tree removals previously considered 

acceptable. 
 
6.5 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS  
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations: 
 

59 Rock Road 
61 Rock Road 

Page 221



66 Hartington Grove 
68 Hartington Grove 

 
7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 

Comments on the principle of development 
 

- The area currently attracts anti-social behaviour, so 
development of the site is supported. 

- Use of the property as student accommodation is not in 
character with the area. 

- Original approval for the development of the site was for a 
single storey bungalow. 

- The site should be excavated to further reduce the height of the 
building. 

- The dwelling may not be let to a family. 
 

Amenity Issues 
 

- The proposed cycle shed is linked to the southern boundary of 
66 Hartington Grove.  This creates a loss of light and 
overshadowing. 

- Side elevation of 66 Hartington Grove is incorrect. 
- Loss of light to habitable living areas of 66 Hartington Grove. 
- A shadow survey should be requested to understand the 

impact. 
- The location and use of the access driveway will have a 

negative impact on 68 Hartington Grove. 
- The use of the house for students is not compatible with the 

quiet residential character of the area. 
 

Access and Parking Issues 
 

- The access is very narrow for emergency vehicles. 
- Loss of car parking spaces. 

 
Tree Comments 

 
- The roots of the Scots Pine to the bottom of 57 Rock Road’s 

garden should be preserved. 
- The silver birch in the southern corner is too large and should 

be removed. 
 
 

Page 222



Other matters 
 

- Drainage and foundation issues. 
- Maintenance of the driveway. 
- Bin collection point. 
- Private driveway not owned by the applicant. 
- The drawings do not show the borehole for the ground source 

heat pump. 
- Impact of digging and construction on 68 Hartington Grove. 

 
7.3 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   
 

8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Context of site, design and external spaces 
3. Residential amenity 
4. Trees 
5. Refuse arrangements 
6. Highway safety 
7. Car and cycle parking 
8. Disabled access 
9. Third party representations 
10. Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.2 Local Plan policy 7/10 states that the development of purpose 

built student accommodation will only be permitted if; 
occupancy conditions exist to ensure the accommodation is 
only available to full time students of the University of 
Cambridge or Anglia Ruskin University; that appropriate 
management conditions are in place; they are reasonably close 
of accessible to the institutions they serve, and they make 
provision for students who are disabled. The applicant intends 
to use the bungalow for short stay accommodation for 
instrument making courses at the violin workshop, over the 
summer months.  Typically these course are one week in 

Page 223



duration.  For the remainder of the year, approximately 9 
months, the property will be let via the University of Cambridge 
of Anglia Ruskin University. 
 

8.3 In my view, I consider the proposed use of the accommodation 
for three months a year by the violin workshop acceptable.  
Subject to the imposition of a suitable planning condition that 
the premises shall only be used by full time students of the 
University of Cambridge, Anglia Ruskin University or for short 
term courses at the violin workshop, I consider the proposal 
acceptable.   
 

8.4 Windfall and student hostel sites for College and University of 
Cambridge staff will be permitted by policy 7/7, subject primarily 
to amenity related criteria, which are covered in the relevant 
subsection below. 
 

8.5 The proposed accommodation is reasonably close to the two 
Universities in Cambridge and the parking and amenity impacts 
of the use can be mitigated through the imposition of a suitable 
condition requiring a management plan.  This is discussed in 
the amenity section below. 

 
8.6 There is no objection in broad principle to residential 

development, but the proposal has to be assessed against the 
criteria of other relevant development plan policies.  In my 
opinion, the development of the plot in this manner will not have 
a significant harmful impact on the open character of the garden 
scene.   The principle of subdivision is therefore acceptable and 
in accordance with Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/10 
and 5/1. 

 
Context of site, design and external spaces 

 
8.7 The key design issue is the design and appearance of the new 

building in its setting.  The previous reason for refusal related to 
amenity issues only.  The revised building would be less 
prominent in the rear garden scene and is acceptable in its 
context. 

 
8.8 The proposed building can be comfortably accommodated 

within the application site.  The siting of the building is 
positioned 2m from the west boundary and 4m from the 

Page 224



southern boundary which will ensure the single storey building 
will not be overly cramped or constrained in its plot. 
 

8.9 The previous application was refused primarily because of the 
likely harmful visual impact created by a two storey building. It 
was the ‘combination of the proposed building's large footprint 
and its height producing a bulky and visually dominant building’.  

 
8.10 This revised scheme has a reduced impact because of the 

single storey design, which would be appropriate in this 
backland setting, adjacent to private rear gardens.   

 
8.11 The reduced footprint of the application proposal, and more 

importantly the reduction in eaves height to 2.5m, will ensure 
the dwelling will not significantly erode the open character of the 
gardenscape and will be subservient in scale to the main two 
storey dwellings along Hartington Grove and Rock Road. 

 
8.12 Facing brickwork is acceptable in this context. A slate roof may 

be preferable to the proposed concrete roof tile, although 
materials can be agreed through the imposition of a suitable 
planning condition.    

 
8.13 In my opinion the proposal would respond positively to site 

context and constraints and would not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area and is compliant with 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11 and 3/12.  

 
Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 

8.14 The proposed building will be most visible from the rear of 57 
Rock Road and 66 Hartington Grove, which formed the previous 
reason for refusal of 13/0059/FUL.  Given the significant 
reduction in height at eaves level from 3.8m previously 
proposed, to 2.5m, I now consider the relationship of the 
proposed dwelling with these properties acceptable.  The single 
storey bicycle shelter which would abut the northern boundary 
with 66 Hartington Grove is 2.3m in height, which is only 0.5m 
above a standard fence panel and would not therefore be overly 
intrusive. 

 

Page 225



8.15 The main ridge height rises to 5.6m which is a reduction of 
approximately 1m as compared with the previous application. 
Importantly, the roof plane now slopes more steeply away from 
the rear garden of 66 Hartington Grove so I do not consider this 
revised proposal to create a significantly harmful visual impact 
or sense of enclosure. 

 
8.16 The position of the proposed house may create some 

overshadowing to the end section of the rear gardens of 64, 66 
and 68 Hartington Grove through the day.  In my view give the 
modest overall height of the proposed dwelling, the angle of its 
roof slope and the siting 2m off the northern boundary of the 
main roof, I do not consider the likely impact so harmful as to 
justify refusal.  There is also substantial vegetation on the 
northern boundary which will further screen the application site 
from residential properties to the north. 

 
8.17 The development will result in some impact from general 

comings and goings to the property.  Given the overall reduction 
in the number of car parking spaces, the impact from a single 
dwelling, albeit in shared occupation, is unlikely to create 
significant disturbance for neighbouring residential properties.  
The imposition of suitable planning conditions can ensure that 
car ownership is appropriately controlled and that a 
management plan for the premises is agreed for the use of the 
property. 

 
8.18 The applicant intends to resurface the unmade access to 

reduce the noise impact of vehicles entering and leaving the 
site.  In my view this will appropriately mitigate potential 
disturbance. 

 
8.19 In my opinion the proposal overcomes the reason for refusal of 

the previous scheme and adequately respects the residential 
amenity of its neighbours and the constraints of the site and I 
consider that it is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4 and 3/12. 

 
Amenity for future occupiers of the site 

 
8.20 The proposed dwelling would have a useable garden area and 

would provide a high-quality living environment and an 
appropriate standard of residential amenity for future occupiers.  

Page 226



I consider that in this respect it is compliant with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 3/12. 

 
Trees 
 

8.21 Policy 4/4 of the Local Plan explains that development will not 
be permitted which would involve the felling, significant surgery 
or potential root damage to trees of amenity or other value 
unless there are demonstrable public benefits accruing from the 
proposal which outweigh the current and future amenity value of 
the trees.  When felling is permitted, appropriate replacement 
planting will be sought wherever possible. 
 

8.22 The site contains five Tree Preservation Order (TPO) trees.  
Three TPO trees would remain and two removed.  The 
Council’s Arboriculturalist previously considered the loss of 
these trees to be acceptable providing the inclusion of a specific 
condition.  I therefore consider the loss of these trees to be 
acceptable.  I consider the proposal is compliant with policy 4/4 
of the Local Plan (2006). 

 
Refuse Arrangements 
 

8.23 Refuse storage is adequately integrated into the scheme.  In my 
opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policy 3/12. 

 
Car and Cycle Parking 

 
Car Parking 

 
8.24 The development will result in the loss of three car parking 

spaces leaving five spaces for the accommodation and the 
violin workshop.  Given the use of the building for student 
accommodation and short courses at the violin workshop, the 
imposition of suitable conditions can ensure car ownership is 
strictly controlled. 

 
8.25 The five proposed car parking spaces exceeds the Council’s 

maximum car parking standards for student accommodation, 
which suggests one space to be appropriate.  However, given 
the reduction of car parking from the existing use of the site, I 
consider the retained provision acceptable.  The position of 

Page 227



protected trees would prevent siting the building closer to the 
accessway.   

 
Cycle Parking 

 
8.26 A secure covered attached outbuilding will provide five cycle 

parking standards which exceeds the Council’s minimum 
standards.  In my opinion the proposal is compliant with 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  

 
Disabled access 

 
8.27 The proposal would be compliant with Part M of the Building 

Regulations.  The ground floor external door will have ramped 
access.  In my opinion the proposal is compliant with 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 3/12. 

 
Third Party Representations 

 
8.28 The issues raised have been discussed in the above report and 

are summarised in the table below: 
 
Issue Report section/officer comment 
Noise and disruption during 
construction 

A construction management plan 
condition has been imposed to 
ensure noise, disturbance and 
construction disruption is kept to a 
minimum. 

The silver birch in the southern 
corner is too large and should be 
removed. 

The applicant intends to retain 
this tree. 

The dwelling may not be let to a 
family. 
 

The development is for student 
accommodation and not a 
dwelling and will be restricted to 
students of Cambridge University, 
ARU or the violin workshop, who 
have their own management 
protocol to ensure the impact of 
the use does not adversely affect 
the amenities of the area. 

The site should be excavated to 
further reduce the height of the 
building. 
 

Paragraph 8.10. 

Page 228



Side elevation of 66 Hartington 
Grove is incorrect. 
 

While the later extension to 66 
Hartington Grove has not been 
included on the block plan.  This 
notwithstanding I consider the 
proposed relationship of the new 
dwelling and adjacent residential 
properties acceptable. 

Maintenance of the driveway. 
 

The violin workshop consider the 
driveway to be in their ownership 
and it will be resurfaced. 

The drawings do not show the 
borehole for the ground source 
heat pump. 
 

This does not require planning 
permission and is not specified 
within the application. 

Bin collection point. 
 

Bins will need to be moved into 
Hartington Grove for collection. 

The roots of the Scots Pine to the 
bottom of 57 Rock Road’s garden 
should be preserved. 
 

This tree will be protected during 
the works. 

 
Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
8.29 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have 

introduced the requirement for all local authorities to make an 
assessment of any planning obligation in relation to three tests.  
If the planning obligation does not pass the tests then it is 
unlawful.  The tests are that the planning obligation must be: 

 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms;  

(b) directly related to the development; and  

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
The proposed development triggers the requirement for the 
following community infrastructure:  

 
Open Space  

 
8.30 The Planning Obligation Strategy requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision or 

Page 229



improvement of public open space, either through provision on 
site as part of the development or through a financial 
contribution for use across the city. The proposed development 
requires a contribution to be made towards open space, 
comprising outdoor sports facilities, indoor sports facilities, 
informal open space and provision for children and teenagers. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows. 

 
The totals required for the new buildings are calculated as 
follows: 

 
Outdoor sports facilities 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 238 238   
1 bed 1.5 238 357   
2-bed 2 238 476   
3-bed 3 238 714   
4-bed 4 238 952 1 952 

Total 952 
 

Indoor sports facilities 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 269 269   
1 bed 1.5 269 403.50   
2-bed 2 269 538   
3-bed 3 269 807   
4-bed 4 269 1076 1 1076 

Total 1076 
 

Informal open space 
Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 242 242   
1 bed 1.5 242 363   
2-bed 2 242 484   
3-bed 3 242 726   
4-bed 4 242 968 1 968 

Total 968 

Page 230



 
 
8.31 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010) and the Cambridge City Council Open Space Standards 
Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation (2010), I am 
satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 3/8 and 10/1 and the Planning Obligation 
Strategy 2010 and the Cambridge City Council Open Space 
Standards Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation 
(2010) 

 
Waste 

 
8.32 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision of 
household waste and recycling receptacles on a per dwelling 
basis. As the type of waste and recycling containers provided 
by the City Council for houses are different from those for flats, 
this contribution is £75 for each house and £150 for each flat. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows: 

 
Waste and recycling containers 
Type of unit £per unit Number of such 

units 
Total £ 

House 75 1 75 
Flat 150   

Total  
 

8.33 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 
secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7, 3/12 and 10/1 and the Planning 
Obligation Strategy 2010. 

 
Monitoring 

 
8.34 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the costs of monitoring 
the implementation of planning obligations.  It was agreed at 
Development Plans Scrutiny Sub- Committee on 25 March 
2014 that from 1 April 2014 monitoring fees for all financial and 
non-financial planning obligations will be 5% of the total value of 
those financial contributions (up to a maximum of £50,000) with 

Page 231



the exception of large scale developments when monitoring 
costs will be agreed by negotiation.  For this application a 
monitoring fee of £153.55 is required. 

 
 Planning Obligations Conclusion 
 
8.35 It is my view that the planning obligation is necessary, directly 

related to the development and fairly and reasonably in scale 
and kind to the development and therefore the Planning 
Obligation passes the tests set by the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 This revised application addresses the previous reason for 

refusal. The proposed dwelling will not be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area or the amenities of 
adjacent residential properties.  APPROVAL is recommended. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
APPROVE subject to completion of the s106 Agreement and 
the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
   
 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. No development shall take place until samples of the materials 

to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the external surfaces 

is appropriate. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/12 
and 3/14) 

 

Page 232



3. Details of the specification and position of fencing, or any other 
measures to be taken for the protection of any trees from 
damage during the course of development, shall be submitted 
to the local planning authority for its written approval, and 
implemented in accordance with that approval before any 
equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for 
the purpose of development (including demolition). The agreed 
means of protection shall be retained on site until all equipment, 
and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 
Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area protected in 
accordance with this condition, and the ground levels within 
those areas shall not be altered nor shall any excavation be 
made without the prior written approval of the local planning 
authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the visual amenity of the area and to ensure 

the retention of the trees on the site. (Cambridge Local Plan 
2006 policies 3/4, 3/11, 3/12 and 4/4) 

 
4. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority no construction work or demolition shall be carried out 
or plant operated other than between the following hours: 0800 
hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 0800 hours to 1300 
hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public 
Holidays. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13)  
  
5. Except with the prior agreement of the local planning authority 

in writing, there should be no collection or deliveries to the site 
during the demolition and construction stages outside the hours 
of 0700 hrs and 1900 hrs on Monday ' Saturday and there 
should be no collections or deliveries on Sundays or Bank and 
public holidays. 

   
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 

Page 233



6. a. Prior to the commencement of development works a noise 
report prepared in accordance with the provisions of British 
Standard (BS) 4142:1997, 'Method for rating industrial noise 
affecting mixed residential and industrial areas,' that considers 
the impact of industrial noise upon the proposed development 
shall be submitted in writing for consideration by the local 
planning authority. 

  
 b. Following the submission of a BS 4142:1997 noise report and 

prior to the commencement of refurbishment/ development 
works, a noise insulation scheme detailing the acoustic noise 
insulation performance specification of the external building 
envelope of the residential units (having regard to the building 
fabric, glazing and ventilation) for protecting the residential units 
from noise from the neighbouring industrial use shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall achieve the internal noise levels 
recommended in British Standard 8233:1999 'Sound Insulation 
and noise reduction for buildings-Code of Practice'. These 
levels shall be achieved with ventilation meeting both the 
background and summer cooling requirements.  

  
 The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented before the 

use hereby permitted is commenced and prior to occupation of 
the residential units and shall not be altered without prior 
approval. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of future occupiers, 

Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13. 
 
7. No development approved by this permission shall be 

COMMENCED prior to a contaminated land assessment and 
associated remedial strategy, being submitted to the LPA and 
receipt of approval of the document/documents from the LPA. 
This applies to paragraphs a), b) and c). This is an iterative 
process and the results of each stage will help decide if the 
following stage is necessary. 

  
 (a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk 

study to be submitted to the LPA for approval. The desk study 
shall detail the history of the site uses and propose a site 
investigation strategy based on the relevant information 
discovered by the desk study. The strategy shall be approved 
by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on site. 

Page 234



 (b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, 
surface and groundwater sampling, shall be carried out by a 
suitable qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in 
accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis 
methodology. 

 (c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works 
and sampling on site, together with the results of the analysis, 
risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed remediation 
strategy shall be submitted to the LPA. The LPA shall approve 
such remedial works as required prior to any remediation 
commencing on site. The works shall be of such a nature as to 
render harmless the identified contamination given the 
proposed end use of the site and surrounding environment 
including any controlled waters. 

 No development approved by this permission shall be 
OCCUPIED prior to the completion of any remedial works and a 
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of 
approval of the document/documents from the LPA. This 
applies to paragraphs d), e) and f).  

 (d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on 
site under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate 
compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice 
guidance.  

 (e) If, during the works contamination is encountered which has 
not previously been identified then the additional contamination 
shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme 
agreed with the LPA. 

  
 (f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be 

discharged until a closure report has been submitted to and 
approved by the LPA. The closure report shall include details of 
the proposed remediation works and quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full 
in accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any 
post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has 
reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the 
closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from site. 

   
 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of future occupiers, 

Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13. 
 

Page 235



8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or with 
any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modifications) no windows or dormer windows shall be 
constructed other than with the prior formal permission of the 
local planning authority. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 3/14) 
 
9. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no extensions, or additions or garages shall be 
erected other than those expressly authorised by this 
permission. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining properties, and to 

prevent overdevelopment of the site. (Cambridge Local Plan 
2006 policies 3/4 and 3/14) 

 
10. The development hereby permitted shall be used as a 

residential institution for students attending full-time courses of 
education at the University of Cambridge or Anglia Ruskin 
University and who are subject to proctorial control; or for 
students attending courses at the adjacent violin workshop who 
are subject to their own car parking management 
arrangements. 

  
 Reason:  The use of the car parking area has the potential to 

cause disturbance  C2 (Residential institutions) use, the 
occupants of which are subject to a system of parking control 
administered by the University of Cambridge. (Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 policy 8/10) 

  
11. Prior to the commencement of the development a management 

plan for the use of the premises by the Violin workshop for 
residential courses shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The management plan shall include 
details of car parking arrangements and measures to ensure 
the amenities of neighbouring residential properties are not 
adversely affected.  The premises shall be operated in 
accordance with the management plan. 

  

Page 236



 Reason:  To ensure that the impact of the use premises for 
student accommodation provided by the violin workshop is 
managed to minimise the impact on surrounding residential 
properties.  Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 3/4. 

Page 237



Page 238

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 239



Page 240

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 241



Page 242

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE                                        23rd June 2014 
 
Application 
Number 

14/0754/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 15th May 2014 Officer Mr Amit 
Patel 

Target Date 10th July 2014   
Ward Cherry Hinton   
Site 12A Drayton Close Cambridge Cambridgeshire 

CB1 9EY  
Proposal Alterations to provide dependant relative's annex 

single storey side and rear extensions 
(retrospective). 

Applicant Mrs S Jenson And Mr J Paul 
12A Drayton Close Cambridge Cambridgeshire 
CB1 9EY  

 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 
Development Plan for the following reasons: 

The proposal is not out of keeping 
with the character of the area. 

The proposed changes do not have 
an adverse impact on the neighbours. 

The proposal is for an annex and 
does not have a significant impact on 
the highway. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 12a Drayton Close is the northern half of a pair of semi-

detached houses located at the end of the cul-de-sac/turning 
area at Drayton Close.  The property has recently been re-
numbered from No.13 to 12a and is referred to as such 
throughout this report.  Numbers 12, 12a and 14 were all built at 
the same time and are of a similar design.  12a has been 
extended to the north-east with a two storey extension.   

 
1.2 The surrounding area is characterised by semi-detached two 

storey houses.  Some of the houses benefit from extensions, 

Agenda Item 11d

Page 243



which are mainly single storey but there are two storey 
extensions and some of the ground floor additions are of a 
substantial size. 

 
1.3 The site does not fall within a Conservation Area and there are 

no Listed Buildings, Buildings of Local Interest or protected 
trees in the vicinity.  The site falls outside the controlled parking 
zone. 

 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 This application seeks retrospective approval for single-storey 

extensions to the existing kitchen and living area. The larger 
wing has already gained permission under planning reference 
11/0873/FUL but this element has not been built in accordance 
with the approved plans and therefore permission is also sought 
for this. 

 
2.2 This application is to regularise the works that have been 

carried out on site. The main changes to this application 
compared to the approved scheme are: 

 
� The addition of the rear extension to the existing living room 

which measures 3.5m by 4.5m by 2.6m to the eaves and 4.2m 
to the highest part of the roof with a lean-to roof. 

� The addition of a rear extension to the existing dining room 
which measures 3.5m by 5m which tapers down to 4.7m by 
2.6m to the eaves and 4.2m to the highest part with a lean-to 
roof. 

� The side extension which already gained approval for a 12.6m 
deep extension but this has been extended by 1m to 13.6m. 

� The ground floor window in the north elevation has moved to 
accommodate the extension to the existing kitchen. 

 
2.3 There is a discrepancy in the depth of the previously approved 

side extension. The layout plan on drawing number shows this 
to be 13.6m deep, however, on the same plan the north 
elevation shows the depth of this element to be 12.6m. The 
agent has confirmed that this is a discrepancy and a revised 
north elevation drawing will be formally sent to update the 
drawings. In light of this, I have assessed the proposal as being 
13.6m deep. 

 

Page 244



2.4 Cllr Dryden has requested the application is heard at Area 
Committee on the grounds of over-development. 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
11/0873/FUL Alterations to provide dependant 

relative's annex single storey 
side and rear extension. 

A/C 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      No  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     No  

 
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 

3/1 3/4 3/14  

8/2 8/10  

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 
Government 
Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 
2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 
Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

 
 
 

Page 245



5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

 
For the application considered in this report, the following 
policies in the emerging Local Plan are of relevance: 
 
Policies 1, 55, 56, 58, 80 and 82. 
 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways Development 
Management) 

 
6.1 There will be no adverse impact upon highway safety but could 

cause residential amenity problems with car parking on street. 
 

Head of Refuse and Environment 
 
6.2 No comments to make on this application. 
 
6.3 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations: 
 
� 28 Bridewell Road 

 
 

Page 246



7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 
� Changed from a four bed to a seven bed house 
� The building comes close to the boundary with 28 Birdwell 

Road 
� Overlooking 
� Refusal of an application in Trumpington 

 
7.3 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   

 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Context of site, design and external spaces 
2. Residential amenity 
3. Highway safety 
4. Car parking 
5. Third party representations 

 
Context of site, design and external spaces 

 
8.2 The houses in Drayton Close are of the same design with 

generally red brick walls under a pitched and hipped roof.  The 
terrace of 9-12 Drayton Close, which is finished in white render, 
is an anomaly that gives the end of the cul-de-sac a distinctive 
character.  Most of the houses in the Close have some form of 
extension and therefore additions are not out of character. 12a 
Drayton Close benefits from a two storey extension, however 
the location of the rear extensions does not allow any views 
from the street. 

 
8.3 The two extensions are not highly visible in the street but are 

visible above the boundaries of nos. 12 and 14 Drayton Close 
and from first floor windows from Bridewell Road.  12a Drayton 
Close is unusual in that it occupies a corner plot and has a 
larger garden than some neighbouring houses.  Although the 
extensions occupy a large footprint it is my view they are 
acceptable because a sufficiently large garden is retained to 

Page 247



preclude overdevelopment of the plot and it has limited impact 
on the visual amenities of the area. 

 
8.4 The side element mirrors the roof design on the existing house 

and the lean-to roofs to the rear have a similar angle to the 
existing roof which is compatible with the design of 12a Drayton 
Close and they are constructed in bricks and tiles which match 
existing. 

 
8.5 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7 and 3/14.  
 

Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 

8.6 Comments received raise concerns regarding the side 
extension coming closer to the rear boundary with Bridewell 
Road causing privacy concerns. In terms of the physical 
presence of the extensions, the neighbours most affected by 
the development are the occupiers of 12 and 14 Drayton Close. 
Although the approved single-storey side extension extends 1m 
further towards number 12, I consider that the single storey 
nature of the extension mitigates its impact to a significant 
degree as do the 1.8 metre high boundary fences to the 
boundaries with the neighbours. With respect to the properties 
on Bridewell Road this amended proposal does not come closer 
to their boundary and the impact on these properties. I do not 
consider that there is any significant difference on impact to 
these properties from the previous approved scheme. 

 
8.7 The single-storey extension to the dining room is hard up on the 

boundary with the neighbour at no.14. The proposal is 
marginally more than what could be constructed under 
permitted development. Taking into account that no14 is 
situated south of the application site and is 0.5m deeper by 
0.2m higher than what could be constructed under permitted 
development, I do not consider that there is a significant impact 
in terms of loss of light or outlook. 

 
8.8 There are no new windows proposed but two doors in the rear 

elevation serving the extensions to the dining room and kitchen. 
These are at ground floor level and considering that there is a 

Page 248



1.8m boundary treatment. I do not consider there is a significant 
loss of privacy to the neighbours. 

 
8.9 Comments have been received regarding this being a seven 

bedroom property. The proposed development does not lead to 
the creation of a new dwelling or separate planning unit.  In 
these circumstances a refusal on the grounds of additional 
noise and disturbance could not be justified. 

 
8.10 The proposal creates an annex for dependent relatives. 

Although there are no fundamental issues relating to this, I note 
that this could easily be converted into a separate unit. This 
would, in my opinion, need further assessment as the impacts 
are significantly different. I recommend a condition to control 
this. (Condition 1). 

 
8.11 Subject to condition, in my opinion the proposal adequately 

respects the residential amenity of its neighbours and the 
constraints of the site and I consider that it is compliant with 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4 and 3/14. 

 
Highway Safety 

 
8.12 The Highway Authority has raised no objection.  I do not 

consider that it would be reasonable to recommend refusal on 
the grounds of highway safety. 

 
8.13 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 8/2. 
 

Car Parking 
 
8.14 The annex is for dependent relatives and there is potential that 

they will have their own vehicle.  The proposal will have car 
parking space to the front of the dwelling. The car parking 
standards require a 3 or more bedroom house to have no more 
than 2 car parking spaces. The proposal has space off road for 
2 spaces and is therefore acceptable. This site is outside the 
controlled parking zone and therefore car parking on street 
would not be out of the question. Illegal car parking is a matter 
for other authorities and it would not be reasonable to refuse the 
application on these grounds. 

 

Page 249



8.15 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) policy 8/10.  

 
Third Party Representations 

 
8.16 The third party concerns have been addressed in the main body 

of the report above. 
 
8.17 The issue concerning a proposal being refused in Trumpington 

has not been addressed as each site is individually assessed 
and the context may be different. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 In my opinion the proposed development at 12a Drayton Close 

is sensitive to its context and is appropriate in scale to the 
surrounding area.  The development does not have any 
adverse impact upon either the surrounding area or the 
amenities of neighbouring residents.  The application is 
therefore acceptable and is recommended for approval. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be used solely in 

conjunction with and ancillary to 12A Drayton Close, 
Cambridge, CB1 9EY and shall not be separately used, 
occupied or let. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining residential 

properties and to avoid the creation of a separate planning unit. 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 4/13) 

Page 250



Page 251



Page 252

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 253



Page 254

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE                                        23rd June 2014 
 
Application 
Number 

14/0287/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 10th March 2014 Officer Natalie 
Westgate 

Target Date 5th May 2014   
Ward Cherry Hinton   
Site 29 Fernlea Close Cambridge CB1 9LW 
Proposal Single storey front extension, part single storey, 

part two storey rear extension and two storey side 
extension. 

Applicant Mr ALI MASHUK 29 Fernlea Close Cambridge CB1 
9LW  

 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 
Development Plan for the following reasons: 

1) The design of the extension will not 
detract from the character and 
appearance of the building or wider 
setting. 

2) There would be no significant adverse 
impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring residential properties. 

3) The scheme is very similar to that 
approved in 2013. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 29 Fernlea Close is a two storey semi-detached dwelling.  It 

stands on the south-western side of Fernlea Close.  The area is 
entirely residential in character.   

 
1.2 The site is not within a conservation area.  There are no 

protected trees on the application site.  The site falls outside the 
controlled parking zone.  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 11e

Page 255



2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for a part single 

storey part two storey front, side and rear extension. 
 
2.2 This is a revised application from a very similar scheme 

approved in 2013. 
 

2.3 The proposed two storey extension projects 4.5m to the rear.  
The single storey extension projects 3.8m. 
 

2.4 The application is brought before Committee at the request of 
Councillor Dryden for the following reason: 
 
- The application is an overdevelopment of the site. 

 
Amended Plans 
 

2.5 The application was originally submitted with very poor quality 
plans.  The applicant has now submitted accurate drawings. 
 

2.6 All residential properties have been reconsulted on the 
amended plans. 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
11/1018/CLUPD Side and rear dormer and front 

velux window 
Certificate 
granted 

11/1019/FUL Part single storey part two 
storey rear extension. 

Approved 

13/0027/FUL Part single storey part two 
storey rear extension. 

Approved 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      No 
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes   

Site Notice Displayed:     No  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 256



5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 

3/4 3/14   

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 
Government 
Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 
2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 
Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

 
5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 
 

5.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

Cambridge City Council (May 2007) – Sustainable Design and 
Construction:  

Page 257



 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Engineering) 
 
6.1 The application form states that there is no change in parking 

provision within the site, but provides no other details of existing 
or proposed provision. 

 
6.2 The application removes part of the front hardstanding for cars. 
 
6.3 The applicant must provide information regarding existing and 

proposed parking arrangements to allow informed comment 
upon the full impact of the proposals.  The applicant must show 
the dimensions for the proposed car parking spaces, which 
should be 2.5m x 5m with a 6m reversing space. 

 
6.4 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 

27 Fernlea Close 
 
 The representation can be summarised as follows: 
 

- The quality of the plans is very poor. 
- The adjacent shed has not been drawn accurately. 
- The extension would block light. 

 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Context of site, design and external spaces 
2. Residential amenity 
3. Third Party Representations 

 
 
 
 

Page 258



Context of site, design and external spaces 
 

8.2 The key design issue is the design and appearance of the 
extensions in relation to the existing building and their wider 
setting.  A very similar extension was approved in 2013, which 
is a material consideration which carries significant weight. 
 

8.3  The extension is proportionate to the plan form of the original 
house and in my view there has been no change in policy or 
circumstances, which might justify taking a different view from 
the approved scheme 13/0027/FUL in 2013.   

 
8.4 The front porch is of an adequate design and scale for the 

character of the area so the proposed front extension would be 
in keeping with the character of the street scene.  The proposed 
side and rear extension are appropriately designed and the form 
of the roof pitches are in keeping with the existing dwelling.   

 
8.5 Brickwork is to match the existing building which can be 

ensured through the imposition of a suitable planning condition.  
 
8.6 Adequate external space is retained for car parking off the 

street. 
 
8.7 In my view, the proposal is harmonious in its context and the 

development accords with the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4 and 3/14.  

 
Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 

8.8 The proposed rear extension at first floor level would have a 
similar visual impact to the approved scheme in 2013.  In my 
view the depth of the projection at 4.5m would not cause 
significant overshadowing for 25, 27 or 31 Fernlea Close.   

 
8.9 The impact on the attached neighbouring property at No.31 is 

acceptable because the proposed development towards this 
side is still single storey and there is adequate boundary 
treatment.   

 
8.10 The impact on the neighbouring property at No.27 is acceptable 

because there is a separation distance between the dwelling 

Page 259



and the extension of approximately 3.5m, so there would not in 
my view be a harmful visual impact or sense of enclosure.  25 
and 27 Fernlea Close are sited deeper into its their garden plots 
as compared to 29 Fernlea Close, which reduces the impact of 
the extensions or the potential for a significant loss of light to its 
flank windows.  There will be some shadow created to the side 
of 25 and 27 Fernlea Close in the afternoon, but I do not 
consider this to be significantly harmful. 

 
8.11 In my opinion the proposal adequately respects the residential 

amenity of its neighbours and the constraints of the site and I 
consider that it is compliant with the Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 3/4 and 3/14. 

 
Third Party Representations 
 
The issues raised have been considered in the above report 
and are summarised below: 
 
Issue Report section/Officer 

comment 
The quality of the plans is very 
poor 
 

Accurate plans have been 
obtained and all neighbours 
were reconsulted on the 
proposed application. 

 
The adjacent shed has not 
been drawn accurately. 
 

The block plan does not 
identify garden outbuildings, 
but this does not in my view 
affect the assessment of the 
impact of the proposed 
extensions. 

The extension impacts on light 
to 27 Fernlea Close 

Paragraph 8.9 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 This amended scheme is very similar to the previous approval 

in 2013 and will not be harmful to the character and appearance 
of the existing property, or the amenities of neighbours.  
APPROVAL is recommended. 

 
 
 
 

Page 260



10.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

 APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
   
 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The extension hereby permitted shall be constructed in external 

materials to match the existing building in type, colour and 
texture. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the extension is in keeping with the 

existing building. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/12 
and 3/14) 

  

Page 261



Page 262

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 263



 

Page 264



 

Page 265



Page 266

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Page No: 1 Agenda Page No: 

 
Agenda Item          

 
CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
REPORT OF: Head of Planning  
 TO: South Area Committee 
 WARD: Queen Ediths 
 

New residential development comprising six 2-bed flats, one 3-bed flat, car 
parking, cycle store, refuse store, landscaping and modified vehicular access to 

Mowbray Road following demolition of existing house and garage, 33 Queen 
Ediths Way. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 On 3 March 2014, South Area Committee considered planning application 

(14/0020/FUL) for the demolition of the existing detached dwelling at 33 Oueen 
Ediths Way and redevelopment of the site for three storey residential building 
comprising seven flats. 

 
1.2 The Committee resolved to approve the planning officer’s recommendation to 

grant planning permission for the application subject to conditions and the 
completion of a s106 agreement. 

 
1.3 Since the Committee meeting, officers have begun drafting the s106 agreement 

and it has come to their attention that the County requirement for Life Long 
Learning was not included in the Committee report.  For this reason the 
application is brought back to Committee for members to agree this additional 
contriubiton.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 To approve the amendment to the contributions required for the s106 agreement 
so that it includes the financial contribution detailed in paragraph 3.4 of this 
report. 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 As a result of consultation with the County Council, officers were aware of the 

need for contributions to be made towards Life Long Learning. However this 
requirement was not set out in the officer’s report. This was an error and officers 
have apologised to the applicant for this.  

 
3.2 I have set out below the detailed justification for the contribution, which should 

have been set out in the original report. The contribution is considered to be a 
necessary financial obligation that meets the tests set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which place a statutory requirement on the 
Local Planning Authority to ensure that where planning permission is dependent 
upon a planning obligation under s106 being completed, the obligations sought 
pass the following tests: 

Agenda Item 12a

Page 267



 

Report Page No: 2 Agenda Page No: 

(a) they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b) they are directly related to the development; and 
(c) they are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

3.3 The contribution sought by the County Council complies with the above tests.  
 
3.4 The County Council have informed officers that they require a contribution of 

£1,140 to be made towards Life Long Learning.  
 
4. CONSULTATIONS 
 
4.1 No further consultations were required.  
 
5. OPTIONS 
 
5.1 To resolve to include the requirement for contributions towards Life Long 

Learning in the s106 agreement.   
 
5.2 To resolve not to include the requirement for contributions towards Life Long 

Learning in the s106 agreement on the basis that it is not justified (This would be 
inconsistent with similar developments elsewhere in the City).  

 
6. CONCLUSIONS 
 
6.1 A requirement for contributions towards Life Long Learning is justified and the 

s106 agreement should be drafted to include such contributions.  
 
7. IMPLICATIONS 
 
(a) Financial Implications – None 
 
(b) Staffing Implications – None 
 
(c) Equal Opportunities Implications – None 
 
(d) Environmental Implications – None 
 
 Climate Change Impact:  Nil 
 
(e) Procurement – None 
 
(f) Consultation and Communication - None 
 
(g) Community Safety – None 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: The following are the background papers that were used in 
the preparation of this report: 
 
Planning application 14/0020/FUL 
 
To inspect these documents contact Sav Patel on extension 7167  
 
The author and contact officer for queries on the report is Sav Patel on extension 7167. 

Page 268



 

Report Page No: 3 Agenda Page No: 

 
Report file:  
 
Date originated:  12 June 2014 
Date of last revision: 12 June 2014 

Page 269



Page 270

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 Policing & Safer Neighbourhoods
	9 Environmental Improvement Programme - SAC
	APPENDIX A - FEASIBLE EIP SCHEMES
	APPENDIX B - DETAILS OF PROPOSED SCHEMES
	APPENDIX C - PROGRESS OF EXISTING SCHEMES (Update June 2014)
	APPENDIX D - EIP ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
	APPENDIX E - SUMMARY OF MINOR TRO SCHEMES - SOUTH AREA

	Appendix 1 for Full Details of Central Government Planning Guidance
	10a 27 Babraham Road Update
	27 Babraham Road update appendix A
	27 Babraham Road update Appendix B
	27 Babraham Road update Appendix C
	27 Babraham Road update Appendix D

	10b 27 Babraham Road Enforcement
	27 Babraham Road Enf Report appendix A
	27 Babraham Road Enf Report appendix B
	27 Babraham Road Enf Report appendix C
	27 Babraham Road Enf Report appendix D

	11a 14/0356/FUL - Land between 2 and 3 Shaftesbury Road
	14/0356/FUL - location and site plan
	14/0356/FUL - Site and ground floorplan
	14/0356/FUL - Floorplans
	14/0356/FUL - E and W Elevations
	14/0356/FUL - N and S Elevations
	14/0356/FUL - Sections

	11b 14/0208/FUL - 38 Almoners Avenue
	14/0208/FUL - location Plan
	14/0208/FUL - Block Plan
	14/0208/FUL - Plot 1 elevations
	14/0208/FUL - Plot 2 Elevations
	14/0208/FUL - Sections
	14/0208/FUL - Landscape Strategy

	11c 14/0272/FUL - 66-68 Hartington Grove
	14/0272/FUL - Location Plan
	14/0272/FUL - Elevations

	11d 14/0754/FUL - 12A Drayton Close
	14/0754/FUL - Proposed plans and location plan
	14/0754/FUL - amended north elevation

	11e 14/0287/FUL - 29 Fernlea Close
	14-0287-FUL - 29 Fernlea Close Location plan
	14-0287-FUL - 29 Fernlea Close Elevations

	12a 14/0020/FUL -33 Queen Ediths Way

